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Your Excellency

On 10 December 2012 you invested me with the powers of a Royal Commissioner in respect
of an Inquiry | was then in the course of undertaking for the Hon. Grace Portolesi MP, then
Minister for Education and Child Development.

I have the honour to present my report. It is contained in the whole of the succeeding pages
bound in this volume.

There are legal reasons why, for the time being, this report must remain confidential and
cannot be made available to the public. The legal reasons why the report must remain
confidential cannot be disclosed. If they were, it would entirely defeat the purpose of making
the report confidential.

The need for confidentiality applies only to the name and identity of the offender and the
school at which that person offended. | have therefore, prepared an edited version of the
report that can be made available to the public and | recommend that it should. Very little
has been excused from the report. What has been excised does not in any respect affect
either the sense of what remains or the substance of the recommendations contained in the
report.

| have ordered that the report should remain confidential until the Attorney-General
announces that it can be released to the public.

Yours faithfully

Bruce M Debelle

Encl.
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PREFACE

As the copies of the two letters to His Excellency the Governor at the beginning of this report
state, this is an edited version of the report of this Inquiry.

Legal reasons prevent the release of the unedited version of the report at this stage. It is not
possible to disclose the legal reasons. If they were disclosed, it would entirely defeat the
purpose of making the unedited version of the report confidential.

| have advised the Attorney-General when the unedited version of the report should be
released to the public. It is a legal event and that event in no sense depends upon the
exercise of a discretion by the Attorney-General.

The legal reasons require that anything that might identify the offender not be disclosed. For
that reason, neither the offender nor the school at which the offending occurred are named in
the report.

This edited version exactly follows the wording and format of the unedited version of the
report. It has the same paragraphs and paragraph numbering. In a few instances only it has
been necessary to omit a paragraph for legal reasons. It is apparent from the text what
paragraphs have been omitted.

The editing does no more than conceal the identity of the offender and the name of the school
at which the offending occurred. The editing occurs both in the text of the report and in the
text of documents which have been quoted in the report. Editing of the quoted documents is
indicated by the words in square brackets.

In this edited version, the offender is called “X” and the school is called “the metropolitan
school.”

It has been necessary also to edit the Terms of Reference by removing anything that might
identify the offender and the school. Notwithstanding that editing, the meaning and the effect
of the Terms of Reference are clear.

When the unedited version of the report can be released to the public, the offender and the
school will be named.

June 2013 Bruce M Debelle






INTRODUCTION

The Terms of Reference

1. On 1 November 2012, the Hon. Grace Portolesi MP, then Minister for Education and
Child Development, appointed me to conduct an independent review into the events and
circumstances surrounding the arrest and later conviction of an employee of an Out of School
Hours Care Service at a school in metropolitan Adelaide on charges of sexual assault
committed against a child in his care. The Terms of Reference of the Inquiry are:

To undertake an independent review in relation to the events and circumstances surrounding
the non-disclosure to the school community of allegations of sexual assault committed by an
employee of the Out of School Hours Care service at [the metropolitan school] against a child
in his care in 2010.

The review should consider the actions of all relevant agencies, and make recommendations
relating to the actions of the parties involved and the procedures and processes that should be
in place in these circumstances.

When the Minister announced the Inquiry in the House of Assembly, she did not name the
school. She referred to it as “this Adelaide metropolitan school”. Neither she nor those who
asked her guestions in the House of Assembly on subsequent occasions named the school. |
infer that the purpose of the Minister and those who questioned her in not naming the school
was that nothing would be said that might identify the victim.

2. [This paragraph omitted for legal reasons.]
3. [This paragraph omitted for legal reasons.]

Paragraphs 2-3 state why it will be possible to name the school when the unedited report is
released to the public.

The Meaning of the Terms of Reference

4. Broadly speaking, the Terms of Reference require two tasks to be undertaken. The
first is essentially an enquiry to ascertain facts. It is to investigate the events and
circumstances surrounding the arrest and later conviction of X, who was an employee of the
OSHC service at the metropolitan school, and the failure to inform the parents of that school
in a timely manner that he had been convicted. The second part requires recommendations of
procedures that should be in place to deal with future occasions when allegations of sexual
misconduct are made in schools.

5. In my view, the proper discharge of the first task requires an examination of how the
events following the arrest of X were managed both by the school and by the Department for
Education and Child Development on the one hand and by the South Australia Police on the
other. The appropriate time to commence that examination is the time when the allegations
were first made against X. When | was first appointed, it was not clear what the end point of



this part of the Inquiry should be as events continued to unfold throughout November and
December 2012. | had to deal with facts that were continuing to unfold and with fresh
incidents occurring, at times, almost on a daily basis. In the result, it became clear that a
convenient end to that part of the Inquiry dealing with events at the metropolitan school is the
end of the school year on 14 December 2012.

6. The continued unfolding of events and new incidents has caused the Inquiry to occupy
a longer time than Minister Portolesi initially believed to be necessary. In addition, the
Inquiry has had to examine issues that were not contemplated by Minister Portolesi when she
established the Inquiry. The importance of the subject matter also required an opportunity to
be given to the public and, in particular, parents of the metropolitan school to make
submissions. The Inquiry has, therefore, taken a longer time than the Minister believed to be
necessary. It has certainly taken a longer time than | had anticipated.

7. The direction in the second paragraph of the Terms of Reference requires an
examination of current processes so that recommendations can be made as to how the
Department for Education and Child Development and other relevant agencies should manage
allegations of sexual misconduct by a member of the staff at the school or by a person
employed by a governing council of a school. Given that this Inquiry resulted from the
failure to make proper disclosure of allegations of sexual misconduct to parents at the
metropolitan school, it will be necessary to give particular attention to the question whether
disclosure should be made to parents and, if so, when and how that disclosure should be
made.

Not a General Inquiry

8. It must be emphasised that this Inquiry is not a general inquiry into sexual misconduct
in schools nor into the manner in which the Department for Education and Child
Development has managed all allegations of sexual misconduct made in respect of staff at
schools in South Australia. The Terms of Reference limit the inquiry to the events at the
metropolitan school. However, for the reasons given in Chapter 9 of this report, | decided to
survey allegations of sexual misconduct in Government schools made in the four year period
from 2009 to 2012 in order to gain an understanding of the kind of sexual misconduct that has
been alleged against teachers and other members of staff at those schools. That survey was
necessary for the purpose of making recommendations as to the processes that should be
implemented by the Department for Education and Child Development. The study of the two
arrests mentioned in Chapter 10 was made for the same reasons.

The Relevant Agencies

9. At first, it appeared that the only relevant agencies were the Department for Education
and Child Development and the South Australia Police. However, in February 2013, it was
disclosed that the Screening Unit of the Department for Communities and Social Inclusion
had given to a person, who had been convicted of indecent behaviour, a clearance to work
with teenage students. That fact required an examination of the adequacies of the screening
process by the Department for Communities and Social Inclusion. It will be necessary also to
consider what, if any, role a governing council might have in the process of disclosing



information to parents. While a governing council is not an agency of Government, it is an
important part of the administration of a school.

Law Reform

10.  The Terms of Reference do not require me to consider matters of law reform. Instead,
they require recommendations as to the procedures that might be adopted when a school must
manage allegations of sexual misconduct. However, in the course of the Inquiry, five matters
where law reform is desirable have been identified. They are noted in the recommendations.

11. Early in this Inquiry, it became very apparent that this report would have to include an
examination of the legal principles regulating the disclosure of allegations of sexual
misconduct. This was necessary both to provide the legal context for any recommendations
and to inform teachers, principals and officers in the central office of the Department for
Education and Child Development of the legal principles that regulate the disclosure of
information concerning allegations of sexual misconduct. One important piece of legislation
is section 71A of the Evidence Act. Furthermore, misunderstandings by officers of the
Department for Education and Child Development as to what constituted a suppression order
and their lack of knowledge of the relevant provisions in the Evidence Act were two reasons
why, in the case of the metropolitan school, there was a failure to make proper disclosure. In
addition, a complete appreciation of the operation of the Evidence Act will be assisted by an
understanding of the course of a criminal prosecution. That in turn will provide a better
understanding of the stages at which information could be disclosed to parents at schools. For
that reason, a brief description of the course of a criminal prosecution has also been included
in this report.

12.  Another reason for the educative nature of sections of this report is the public interest
in this Inquiry. Given that public interest, it is likely that this report will be read by members
of the public who might not have a detailed understanding of such matters as the relevant
legislation, the course of a criminal prosecution, the operations of the Department for
Education and Child Development, the processes implemented by the Department when
allegations of misconduct, be it sexual or other offending, are made against teachers, or the
processes of disciplining teachers. An understanding of those matters is essential for a proper
understanding of the reasons for the recommendations made in this report.

Terms Used in this Report

13. In this report, a number of abbreviations and acronyms will be used for convenience.
The following is a key to the shorthand expressions used in this report.

“Association of Independent Schools” means “Association of Independent Schools of
SA Inc”.

“CARL” means “Child Abuse Report Line”. It is the agency which must be notified by
police and teachers, among others, who have a reasonable suspicion that a child has
been or is being abused or neglected.



“OSHC” means “Out of School Hours Care”. It is an acronym in such common use
that it is desirable to use it.

“SA Police” means South Australia Police.

“The Department” or “the Department for Education” means the Department for
Education and Children’s Services until 21 October 2011 when the name of the
Department was changed. Thereafter, it means the Department for Education and Child
Development.

“The Minister” means the Minister for Education and Children’s Services until 21
October 2011 when the name of the portfolio was changed. Thereafter “the Minister”
means the Minister for Education and Child Development.

I have for convenience used the single word “parent” to refer to all those who might
have a child or children under their care or protection. The Inquiry is especially aware
of the fact that schoolchildren are cared for by a range of persons. In addition to natural
parents, there are stepfathers and stepmothers, foster parents, guardians, grandparents,
other relations and other carers. It would make the reading of this report unmanageable
if, on every occasion when reference is made to those who might be caring for a child,
reference had to be made to all those who might be the carer of a child. Even the
expression “parent or carer” can become unwieldy. For that reason, the word “parent”
will be used in this report and will signify and include natural parents as well as step-
parents, foster parents, guardians, grandparents and any other relative or other person
caring for a child. No disrespect is intended by using the word “parent” in this way.

The pronoun “he” is used frequently. It is used with the provisions of section 26 of the
Acts Interpretation Act firmly in mind and without any disrespect to women.
Therefore, unless the context indicates a contrary intention, the pronoun “he” should be
construed as including the feminine gender. That usage allows for a more readable
document.

[Short paragraph omitted for legal reasons.]

As the events that led to this Inquiry occurred at a school and the recommendations will
apply in schools, it has been convenient for the discussion of principles and
recommendations to refer to schools. Nevertheless, the recommendations in this report
apply with equal force (but with appropriate alteration) to non-government schools and
to all places where children’s services operate.

Legislation

14. It will be necessary in this report to refer to a number of Acts of both the Parliament of
South Australia and the Commonwealth Parliament. Those Acts are:

South Australia

Acts Interpretation Act 1915
Adoption Act 1988



Child Sex Offenders Registration Act 2006

Children’s Protection Act 1993 and Children’s Protection Regulations 2010
Constitution Act 1934

Criminal Law Consolidation Act 1935

Criminal Law (Sentencing) Act 1988

Defamation Act 2005

Education Act 1972 and Education Regulations 2012
Education and Early Childhood (Registration and Standards) Act 2011
Equal Opportunity Act 1984

Evidence Act 1929

Freedom of Information Act 1991

Magistrates Court Act 1991

Ombudsman Act 1972

Public Sector Act 2009

Public Sector Management Act 1995

Statutes Amendment (Courts Efficiency Reforms) Act 2012
Summary Offences Act 1953

Teachers Registration and Standards Act 2004

Victims of Crime Act 2001

Whistleblowers Protection Act 1993

Young Offenders Act 1993

Commonwealth

Criminal Code Act 1995

Privacy Act 1988

Privacy Amendment (Enhancing Privacy Protection) Act 2012
Public Service Act 1999

Sex Discrimination Act 1984

As a general rule, those Acts will be named in this report without the date of their enactment.
For example, the Education Act 1972 will be called the “Education Act”.

15.  When preparing this report, |1 have had regard to the law in operation as at 31 May
2013.

From time to time it has been necessary in this report to examine and discuss the intended
operation or meaning of provisions in different Acts of Parliament. While it is necessary to
examine legislation for the purpose of ascertaining the intended operation of relevant
provisions, it is entirely inappropriate in a report of this kind to express a concluded opinion
upon the meaning and effect of a provision in an Act of Parliament. The views expressed in
this report as to the meaning and operation of any provision in an Act of Parliament are
neither intended to be nor are they legal advice. It will be necessary for a school or the
Department to obtain legal advice on the operation of any legislative provision in any
particular set of circumstances.



Premises and Staff

16. I commenced the Inquiry on 6 November 2012. The Department for Education
offered rooms in the central office of the Department in the Education Building at 31 Flinders
Street, Adelaide for the purpose of the Inquiry. In order to secure and maintain the
independence of the Inquiry, | asked to be accommodated at a place other than the Education
Building. The Attorney-General provided accommodation for me and my staff on the 10"
floor of the building at 45 Pirie Street, Adelaide.

17. Initially, I was assisted by only one legal officer, Ms Amanda Pienaar. Ms Pienaar is a
senior solicitor in the Crown Solicitor’s Office. Ms Pienaar has provided extensive assistance
as she has had considerable experience as a solicitor in conducting prosecutions of persons
charged with sexual offending in schools and in other places. She also has a wide experience
of conducting proceedings for the protection of children under the Children’s Protection Act.
Before coming to Australia, Ms Pienaar had been a prosecutor in the office of the Director of
Public Prosecutions in South Africa and later a magistrate in that country. Ms Pienaar’s
assistance has been especially valuable. | was later assisted by Ms Claire Davidson, a legal
officer in the Legislative Services Section of the Attorney-General’s Department, and by Mr
Brad McCloud, a senior solicitor in the office of the Crown Solicitor. On two brief occasions,
I was ably assisted by Ms Kathy Rozaklis, a senior legal officer in the Legislative Services
Section of the Attorney-General’s Department, but, unfortunately, her valuable assistance was
short-lived as she was required for other duties. My gratitude to each of my legal officers is
unbounded. I am extremely grateful to them all for their tireless and considerable assistance.
I am grateful also to Ms Kerry Martin, Ms Sue Burton, Ms Lina Perilli and Ms Fiona
Blackmore who at different times have assisted in the typing of this report. They have
endured my poor handwriting and repeated corrections of the manuscript with patience and
good humour.

The Conduct of the Inquiry

18. From the outset of this Inquiry, | have received the complete co-operation of the
Department for Education and SA Police and the officers of those two agencies. Immediately
upon my appointment, Mr Gino DeGennaro, the Deputy Chief Executive of the Department,
sent an email to all relevant officers in the Department asking that they arrange for all relevant
documents to be supplied to me. In addition, two officers of the Department were appointed
to pursue any inquiries made by me for documents and other information required for the
Inquiry. That co-operation has continued throughout the Inquiry. At an early stage in the
Inquiry, | had a meeting with the Commissioner of Police who assured me that | would have
the full co-operation of the police force. | have had every assistance from the SA Police. |
express my appreciation and gratitude to both the Department and SA Police for their
assistance.

19. The Department supplied the Inquiry with an enormous volume of documents, in
many cases with multiple copies of the same document. It was a substantial and time-
consuming task to peruse all documents and to sort and classify them.

20. The nature of the Inquiry did not make it necessary to conduct public hearings. The
events and circumstances associated with the arrest and later conviction of X were capable of
being ascertained by interviewing police officers and employees of the Department as well as



other individuals, such as members of the Governing Council of the metropolitan school.
That was a task that | could undertake with the assistance of Ms Pienaar. It was not a task
that required a full-scale commission of inquiry with legal representation of different parties.
It was simply necessary to examine documents and to interview witnesses and then make
findings of fact. In addition, the limited powers available to me at the commencement of the
Inquiry meant that | had no alternative but to conduct the Inquiry in that way. | will note
those limited powers in a moment.

21. Furthermore, the process of consultation required for the second paragraph of the
Terms of Reference of the Inquiry did not require public hearings. It was necessary only to
identify those persons who were in a position to provide useful information and to consult
them.

22. I, therefore, proceeded to conduct the Inquiry and obtain information from such
persons and in such manner as | thought fit.

Limited Powers

23. At a very early stage in the Inquiry, | became concerned at the lack of powers
available to me. The fact that the Minister for Education had appointed me to conduct an
Inquiry did not give me any powers to gather evidence. | did not even have the powers of a
police officer. In every respect, | was in no different position from any other citizen. | had no
power to summon witnesses, no power to compel the production of documents, and no power
to require witnesses to swear an oath or make an affirmation to tell the truth. | was able to
take evidence and inspect documents only if a witness was co-operative and agreed to give
evidence and produce documents. In addition, witnesses who appeared before me would not
have any of the protections available to witnesses who appear before a Royal Commission.
The scope of the Inquiry | had been asked to undertake was larger than that of an inquiry by
the Ombudsman but | did not even have the powers of the Ombudsman.® | expressed these
concerns to the Minister for Education at a meeting on the afternoon of 8 November and to
the Attorney-General at a meeting on the morning of 9 November 2012. On both occasions, |
asked that | be granted the powers of a Royal Commissioner, stating that | had no desire to
make the Inquiry larger than it needed to be. | expressed concern that the absence of the
powers of a Royal Commissioner might inhibit the conduct of the Inquiry. Both Ministers
declined my request on the ground that the grant of the powers of a Royal Commissioner
might create an expectation that the Inquiry was of a larger scale than it needed to be.

24, The Crown Solicitor, Mr Greg Parker, also attended the meeting with the Attorney-
General on 9 November. He suggested a means of avoiding my lack of powers. | will
explain the procedure he suggested in a moment. It was agreed that | would proceed on the
basis suggested by Mr Parker but, if | discovered that | needed further powers, | should again
ask the Attorney-General.

! The Ombudsman has the powers of a Royal Commissioner: see section 19 of the Ombudsman Act.



25. With the assistance of Mr Parker and with the co-operation of Mr Keith Bartley, the
Chief Executive of the Department for Education, the following arrangements were put in
place to ensure that | could call officers from the Department to give evidence and provide
documents. Mr Bartley sent a letter to each of the teachers and other employees of the
Department that | wished to interview. The letter directed the intended witness to attend at
the appointed time and stated that the intended witness could bring a friend or relative, a
union official or a lawyer with him. The letter then explained how the interview was to be
conducted. The letter also informed the intended witness that, as he will be acting in the
performance of his duties in answering questions, he will be immune from civil liability under
section 74 of the Public Sector Act, provided that he had acted in good faith in answering
questions. A copy of that letter is Appendix A. The witness was also directed to make a
statutory declaration stating that the evidence was true to the best of the knowledge,
information and belief of the witness.

26. The Commissioner of Police instructed those police officers who | wished to interview
to appear before me. Those officers later read the transcript of their evidence and made a
statutory declaration that their evidence was true.

Appointment as Royal Commissioner

27. As events unfolded, it became apparent that it would be necessary to examine
witnesses who were not employees of either the Department for Education or of SA Police. |
was concerned that some would not be willing to be interviewed. | had no power to compel
such witnesses to attend to give evidence nor any means of placing them under any obligation
to tell the truth. 1 was also concerned that those witnesses should have the same protection as
a witness who appeared before a Royal Commission. One group from whom | wished to hear
evidence were the parents of the victim and other parents. In order to protect the identity of
the victim I wished to have the power to make the evidence of her parents confidential. There
were serious questions whether | had the power to order any part of the evidence given to me
to be confidential, whereas it was clear that a Royal Commissioner does have power to order
that evidence be confidential.

28.  These concerns caused me to write on 4 December 2012 to both the Minister for
Education and to the Attorney-General asking that | be granted the powers of a Royal
Commissioner. My letters to the Minister and the Attorney-General are both attached as
Appendix B and Appendix C to this report. By Letters Patent dated 10 December 2012, His
Excellency the Governor invested me with the powers of a Royal Commissioner. A copy of
the Letters Patent is Appendix D.

An lIssues Paper is Published

29. In order to have the benefit of submissions of interested parties, especially on the
questions of the procedures that might be recommended, | prepared an Issues Paper that set
out some of the issues for consideration. On 27 and 28 November 2012, copies of the Issues
Paper were sent to fifty persons and organisations. They were persons and organisations
involved in education, in child protection, in law enforcement, in the criminal justice system,
and other persons. A list of the persons and organisations to whom the Issues Paper was sent
is Appendix E.



30.  On 28 and 29 November 2012, | caused the Terms of Reference to be published in
both The Advertiser and The Australian newspapers. The notice publishing the Terms of
Reference also stated that the Issues Paper had been prepared and invited those interested to
obtain a copy of the Issues Paper from the Inquiry. A copy of the notice published in both
newspapers is Appendix F. Only 22 requests were made for the Issues Paper.

31. The Commission received submissions from 23 persons and organisations. They are
listed in Appendix G.

The Hearings

32. The hearing of witnesses began on 20 November 2012. At times, there were breaks
between witnesses. The hearings ceased on 10 April 2013. At no stage in the Inquiry did a
witness refuse to give evidence or decline to answer a question.

33. The Inquiry conducted most of its hearings in a conference room on the 10" floor of
the building at 45 Pirie Street, Adelaide. On some occasions, when that conference room was
required for other purposes, the hearings were conducted in a conference room on the 4™ floor
of that building.

34. | asked witnesses questions and documents were tendered by them or proved through
them. The hearings were recorded and a transcript was made of the recorded proceedings.
Each witness who gave his evidence before | was invested with the powers of a Royal
Commissioner was asked to read the transcript of his evidence, make any corrections, and
then make a statutory declaration that the evidence was true to the best of his knowledge,
information and belief. Once | had been invested with the powers of a Royal Commissioner,
each witness either swore an oath or made an affirmation to tell the truth. It was, therefore,
unnecessary to ask those witnesses to read the transcript and make a statutory declaration that
the evidence was true and correct.

35. Before | was invested with the powers of a Royal Commission, some members of the
Governing Council of the school consented to be interviewed. They read the transcript of
their evidence and made a statutory declaration that it was true.

36. Ninety-eight persons gave evidence. The names of all witnesses are listed in
Appendix H except for the names of confidential witnesses. Their names are confidential in
order to protect children. There are more than 560 exhibits, many of which are confidential.

37. I recommend that, when the unedited version of this report is released to the public,
the transcript of evidence be available to the public except those parts that are confidential.

Notice to the School

38. I was concerned that parents of the metropolitan school should be aware that they
could give evidence or make submissions. On 16 November 2012, | wrote to Ms Jacqui
Larkin, the chairperson of the school inviting her and other members of the Governing
Council to make submissions. | also asked her to inform parents that they may make
submissions. A copy of my letter to Ms Larkin is Appendix I. Later, after Ms Larkin and
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other members of the Governing Council had given evidence, | again enlisted her assistance.
She kindly arranged for a notice to be placed in the school newsletter published on 12
December 2012. Several parents responded to that invitation.

Roundtable Discussions

39. It is very easy to make recommendations. It is far more difficult to make
recommendations that will both be useful and be capable of being put into effect. In an
attempt to make recommendations that would be useful and capable of being put into effect, |
held meetings with representatives of organisations involved in education as well as with
representatives of the SA Police.

40.  The following are the organisations who participated in those discussions, the dates on
which the separate discussions were held and the persons who attended those meetings.

Department for Education and Child Development - Monday, 4 and 6 February
2013

Mr Gino DeGennaro, Deputy Chief Executive.

Mr Garry Costello, Head of Schools.

Mr Benjamin Temperly, Head of Policy and Communications.

Ms Anne Kibble, Director Regional Operations Programs.

Ms Gaye Brimacombe, Interagency Child Protection Policy Adviser.

Australian Education Union (SA Branch) - Wednesday, 20 February 2013
Ms Anne Walker, Legal and Information Officer.

Mr James Hignett, Co-ordinator of the Organisers Group.

Mr Geoffrey Black, Solicitor at Wallmans Lawyers.

South Australia Police - Friday, 22 February 2013
Assistant Commissioner Paul Dickson.
Superintendent Noel Bamford.

Superintendent Damien Powell.

Detective Senior Sergeant lan Gibbons.

Catholic Education SA and Association of Independent Schools - Wednesday, 27
February 2013

Mr Roger Anderson, Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Association of Independent
Schools.

Dr Paul Sharkey, Director, Catholic Education SA.

Ms Jocelyn Milne, Legal Counsel, Catholic Education SA.

South Australian Primary Principals Association and South Australian
Secondary Principals Association - Thursday, 28 February 2013

Mr Stephen Portlock, President of South Australian Primary Principals Association.
Ms Janet Paterson, President of the Secondary Principals Association.

South Australian Association of School Parent Clubs - Friday, 8 March 2013
Ms Jenice Zerna, President.
Ms Gwen Secomb, Project Officer.
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The South Australian Association of State School Organisations Inc was invited to participate
in these discussions. It declined to do so stating that it was unable to do so because notice
was too short. It had at least the same notice as the other organisations that did participate.
The whole of the discussion with Catholic Education SA and the Association of Independent
Schools is confidential. The order for confidentiality was necessary in order to allow for past
incidents of sexual misconduct in schools to be freely discussed.

41.  Although the meetings were held mainly for the purpose of discussion of issues
relevant to proposed recommendations, it was likely that, in the course of the discussion,
those persons might give evidence of facts. For that reason, each person present at each of
these meetings either swore an oath or made an affirmation to tell the truth. The discussion in
each of those meetings was recorded and a transcript was later produced. The transcripts of
each of those meetings and discussions are part of the proceedings of the Inquiry. In those
instances where evidence was given about facts that were confidential, | made an order that
that part of the transcript be a confidential transcript. Most of those instances where | ordered
that the transcript be confidential related to evidence concerning allegations of sexual
misconduct and the order as to confidentiality was made either to protect the victim or
because the proceedings had not been brought to a conclusion.

Other Reviews

42, This Inquiry is neither the first nor the only inquiry into or review of the events at the
metropolitan school or of matters relating to disclosure of sexual offending by persons
employed at schools.

43. The first inquiry was initiated by the Ombudsman. As will be seen in the narrative in
Chapter 6 of this report, the Ombudsman began his inquiry in June 2012. He was responding
to a complaint made by a member of the Governing Council of the metropolitan school.

44, On 5 November 2012, the Commissioner of Police initiated a review of the policies
and procedures relevant to notification and release of information in the investigation of
serious sexual offences involving children. That review has been completed.

45.  The Commissioner of Police also initiated an examination of police records to identify
the employment history of X and to ascertain whether similar incidents had occurred of which
school communities had not been advised. That review has been completed.

46. At about the same time as the Minister for Education announced this Inquiry, the
Department for Education began reviewing its own procedures. One of those reviews
concerned the management of critical incidents and its management of allegations of sexual
misconduct by members of staff at schools. That review resulted in a report entitled Critical
Incident Review Report published by the Department in January 2013. Another review has
resulted in an interim report published in April 2013. It is called Interim Guidelines for
Disclosing Information: Responding to Critical Incidents of a Sexual Nature Involving a
Child or Young Person. The Department’s internal processes of review continue.

47. On 13 November 2012, the Premier announced that the Chief Executive of the
Department of Premier and Cabinet had convened a Government Task Force. That Task
Force is called the “Interagency Task Force on Disclosure of Sexual Offences”. The initial
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members of the Task Force were the Chief Executive of the Department of Premier and
Cabinet, the Commissioner of Police, the Chief Executive of the Department for Education,
the Crown Solicitor and the Executive Director of SA Health. In December 2012, Ms
Vanessa Swan, Director of the Office for Women, and Ms Katrina Dee, the Manager of the
Yarrow Place Rape and Sexual Assault Service were also appointed to the Task Force. On
21 March 2013, Mr David Waterford was appointed Deputy Chief Executive, Child Safety in
the Department for Education. Shortly after, he was appointed to the Task Force. The Terms
of Reference of the Task Force are as follows:

The Interagency Task Force on Disclosure of Sexual Offences will:

1. Coordinate a crisis management response to the impact of the conviction of X for a
child sex offence on communities and organisations, including:

(@) disclosure of criminal activities to organisation or people connected with the
past or present employment and volunteer arrangements of the offender,
consistent with legislation

(b)  the delivery of support services to people and organisations affected by the
criminal activity.

2. Ensure the application of current government policies and practices relating to the
disclosure of sexual offences by people working with children, including disclosing
information retrospectively to relevant people or organisations who, by policy or
practice, were not informed of the criminal activity at the time of the offending.

3. Provide input into the implementation of any recommendations arising from the
Independent Education Inquiry.

4. Provide advice to the Department for Education and Child Development on the
notification to parents in any other allegations of sexual assault before the Independent
Education Inquiry reports to government.

The work of the Task Force continues. It meets as often as necessary providing advice to
Cabinet as required.

The Scheme of this Report

48. As already mentioned, there are two essential aspects of this Inquiry. The first is to
ascertain the facts concerning the failure of the Department for Education to inform parents at
the metropolitan school of the conviction and sentencing of X. The second is to recommend
appropriate procedures for the management of allegations of sexual misconduct in schools.
Central to both aspects of the Inquiry is the safety and welfare of children at schools. The
first chapter in this report will, therefore, note the legal obligations of schools to ensure the
safety, health and well-being of children in their care.

49, When making recommendations, it is necessary to have regard, among other things, to
legislation that restricts the publication of the name of a person accused of a sexual offence
and the name of a person said to be the victim. Chapter 2 of the report will, therefore,
consider the provisions of relevant legislation and legal principles.

50. Decisions as to what action should be taken in the course of managing allegations of
sexual misconduct in schools will be assisted by an understanding of the course of a criminal
prosecution from the time a person is arrested until trial. A knowledge of the relevant
legislation and an understanding of the steps in a criminal prosecution will also provide a
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clearer insight into what will be identified as shortcomings in the Department for Education
when dealing with the events following the arrest of X. For those reasons, Chapter 3 of this
report will include a discussion of the steps in a criminal prosecution. It will also include a
note on the disciplinary processes to which teachers are subject.

51. The process of child protection will be improved and enhanced if those agencies or
organisations involved in protecting and working with children share information. The
sharing of information should also reduce the need to interview children. The existing
processes by which information is shared are noted in Chapter 4.

52. Chapter 5 will note some relevant facts about the Department.

53. Chapter 6 will narrate the events that occurred at the metropolitan school from the
arrest of X until the end of the school year in 2012. It will also examine the conduct of both
the Department and the office of the Minister for Education in relation to events following the
arrest of X and the conduct of the Department in failing to disclose the fact of his conviction
to parents at the metropolitan school.

54. Chapter 7 will examine the question whether in December 2010, Mr Weatherill, who
was then Minister for Education, was informed of the arrest of X.

55. Chapter 8 will examine some of the failures of the Department that were associated
with its mismanagement of events following the arrest of X.

56. Chapter 9 notes the results of a survey by this Inquiry of sexual allegations made
against teachers and others employed at schools in the four year period 2009 to 2012. In
order to be properly equipped to make recommendations for the management of allegations of
sexual misconduct, it was necessary to examine the kinds of allegations that had been made in
the Department’s schools in past years.

57.  Chapter 10 examines the events associated with the arrest of a teacher and a case
manager in 2013. Those events illustrate particular issues that need to be addressed.

58. Chapter 11 examines the factors that must be considered when deciding whether to
inform parents, members of staff at a school, and members of the governing council of a
school of allegations of sexual misconduct. It also examines when and how that information
should be provided.

59. Chapter 12 examines how parents are best informed of allegations of sexual
misconduct at schools. This chapter also examines whether the Department should do more
than simply write a letter to parents.

60. Chapter 13 will examine several relevant but unrelated issues.

61. Chapter 14 will propose that Guidelines be established to assist the management of
allegations of sexual misconduct in schools. Chapter 15 will contain those Guidelines.

62. Chapter 16 will list the recommendations contained in this report.
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CHAPTER 1- THE SAFETY AND WELFARE OF CHILDREN

63. Although the catalyst for this report was the failure of the Department for Education to
give appropriate information in a timely manner to parents of children at the metropolitan
school, the rationale that will guide the recommendations in this report will be the safety,
health and well-being of children at schools. The protection and advancement of the interests
of children have been addressed in the substantial report by Ms Robyn Layton QC, Our Best
Investment - A State Plan to Protect and Advance the Interests of Children, hereinafter called
the “Layton Report”. This chapter directs its attention to both the duty at common law and
the statutory duties on teachers and school administrators to act so as to ensure the safety and
welfare of children in their care. It will also note the legislation protecting victims of crime.

Common Law Duty

64. Teachers® and school administrators® owe to the children in their care a duty to take
reasonable care to protect them from a reasonably foreseeable risk of injury. The duty exists
at common law.® That duty is not necessarily confined to events on school premises or during
school hours.* The same duty of care applies in both government and non-government
schools. In addition to the duty at common law, teachers and school administrators must
comply with a number of statutory duties or obligations.

Statutory Duties

65. Section 4 of the Children’s Protection Act states that it is a fundamental principle that
every child has a right to be safe from harm. The Act then gives effect to that fundamental
principle in section 11 by establishing a mandatory duty for teachers, among others, to give
notice to the Child Abuse Report Line® where the teacher suspects on reasonable grounds that
a child has been or is being abused or neglected. Abuse in this context includes sexual abuse.

66. The Children’s Protection Act reflects the principles and philosophy of the United
Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child which declares that child protection is a

! Geyer v Downs (1977) 138 CLR 91; Richards v State of Victoria [1969] VR 136. See generally RP Balkin and
JLR Davis, Law of Torts (Butterworths, 4th ed, 2009) para. 7.21.

2 Commonwealth v Introvigne (1982) 150 CLR 258; Watson v Haines (1987) Aust. Tort Reports 80-094.

® Warren v Haines (1986) Aust. Tort Reports 80-014, 67,633.

* Geyer v Downs (1977) 138 CLR 91; Trustees of Roman Catholic Church, Dioceses of Bathurst v Koffman
(1996) Aust. Tort Reports 81-399.

® The terms of Section 11 require that notice be given to “the Department”. The Department is defined in the
Children’s Protection Regulations as the Department for Families and Communities (now called the
Department for Communities and Social Inclusion following the machinery of Government changes on 21
October 2011). The Children’s Protection Act was assigned to the Minister for Education and Child
Development during the same machinery of Government changes. Administrative arrangements have been
made to allow the functions under the Children’s Protection Act to be carried out by the Department for
Education and Child Development. The Child Abuse Report Line is administered by Families SA, which is a
unit of the Department.
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primary consideration. Article 3 of that Convention spells out in clear terms the goal of
protecting children. Article 3 states:

Article 3

1. In all actions concerning children, whether undertaken by public or private social
welfare institutions, courts of law, administrative authorities or legislative bodies, the
best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration.

2. States Parties undertake to ensure the child such protection and care as is necessary
for his or her well-being, taking into account the rights and duties of his or her
parents, legal guardians, or other individuals legally responsible for him or her, and,
to this end, shall take all appropriate legislative and administrative measures.

3. States Parties shall ensure that the institutions, services and facilities responsible for
the care or protection of children shall conform with the standards established by
competent authorities, particularly in the areas of safety, health, in the number and
suitability of their staff, as well as competent supervision.

It will have been noticed that the Convention states that the obligation to protect children
applies at all levels of government and to all social institutions in both the public and private
sector. That obligation, therefore, is intended to apply in both government and non-
government schools.

67. The Education Act does not in express terms spell out any obligation to protect
children. However, such an obligation is to be found in the Education and Early Childhood
Services (Registration and Standards) Act. That Act is part of uniform legislation that applies
in each of the States and Territories of the Commonwealth of Australia. Although it is not
expressly stated, the Act applies to all schools. It, therefore, applies to both government and
non-government schools.®

68. Section 9 of the Act states the objects and principles of the Act. Section 9(1) is in
these terms:

1) The objects of this Act include providing for the regulation of the provision of
education and early childhood services in a manner that maintains high standards of
competence and conduct by providers and—

(a) recognises that all children should have access to high quality education and
early childhood facilities and services that—

(i) address their developmental needs; and

(i) maximise their learning and development potential through an appropriate
curriculum; and

(iii) support their educational achievement; and
(iv) promote enthusiasm for learning; and
(v) support, promote and contribute to their health, safety and well-being; and

(b) provides for a diverse range of services; and

® The definition of “school” in section 5 of the National Law includes government and non-government schools.
The National Law is established by section 10 of the Education and Early Childhood Services (Registration
and Standards) Act and is Schedule 1 of that Act.
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(c) recognises the rights of parents to access a diverse range of education and early
childhood services providers; and

(d) enhances public confidence in the operation of education and early childhood
services providers.

Section 9(1)(a)(ii), therefore, recognises that schools should promote and contribute to the
health, safety and well-being of children. In section 9(2) the Act states the principles that
should be taken into account in the administration of the Act. It is in these terms:

2) The following principles should be taken into account in the administration of this
Act:

(a) parents and guardians should have the right to choose the best services for their
family;

(b) parents and guardians, and members of school communities, should have access
to relevant information concerning the regulation of their child’s school;

(c) the welfare and best interests of children is the primary consideration in the
performance of the Board’s functions;

(d) any person who works with children is obliged to protect them, respect their
dignity and privacy and safeguard and promote their well-being;

(e) cooperation between the Minister, the Board and the school education sectors
contributes to achieving the effective provision of education and early childhood
services;

(f) successful learning is built on a foundation of rich, engaging environments and
meaningful interactions in which children’s voices are listened to and acted on.

For present purposes, paragraphs (b), (c) and (d) are of particular relevance. It is clear,
therefore, that there is an obligation on all schools to provide a healthy and safe environment
for children.

69.  Section 10 of the Education and Early Childhood Services (Registration and
Standards) Act adopts the Education and Care Services National Law and makes it apply as a
law of the State of South Australia. The purpose of the National Law is to establish a national
education and care services framework for the delivery of education and care services to
children.” It is a uniform law that applies to all schools in all States and Territories of the
Commonwealth.® Its provisions include a statement in section 3 of the obligations and
guiding principles of the National Law. It is in these terms:

(2) The objectives of the national education and care services quality framework are—

(a) to ensure the safety, health and wellbeing of children attending education and
care services;

(b) to improve the educational and developmental outcomes for children attending
education and care services;

(c) to promote continuous improvement in the provision of quality education and
care services;

" Section 3 of the Education and Care Services National Law.
& See definition of “school” in section 5 of the Education and Care Services National Law.
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(d) to establish a system of national integration and shared responsibility between
participating jurisdictions and the Commonwealth in the administration of the
national education and care services quality framework;

(e) to improve public knowledge, and access to information, about the quality of
education and care services;

(f) to reduce the regulatory and administrative burden for education and care
services by enabling information to be shared between participating
jurisdictions and the Commonwealth.

3) The guiding principles of the national education and care services quality framework
are as follows—

(a) that the rights and best interests of the child are paramount;

(b) that children are successful, competent and capable learners;

(c) that the principles of equity, inclusion and diversity underlie this Law;
(d) that Australia’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures are valued,
(e) that the role of parents and families is respected and supported;

(f) that best practice is expected in the provision of education and care services.

Sections 3(2)(a) and 3(3)(a) of the National Law are an unequivocal Parliamentary expression
of the principle that the rights and best interests of children are paramount and that the safety,
health and well-being of children attending schools are to be assured.

70. The protection of children is a national concern. The Council of Australian
Governments at a meeting on 30 April 2009 endorsed a document called Protecting Children
is Everyone’s Business. It is the National Framework for Protecting Australia’s Children
2009 to 2020. All Australian Governments are committed to implementing the initial actions
it contains. Itis a long term, national approach to help protect all Australian children.

The Protection of Victims

71.  The protection of children also involves the protection of those children who are
victims of crime and, in the context of this report, those children who are victims of sexual
crimes. It is, therefore, necessary to note the public policy that requires that due regard be
given to the interest of victims. That policy is exemplified in a number of ways. It finds
statutory expression in the provisions of the Victims of Crime Act. One of the objects of that
Act is to give statutory recognition to victims of crime and the harm they suffer from criminal
offending.® The Act declares the principles that should govern the way victims are dealt with
by public agencies and officials.’® While the principles of the Act do not give rise to legal
obligations, public agencies and officials are required to have regard to and to give effect to
them so far as it is practical to do so.** The Act expressly states that the need for the
declaration arises out of national and international concern about the position of victims of
crime in the criminal justice system.® One instance of that international concern is the

® Section 3 of Victims of Crime Act.
19part 2 of Victims of Crime Act.

11 Section 5(4) of Victims of Crime Act.
12 Section 5(2) of Victims of Crime Act.
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Declaration of Basic Principles of Justice for Victims of Crime and Abuse of Power adopted
by the General Assembly of the United Nations in 1985. Article 4 of the Declaration states
that victims of crime should be treated with compassion and respect for their dignity. The
Victims of Crime Act also establishes the Office of the Commissioner for Victims’ Rights
whose powers include the power to further the interests of victims.™

72. Statutory effect is given to the principles expressed in the Victims of Crime Act by the
Criminal Law (Sentencing) Act (“the Sentencing Act”). Section 10(1)(d) of the Sentencing
Act requires courts to have regard to the interests of victims when sentencing offenders for
serious crimes that involve a victim. In the case of serious offences, the victim may read to
the court a victim impact statement.** Section 10(2)(c) of the Sentencing Act also seeks to
protect children by directing judges when determining the sentence for an offence involving
the sexual exploitation of a child to have regard to the protection of children by ensuring that
paramount consideration is given to the need for deterrence, both general deterrence to the
public and personal deterrence to the offender.

73. Section 71A(4) of the Evidence Act is another statutory provision intended to protect
and safeguard the interests of victims of sexual offences. It protects the victim by prohibiting
disclosure of anything that might identify the victim.*® While in certain circumstances the
identity of an adult victim can be disclosed, the identity of a victim who is a child can never
be disclosed. Other restrictions on publishing the name of the victim are contained in the
Young Offenders Act.*® Those provisions and other provisions dealing with publication of the
name of an alleged offender will be considered in the next chapter. For the moment, it is
sufficient to note that there is a clear statutory policy of recognising the rights of victims of
crime including the rights of victims of sexual crimes.

13 Section 16 of Victims of Crime Act.

14 Section 7A of Criminal Law (Sentencing) Act.
15 Section 71A(4) of Evidence Act.

16 Section 13 of Young Offender’s Act.
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CHAPTER 2 - THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK

74, This chapter comprises two parts. The first is an examination of legislation that
regulates the publication of the names or identity of both the person accused of committing a
sexual offence and of the alleged victim of the offence. The second part will examine those
aspects of the law of defamation that must be considered when determining whether to inform
a school community of allegations of sexual misconduct.

PART 1 - RESTRICTIONS ON PUBLICATION

75. The law restricts the disclosure of information relating to allegations of sexual
misconduct. Those restrictions relate to disclosure of the name of the person accused of
committing a sexual offence and the name of a person said to be the victim of the offending.
The restrictions on publication are contained in the Evidence Act and the Young Offenders
Act. Both in different ways restrict the publication of the name of a person accused of
committing a sexual offence and the name of the alleged victim of that offence. It is
necessary also to consider suppression orders.

The Evidence Act

76. Section 71A of the Evidence Act restricts publication of certain information when a
person has been charged with a sexual offence!. These statutory constraints are intended to
protect the interests of both the alleged victim and of the accused person pending the trial of
that accused person. Section 71A(4) protects the interests of the victim. It is in these terms:

4) A person must not publish any statement or representation —

(a) by which the identity of a person alleged in any legal proceedings to be the
victim of a sexual offence is revealed; or

(b) from which the identity of a person alleged in any legal proceedings to be the
victim of a sexual offence might reasonably be inferred,

unless the judge authorises, or the alleged victim consents to, the publication (but no
such authorisation or consent can be given where the alleged victim is a child).

It is readily apparent from the manner in which sub-section (4) is expressed that it prohibits
any publication of any statement or representation that might reveal the identity of the alleged
victim or from which the identity of the alleged victim might be inferred. If the alleged
victim is a child, publication cannot be authorised, even by a judge. This is clear and
unequivocal direction not to publish anything that might identify a child.

77.  Section 71A(2) prohibits the publication of a statement or representation that might
identify the person accused of a sexual offence. It states:

2) Subject to this section, a person must not, before the relevant date, publish any
statement or representation -

! A sexual offence is defined in section 4 of the Evidence Act. The implications of that definition are examined in
para 549 of Chapter 11
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(@) by which the identity of a person who has been, or is about to be, charged
with a sexual offence is revealed; or

(b) from which the identity of a person who has been, or is about to be, charged
with a sexual offence, might reasonably be inferred,

unless the accused person consents to the publication.

When introducing the Bill in the Parliament, the Treasurer, the Hon. S J Baker MP, stated that
the purpose of section 71A(2) was to protect the interests of the accused person. He said:?
The rationale is that a person should not be publicly associated with sexual offences until it

has been determined that there is sufficient evidence for the accused to have a case to
answer.

He later added that section 71A(2):*

will ensure that the accused is not publicly linked to a sexual offence until it is certain the
accused has a case to answer.

Section 71A(2) is a provision that is designed to protect the reputation of the accused person
until it is certain that the accused person has a case to answer. It is founded on the
presumption of innocence.

78. The expression “the relevant date” in subsection (2) is defined in subsection (5) of
Section 71A. The occasion for the relevant date depends on the kind of offence with which
the accused person has been charged. Section 71A(5) is in these terms:

relevant date means -

(a) in relation to a charge of a major indictable offence or a charge of a minor
indictable offence for which the accused person has elected to be tried by a
superior court - the date on which the accused person is committed for trial or
sentence; or

(b) in relation to a charge of any other minor indictable offence or a charge of a
summary offence - the date on which a plea of guilty is entered by the accused
person or the date on which the accused person is found guilty following a trial;
or

(c) inany case - the date on which the charge is dismissed or the proceedings lapse
by reason of the death of the accused person, for want of prosecution, or for any
other reason.

The expressions “major indictable offence”, “minor indictable offence” and *“summary
offence” are explained in paragraphs 120 to 127 of Chapter 3. Another way of stating the
relevant date could be as follows:

1. If the accused person has been charged with a major indictable offence or a
charge of a minor indictable offence for which the accused person has elected to
be tried by a superior court, it is the date on which the accused person is
committed for trial or, if the accused person has pleaded guilty, the date on
which that person is committed for sentence.

2 South Australia, Parliamentary Debates (Hansard) House of Assembly, 9 July 1997, 1831 (S J Baker,
Treasurer).
* Ibid.
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2. If the accused person has been charged with a minor indictable offence or a
summary offence, it is the date on which a plea of guilty is entered by the
accused person or the date on which the accused person is found guilty
following a trial. These will usually be proceedings in a Magistrates Court.

3. When the charge, whatever its nature, is dismissed or the proceedings lapse by
reason of the death of the accused person, or for want of prosecution or for any
other reason.

In this report, | shall, for convenience, refer to each of the first two occasions in paragraphs
numbered 1 and 2 as “the date for committal” or “the date when the alleged offender is
committed for trial or sentence” or a similar phrase.

79. Late in 2012, Parliament enacted the Statutes Amendment (Courts Efficiency Reforms)
Act. The Act makes provision for a defendant who has pleaded guilty to a major indictable
offence to be sentenced by a magistrate.* Major indictable offences include many of the
sexual offences. This provision will apply only if three conditions are satisfied. They are

1. the defendant has pleaded guilty before the preliminary examination;®
2. the Director of Public Prosecutions and the defendant consent,® and

3. if the Magistrate is not of the opinion that the defendant should be sentenced in a
superior court.”

This new legislation has failed to have regard to the terms of the definition of “relevant date” in
section 71A(5) and, in particular, to the occasions when it is lawful to publish the name of an
accused person. On a strict construction of section 71A(5), despite the fact that the defendant
has pleaded guilty, the consequence is that there will be no committal on the major indictable
offence and so no date when the identity of the defendant can be published. As already
mentioned, the intent of section 71A(2) is to prevent a person from being publicly associated
with a sexual offence until the time when it is certain that he has a case to answer. A plea of
guilty is an admission of the offending. When a plea of guilty has been entered, there is no
justification for prohibiting publication. It might be argued that, on a liberal construction of
section 71A and having regard to its intent, it would be lawful to publish the name of an
accused person once that person has pleaded guilty before a preliminary examination. It is
unnecessary, however, to speculate on that question since the Attorney-General is considering
legislation to correct the oversight. Given that the Statutes Amendment (Courts Efficiency
Reforms) Act does not commence until 1 July 2013 and that a Bill to amend the Act was
introduced into the House of Assembly on 5 June 2013, it is likely that any difficulties
consequent on the oversight might not exist or will be of short duration only. To all intents
and purposes, this particular consequence of the Statutes Amendment (Courts Efficiency
Reforms) Act can be put to one side. It does not substantially affect the discussion in this
chapter of the terms of section 71A.

* The relevant provisions of the amending Act are sections 25, 26, 37, 38 and 39.

See paragraph 131 in Chapter 3 for an explanation of a preliminary examination.
® Section 108(1) of Magistrates Court Act.
7 -

Ibid.
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80. In September 2012, Parliament reconsidered the restrictions in section 71A(2) that
prohibit publication of the name of the accused person. The Attorney-General had in 2011
commissioned a review and report upon the operation of section 71A(2) from the Hon. Brian
Martin AO, QC.® In that report, Mr Martin recommended, among other things, that section
71A(2) should be regealed. When making that recommendation, he acknowledged “There is
no ‘right’ answer”.” He, therefore, recommended that if section 71A(2) should not be
repealed, a court should be given power to permit publication if, in the opinion of the court,
publication is required for the protection of the public or in the interests of the administration
of justice or for the purposes of any investigation.'® Parliament was not prepared to repeal
section 71A(2) but instead amended section 71A to include the power of a court to permit
publication in the circumstances recommended in the Martin Report. In that respect, the
Parliament re-affirmed the position that an accused person should not be publicly linked to a
sexual offence until it is certain that the accused has a case to answer.

81. In the course of his second reading speech introducing the bill to amend section 71A,
the Attorney-General explained the Government’s reasons for taking a conservative approach
to reform of that section. He said:**

The Government is well aware that the breadth, speed and accessibility of reporting now
available by electronic media make it necessary to review the whole issue of suppression
laws, and this is currently being undertaken at a national level. Given that those discussions
are taking place, and that submissions to the review were generally supportive of retaining
section 71A in some form, it is reasonable at this time to take a conservative approach to
reform. The amendments will provide some flexibility to the existing law.

The review at the national level is currently being undertaken on behalf of the Standing
Council on Law and Justice. The discussion of the operation of section 71A that follows
might have to be reviewed should section 71A later be amended.

What is meant by Publication?

82. Although section 71A(2) prohibits publication of the name of the accused person until
the occurrence of one of the relevant dates noted above, it might not prevent a school from
disclosing both the name of the accused person and the nature of the offending to those who
have a legitimate interest in receiving that information. The question whether a school can
lawfully disclose that information might depend on the size of the school. The reasons for
that conclusion follow.

83. Section 71A(2) prohibits a person from publishing any statement or representation that
might identify the accused person or from which that person’s identity might reasonably be
inferred. It is necessary to note the definition of the word “publish”. It is defined in section
68 of the Evidence Act in these terms:

¢ The Hon. Brian Martin AO, QC is a former Justice of the Supreme Court of South Australia and later Chief
Justice of the Northern Territory.

° The Martin Report at para. 94.

1% |bid at para. 116.

1 South Australia, Parliamentary Debates (Hansard) House of Assembly, 5 September 2012, 2789 (J R Rau,
Attorney-General).
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publish means publish by newspaper, radio or television, or on the internet, or by other
similar means of communication to the public.

The manner in which the definition is expressed makes it clear that the Act is concerned to
prohibit publication by means of documents or processes that are disseminated widely or to
which access can be readily gained by any member of the public. It, therefore, includes the
media in all its forms as well as the internet which also enables widespread dissemination of
information. Section 71A(2) is clearly intended to apply to widespread communication to the
public. In that respect, it differs from the meaning of “publish” in the law of defamation
where a communication of defamatory material to one person or a small group of persons will
constitute a publication. The expression “other similar means of communication to the
public” in the last part of the definition is clearly a dragnet provision. That expression also
serves to indicate that the Act is concerned to prevent communication to the public as distinct
from private communications.

84. To summarise, the fact that the definition refers both to the media in all its forms and
to the internet coupled with a reference to “other similar means of communication to the
public” indicates that section 71A(2) is intended to prevent widespread publication. It is a
prohibition forbidding the dissemination of information widely to the public. There is nothing
in section 71A(2) that prevents private communications.

85. In addition, there are practical reasons that suggest that section 71A(2) is not intended
to prohibit private communications. If a person has been charged with a sexual offence, it
might be necessary for an employer to take some form of action in relation to the accused
person. If that person is a teacher at a school, it might be necessary to suspend the teacher
until there has been a resolution of the charges. If that person is employed to care for children
in a pre-school, it might be necessary to suspend the accused person. The principal at the
school or the person in authority at the pre-school will need to speak at least to other members
of staff about replacing the suspended person and making such other arrangements as are
necessary to enable the school or pre-school to continue to operate efficiently and effectively.
It might be necessary also to inform some parents, for example, parents of children who have
had regular and frequent contact with the accused person. In each of those instances, it might
be necessary to inform the particular person that the teacher has been charged with a sexual
offence. It would not be the intention of the Act to prohibit a private communication of that
kind.

86. The question as to what was meant by “publication” in this context was considered in
the Supreme Court of South Australia in Roget v Flavel,'? a decision of Justice Cox. In that
case, Justice Cox was required to determine what was meant by “publication” in section 69A
of the Evidence Act. Section 69A is the statutory provision that authorises courts to make a
suppression order. In 1987, section 69A authorised a court to make an order forbidding the
publication of specified evidence or of any account or report of specified evidence. In 1987,
the Evidence Act did not define either “publish” or “publication”. It was submitted to Justice
Cox that the meaning of “publication” was the same as in the law of defamation. Justice Cox

12(1987) 47 SASR 402.
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rejected that submission. He held that publication does not refer to what is essentially a
private communication. He said:*

The first of the definitions of ‘publication’ in the Shorter Oxford Dictionary are:

“The action of publishing or that which is published. 1. The action of
making publicly known; public notification or announcement;
promulgation. b. spec. in Law. Notification or communication to
those concerned, or to a limited number regarded as representing the
public ....”

In my opinion, this gives the general sense of what ‘publication’ means in s 69a. It does not
refer to a substantially private communication, from one person to another, whether by way
of preparation for an impending trial, or as information to someone with an obvious
commercial or personal or other interest in the matter, or merely by way of unedifying
gossip. The typical publication prohibited by s 69a will be publication by means of a
newspaper or a television or wireless broadcast. However, there are other ways in which the
communication of information may be made with the necessary public element — an
announcement at a public meeting, for instance, or a statement uttered to the world at large
on a street corner. Perhaps there could be cases in which, in accordance with the dictionary
definition, notification to a relatively small group of people could be regarded, by reason of
their random, or in some circumstances their representative, character, as a publication under
s69a. Obviously there will be borderline cases. There is no need to explore the matter
exhaustively now.

In my opinion, that interpretation of s 69a will cope with the problem that, as I see it, the
section is attempting to solve — the more or less wholesale communication of the suppressed
material to all and sundry, including those with only an idle interest in the matter. | do not
think that Parliament was attempting to stop and make unlawful — and it would obviously be
very difficult to stop it, anyway — a communication between individuals, for one reason or
another, with no public aspect about it.

It is reasonable to infer that the definition of “publish” inserted in the Evidence Act in 1999
has been adapted from the reasons of Justice Cox with the addition of publication on the
internet, a process that has in the 12 years since 1987 rapidly become more frequently used as
a means of disseminating information widely.

87. As Justice Cox noted earlier in his reasons, the meaning of “publication” in section
69A must depend “upon the context in which it is used, the mischief that the legislation is
designed to overcome, and the need to construe the scheme created by section 69A in a way
that will make it workable”.** The same can be said of section 71A(2).

88. As mentioned in paragraph 77, the purpose of section 71A(2) is that a person should
not be publicly associated with sexual offences until it has been decided that there is sufficient
evidence for the accused person to have a case to answer. The accused person has a case to
answer when he or she has been committed for trial. Section 71A permits disclosure of the
identity of the alleged offender after the committal for trial. The mischief that section 71A(2)
seeks to remedy is widespread dissemination of what might ultimately be found to be
unsubstantiated allegations or even wholly unjustified allegations. In Roget v Flavel, Cox J
also noted that the meaning of publication will in part depend on the need to construe the
scheme in a way that will make it workable. He identified particular circumstances that

13 |bid 406.
4 |bid 405.
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indicated why section 69A did not apply to private communications. The same reasoning
demonstrates why section 71A does not apply to a private communication made by a school
to members of its staff and to parents. If a school is informed of an allegation of sexual
misconduct by a member of its staff against a student at the school, its duty of care to its
students and its statutory obligation to ensure the safety, health and well-being of its students
require it to act so as to protect its students. At an appropriate time, it might be necessary to
inform parents lest there be other children at the school who might also be victims. In
addition, it might be necessary to remove the alleged offender and make arrangements with
other staff to replace the alleged offender. All of these will require communication between
the school and its staff and the parents of children at the school. The nature of those
communications and when they should be made will be discussed later in this report. For
present purposes it is sufficient to note that, at different times, there will be a need for such
communications and, because they are private communications, those communications will
not be the kind of communications that section 71A(2) intends to prohibit.

89.  When an allegation of sexual misconduct by a member of staff at a school has been
made, there will be three groups who will have a legitimate interest in knowing the fact of the
allegation and the identity of the person against whom the allegation has been made. They
are the staff, the parents of children at the school, and the governing body of the school, that
is to say, the governing council in the case of government schools and the school council or
like body in the case of non-government schools. In the case of staff, the communication will
be made in order to enable the orderly operations of the school to continue. The number of
staff, even in a large school, will not be so great as to prevent any communications to staff
being a private communication. That communication will probably be best effected by a
meeting of staff addressed by the principal. Similarly, in the case of the governing body of a
school, the numbers who comprise the governing body will be small and, as the governing
body of the school, its members have a legitimate interest in being aware of important issues
affecting the staff of the school. In the case of parents, the issues are not so simple. If the
school has a small number of children, a letter to parents might not infringe section 71A.
However, the position might be different in the case of a large school because any letter sent
by the school will be sent to a large number of parents. | turn to examine that question.

90. Many schools, both government and non-government, have 500 or more students.
Some have as many as 1,500 or more. The question, therefore, arises whether a letter sent to
parents of a school of 500 or more students would be a letter published in breach of section
71A(2). It is necessary to refer again to the definition of “publish”. Section 68 of the
Evidence Act defines it to mean:

publish means publish by newspaper, radio or television, or on the internet, or by other
similar means of communication to the public.

If the letter is sent to parents, it is not a newspaper nor is it a communication by radio or
television or on the internet. The question is whether the letter is a similar means of
communication to the public, that is to say, whether it is similar to widespread dissemination
by newspaper or the other listed forms of publishing information. On the face of it, it is not a
communication to the public. Instead, it is a letter sent to parents at a particular school.
There is an obvious connexion between the school and the parents of children at the school.
That connexion is reinforced by the fact that the letter is doing no more than communicating
to parents of the school an item of information relevant to the safety and welfare of the
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children at the school. That reasoning would suggest that such a letter would not be a
communication of the kind prohibited by section 71A(2).

91. That conclusion is reinforced by decisions concerning companies legislation that
contain restrictions on making invitations to invest in shares or other securities to the public
or to a section of the public. It is clear that the size of the group to whom an invitation is
made is not necessarily the criterion by which to determine whether the invitation has been
communicated to the public.”> An invitation to the public is an invitation communicated to
the general public, that is to say, to the public at large, to all and sundry.*® An invitation
communicated to persons between whom there exists a sufficiently subsisting connection
between the person making the offer and the person to whom the offer is made is not an
invitation to the public.'’

92. The High Court reached a similar conclusion in Corporate Affairs Commission (South
Australia) v Australian Central Credit Union® (“the Credit Union Case”). In that case the
court had to decide whether an offer made by a credit union to some 23,000 members of that
credit union to invest in a unit trust constituted an offer to a section of the public, a narrower
requirement than an offer to the public. The High Court held that it did not. The Court held
that a distinction had to be made between an offer made by a stranger to the members of the
credit union and an offer made by the credit union to its members. The former was an offer to
a section of the public in breach of the then companies legislation but the latter was not
because of the relationship between the credit union and its members. Four members of the
Court expressed their reasons in these terms:*°

For some purposes and in some circumstances, each citizen is a member of the public and
any group of persons can constitute a section of the public. For other purposes and in other
circumstances, the same person or the same group can be seen as identified by some special
characteristic which isolates him or them in a private capacity and places him or them in a
position of contrast with a member or section of the public. In a case where an offer is made
by a stranger and there is no rational connexion between the characteristic which sets the
members of a group apart and the nature of the offer made to them, the group will, at least
ordinarily, constitute a section of the public for the purposes of the offer. If, however, there
is some subsisting special relationship between offeror and members of a group or some
rational connexion between the common characteristic of members of a group and the offer
made to them, the question whether the group constitutes a section of the public for the
purposes of the offer will fall to be determined by reference to a variety of factors of which
the most important will ordinarily be: the number of persons comprising the group, the
subsisting relationship between the offeror and the members of the group, the nature and
content of the offer, the significance of any particular characteristic which identifies the
members of the group and any connexion between that characteristic and the offer.
(Citations omitted)

The Court held that, if the offer had been made by a stranger to the members of the credit
union, there was no rational connection between the members of the credit union and the

> Lee v Evans (1964) 112 CLR 276, 287 (Kitto J.).

18 1bid 292 (Windeyer J.).

7 Ibid 292 (Windeyer J.).

18 (1985) 157 CLR 201.

9 Ibid 208 (Mason ACJ, Wilson, Deane and Dawson JJ.).
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offer. However, as the offer had been made by the credit union to its members, there was a
rational connection. As Justice Brennan said:?°

But when an antecedent relationship exists between an offeror and a group of offerees and,
by reason of that relationship, the offerees have a special interest in the subject-matter of the
offer, there is a ground for distinguishing the group from the public.

The reasoning as to what constitutes an offer to the public reinforces the conclusion that
section 71A(2) is not intended to prohibit private communications made by a school to
persons who have a special interest in the information that is being communicated. There is a
subsisting relationship between the school, its staff, its governing council and the parents of
children at the school. Not only do those persons have a special interest in the subject matter
of any communication concerning allegations of sexual misconduct at the school but they
have a real and legitimate interest in being informed of a matter that affects the safety, health
and well-being of children at the school.

93.  While the reasoning in the Credit Union Case reinforces the conclusion that section
71A(2) is not intended to apply to a private communication and suggests that a
communication to a relatively large group who have a subsisting relationship or other
rational connexion might not be a communication to the public, the purpose of the companies
legislation is different from the purpose of section 71A(2). The purpose of section 71A(2) is
to prevent widespread dissemination of what might ultimately be unsubstantiated or
unfounded allegations. It is, nevertheless, arguable that there are sound reasons why the same
principles should apply to section 71A(2). That argument is grounded on the proposition that
there is a subsisting relationship between the school, its staff and its parents as well as the fact
that the purpose of the communication stems from that subsisting relationship for the purpose
of protecting children at the school and of alerting the parents of those children. That
suggests that a communication to the staff and the parents might not infringe section 71A(2).

94, However, regard must be had to the internet and the ability to use Facebook and other
services that enable widespread dissemination of information to the public. A letter sent by a
school to parents can readily be scanned and posted on Facebook and thereby be made
available to the public. The evidence in this Inquiry has demonstrated that there are members
of the public who, out of a misguided sense of justice or for other reasons, will not heed a
request from the school to keep the content of a letter confidential and not to publish the letter
in any way. In one case, a letter sent to parents was within 24 hours posted on Facebook
despite a request not to do so. The implications of the internet will be considered later.

95. If the reasoning in the Credit Union Case can be applied, a letter to a large number of
parents will not infringe section 71A(2). It might also be argued that a letter is not a
communication to the public within the meaning of section 68 of the Evidence Act. It is
entirely inappropriate for me to express a concluded view. Should a school with a large
number of students be intending to send a letter to parents, it would be prudent for that school
to take advice on the question whether such a letter would infringe section 71A(2). It must be
mentioned that section 71A(2) does not prohibit a school from saying that a member of its
staff has been arrested and charged with an offence, naming the offence but not the accused

2 1hid 213.
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person. Section 71A(2) prohibits only publication of a statement from which the identity of
the accused person may be inferred. A large school might, therefore, decide as a matter of
prudence to do no more than inform parents that a member of its staff has been arrested
without naming that person. If it is suspected on reasonable grounds that there is a smaller
body of students who might be victims of the accused person, it might be possible to send a
letter to that group without infringing section 71A(2). These issues are addressed in more
detail in Chapter 12 of this report.

96. One other aspect of the question of communication must be emphasised. Some
schools communicate with parents by means of a newsletter published on the internet. In
those cases, there is nothing to prevent any member of the public from reading the newsletter.
Section 68 of the Evidence Act defines “publish” to mean, among other things, to publish by
means of a newspaper or a publication on the internet. Given that a school newsletter
published on the internet is readily available to members of the public, there is a very real
likelihood that a court would find that such a school newsletter published on the internet is a
communication to the public. It is relevant to note also that section 68 also defines a
newspaper so it means “a newspaper, journal, magazine or other publication that is published
at periodic intervals”. That definition might also catch a school newsletter of any kind. For
these reasons, although it is lawful to publish a school newsletter on the internet, any
communication by a school to parents concerning allegations of sexual misconduct should not
be made by a newsletter published on the internet or otherwise. The appropriate form by
which a school should communicate information concerning allegations of sexual misconduct
will be addressed in Chapter 12 of this report.

Young Offenders Act

97. The preceding discussion has addressed the question of communication by a school to
staff and parents when an allegation has been made of sexual misconduct by a member of
staff against a student. On occasions, sexual misconduct might occur at a school between
students. Generally speaking, the students will be under the age of 18 years. Where the
students are over the age of 10 years and under the age of 18 years, the Young Offenders Act
applies.”* Regard must be had to its provisions when schools are required to manage this kind
of offending.

98.  The objects of the Young Offenders Act include the rehabilitation of young offenders.
Section 3(1) spells out that objective in these terms:

The object of this Act is to secure for youths who offend against the criminal law the care,
correction and guidance necessary for their development into responsible and useful
members of the community and the proper realisation of their potential.

Regard must be had to that objective when considering whether and, if so, how schools might
communicate with staff and parents.

*! The Young Offenders Act does not apply to children under the age of 10 years because children under the age
of 10 years are deemed to be incapable of committing an offence: see section 5 of the Young Offenders Act.
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99.  One means by which effect is given to the goal of rehabilitating young offenders is
section 13(1) of the Young Offenders Act which prohibits the publication of information
concerning young offenders. It provides:

(1) A person must not publish, by radio, television, newspaper or in any other way, a
report of any action or proceeding taken against a youth by a police officer or family
conference under this Part if the report—

(a) identifies the youth or contains information tending to identify the youth; or

(b) reveals the name, address or school, or includes any particulars, picture or film
that may lead to the identification, of any youth who is in any way concerned in
the action or proceeding; or

(c) identifies the victim or any other person involved in the action or proceeding
(other than a person involved in an official capacity) without the consent of that
person.

A further restriction on publication is provided by section 63C of the Young Offenders Act. It
restricts reports of proceedings in the Youth Court. It is in these terms:

(1) A person must not publish, by radio, television, newspaper or in any other way, a
report of proceedings in which a child or youth is alleged to have committed an
offence, if—

(a) the court before which the proceedings are heard prohibits publication of any
report of the proceedings; or

(b) the report—

(i) identifies the child or youth or contains information tending to identify the
child or youth; or

(ii) reveals the name, address or school, or includes any particulars, picture or
film that may lead to the identification, of any child or youth who is
concerned in those proceedings, either as a party or a witness.

2) The court before which the proceedings are heard may, on such conditions as it
thinks fit, permit the publication of particulars, pictures or films that would
otherwise be suppressed from publication under subsection (1)(b).

The penalty for a breach of either provision is a maximum fine of $10,000.

100. It will be noticed that both provisions prohibit publication “by radio, television,
newspaper or in any other way”. The expression “or in any other way” is to be contrasted
with the definition of “publish” in the Evidence Act which prohibits widespread
communication to the public by all forms of the media and “similar means of communication
to the public”. The word “publish” is not defined in the Young Offenders Act. The use of the
expression “or in any other way” in both section 13(1) and section 63 suggests that the Act is
concerned not only with widespread communication by the media in all its forms but it also is
concerned with any communication that might identify the offender and the victim. It is
reasonable to conclude, therefore, that the purpose and intention of the Act might be even
more restrictive than the restrictions on publication in the Evidence Act.

101. At the same time, it does not appear to be the purpose and intent of the Act to prohibit
private communication for the purpose of managing the situation where young offenders are
involved. As in the case of an allegation against a member of the staff of a school, the school
will need to take steps to manage the situation. Staff will need to be informed so that they are
in a position to deal appropriately with those involved in the alleged offending. Any
communication between the principal of a school and members of staff will be a private
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communication for the purpose of managing the matter in an appropriate way. These are
matters necessary for the proper administration of the school. It is reasonable to conclude that
the Act does not intend to prohibit communications of that kind. It would be prudent,
nevertheless, for the principal to ask members of staff to keep the names of the offender and
the victim confidential.

102. It is necessary to note what section 13(1) actually prohibits. It prohibits any
publication of a report of any action or proceeding against a youth if the report identifies the
youth, the school of that youth, and the victim. It might be lawful, therefore, to publish a
report of an incident between young offenders provided it does not identify either the
offender, the victim, or the school or anything that might identify the young persons.

103. Depending on the nature of the offending, it might be necessary for the school in the
discharge of its duty of care to all students to inform parents of other students at the school of
offending involving students. It is not clear whether section 13(1) prohibits such a letter.
Schools will have to take advice on that question. If the alleged offending is between two
students only, there might not be any need to inform other parents. If a statement is required,
the alleged offending should be described in a general way without naming the students or
stating anything that might identify them. If more than two students are involved and the
offending is of the kind of which parents and the broader school community should be
informed, then the matter should also be described in a general way without naming any
student or stating anything that might identify a student.

104. It must be stressed that at no time is it lawful to publish the name of a young offender
or anything that might identify that offender. Although there are occasions when the name of
an adult accused person may be lawfully published, the name of an accused youth cannot be
published at any time.

Suppression Orders

105.  Any discussion of the legislation restricting publication of names must also consider
section 69A of the Evidence Act. Section 69A authorises a court to make a suppression order.
A suppression order is defined by section 68 of the Evidence Act as follows:

suppression order means an order —

(@) forbidding the publication of specified evidence or of any account or report of
specified evidence; or

(b)  forbidding the publication of the name of —

(i) aparty or witness; or

(ii) a person alluded to in the course of proceedings before the court,

and of any other material tending to identify any such person.
Suppression orders may be made in any of the courts in South Australia. They may be made
by a Magistrates Court, the District Court of South Australia and the Supreme Court of South
Australia. The circumstances in which a suppression order might be made are set out in
section 69A of the Evidence Act. It is unnecessary in this report to examine in what

circumstances an order might be made. It is relevant only to examine what constitutes a
suppression order.
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106. A suppression order is an order made by a court stating that it forbids the publication
of whatever is the subject matter of the order. An order of the court is to be contrasted with a
statement made by a judge when sentencing an offender that he does not propose to name a
person or to state anything that might identify that person. Statements to that effect are quite
frequently made by a judge when sentencing a person guilty of a sexual offence in order to
protect the victim.  However, such a statement is not a suppression order. A
misunderstanding as to what constituted a suppression order was one of the factors that
caused the Department for Education to take the view (for some months at least) that a
suppression order had been made when X had been sentenced. At a very early stage in his
sentencing remarks, the judge had said:

I do not intend to name the suburb, the school, or the child in order to protect the identity of
the child and her family. | will refer to her throughout these remarks as ‘the child’, or ‘the
victim' for this reason and | trust that my reference to her in this way is not thought to be
impersonal.

As is apparent from those remarks, the only reason why the judge did not name the suburb,
the school or the child was to protect the identity of the child and her family. It was not in
any sense a suppression order. It was simply a means adopted by the judge to ensure that
nothing was said in his remarks that might identify the victim.

107.  Should any question exist as to whether a sentencing judge has made a suppression
order, that question can be answered by examining the orders made by the judge. In the case
of X, it was clear that the judge had not made a suppression order. He did no more than
sentence X. If questions remain after examining the order of the court, an inquiry should be
made to the Registrar of the relevant court as to whether a suppression order exists and legal
advice obtained as to the effect of the order.

108.  The penalties for acting in breach of a suppression order are severe. A person who
disobeys a suppression order is liable to be punished for contempt or to be found guilty of an
offence.? Punishment for contempt might be as severe as a term of imprisonment. If a
person disobeying the suppression order is punished for an offence, the maximum penalty for
a natural person is a fine of $10,000 or imprisonment for 2 years. If the offender is a body
corporate, the fine is $120,000. It is desirable, therefore, to obtain legal advice as to the terms
of the order and as to whether the terms of that order forbid the kind of letter under
consideration.

109. Because of the restrictions on publication expressed in section 71A of the Evidence
Act, it is not usual for a suppression order to be made when a person has been charged with a
sexual offence. However, the existence of such an order cannot be ruled out, especially after
the accused person has been committed for trial. It is prudent, therefore, to check with the
court whether a suppression order has been made.

110.  The power to prohibit publication of the name of a party or witness is wide enough to
include the power to prohibit publication in documents or by means other than newspapers,
television, radio or the internet. It is wide enough to include the power to prohibit some

22 gection 70 of the Evidence Act.
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private forms of communication. If a suppression order has been made and the school is
considering sending a letter to parents, it will be prudent, therefore, to ascertain whether the
order prohibits a letter of the kind under consideration and, if there is any uncertainty about
what is prohibited, to obtain legal advice. In addition, the court has power to vary or revoke a
suppression order. It is, therefore, necessary to check with the court to ensure that the order
being read is, in fact, the most recent form of the order.

Different Duration

111.  The restrictions on publications contained in section 71A(2) and section 71A(4) of the
Evidence Act are similar to suppression orders in that they are all prohibitions on publication.
They are all intended to prohibit widespread dissemination of particular facts. However, at
the risk of repetition, the restrictions on publication in section 71A are not suppression orders.
Furthermore, the duration for each restriction will remain in force varies.

. A suppression order operates for as long as the court has ordered. That is why
it is necessary to continue to enquire whether the order is still in force.

. The restrictions on the publication on anything that might identify the alleged
victim of a sexual offence as prescribed by section 71A(4) operate permanently
in the case of a child. In the case of an adult it operates until a judge authorises
publication or the alleged victim consents to publication.

. The restriction on the publication of anything that might identify the accused
person as prescribed by section 71A(2) operates only until the accused person
is committed for trial or sentence if he is charged with a major indictable
offence. If he is charged with a minor indictable offence or a summary
offence, it operates until the date when he pleads guilty or is found to be guilty.
In the case of all classes of offence, it is the date when the charge is dismissed
or the proceedings lapse or are withdrawn.

It is important, therefore, to distinguish between suppression orders and the restrictions on
publication contained in section 71A of the Evidence Act.

PART 2 - THE LAW OF DEFAMATION

Avoid a Defamatory Meaning

112.  Should a school send a letter to parents concerning allegations of sexual misconduct
against a member of the staff of the school, it must ensure that the letter is not defamatory. If
the letter does no more than state, for example, that a teacher (who is named) has been
arrested and charged with a sexual offence, the letter is not defamatory. The reason for that
stems from the presumption of innocence. It was explained in these terms by Justice Mason
of the High Court of Australia in Mirror Newspapers Ltd v Harrison % in these terms:

2% (1982) 149 CLR 293.
 Ibid 300-301.
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The ordinary reasonable reader is mindful of the principle that a person charged with a crime
is presumed innocent until it is proved that he is guilty. Although he knows that many
persons charged with a criminal offence are ultimately convicted, he is also aware that guilt
or innocence is a question to be determined by a court, generally by a jury, and that not
infrequently the person charged is acquitted.

However, if the letter includes any statement that implies or carries the innuendo that the
teacher has been properly charged or that he had in fact offended, the letter would be
defamatory. If any letter is sent to parents, it is, therefore, essential to ensure that it does no
more than state the fact that the teacher has been arrested and charged.

113.  Different considerations will apply if a school should send a letter stating allegations
of sexual misconduct have been made against a teacher. There is a real likelihood that the
letter will be defamatory as the ordinary reasonable reader of the letter might infer that the
teacher is guilty of that offence: John Fairfax Publications Pty Ltd v Obeid.* See also
Channel 7 Adelaide Pty Ltd v S.*® Schools should always obtain legal advice before sending
such a letter.

Qualified Privilege

114. In certain limited circumstances, a defamatory statement may be made about a
person’s reputation but the person making the statement will be able to rely on the defence of
qualified privilege. One occasion of qualified privilege is where the person making the
communication has an interest or a legal, social or moral duty to make the communication to
the person to whom it is made and the person to whom it is so made has a corresponding
interest or duty to receive it.>” It is arguable that one occasion on which a school has at least a
social or moral duty to inform parents is when a member of the staff of the school has been
arrested and charged with a sexual offence. The position will be even stronger if it is
suspected that other children in addition to the alleged victim have also been abused or
assaulted. The letters would be sent to parents so that they may be alerted to behaviour in
their children that indicates that their children might be victims and the parents can provide
appropriate support to the child. It is arguable, therefore, that there is a community of interest
between the school in informing parents and the parents in receiving that information. The
issues are more complex in the case of mere allegations and it will be desirable for a school to
obtain legal advice before sending a letter to parents.

115. It is arguable also that a letter to parents informing them that a member of the staff of
the school has been arrested and charged with a sexual offence would be an occasion of
qualified privilege by reason of section 28 of the Defamation Act. Section 28 provides:

1) There is a defence of qualified privilege for the publication of defamatory matter to
a person (the recipient) if the defendant proves that —

(a) the recipient has an interest or apparent interest in having information on
some subject; and

%% (2005) 64 NSWLR 485.
%6 (2006) 94 SASR 296.
2" Adam v Ward [1917] AC 309, 334 (Lord Atkinson).
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(b) the matter is published to the recipient in the course of giving to the
recipient information on that subject; and

(c) the conduct of the defendant in publishing that matter is reasonable in the
circumstances.

(@)

3) In determining for the purposes of subsection (1) whether the conduct of the
defendant in publishing matter about a person is reasonable in the circumstances, a
court may take into account-

(a) the extent to which the matter published is of public interest; and

(b) the extent to which the matter published relates to the performance of the
public functions or activities of the person; and

(c) the seriousness of any defamatory imputation carried by the matter
published; and

(d) the extent to which the matter published distinguishes between suspicions,
allegations and proven facts; and

(e) whether it was in the public interest in the circumstances for the matter
published to be published expeditiously; and

(f) the nature of the business environment in which the defendant operates; and

(g) the sources of the information in the matter published and the integrity of
those sources; and

(h) whether the matter published contained the substance of the person’s side
of the story and, if not, whether a reasonable attempt was made by the
defendant to obtain and publish a response from the person; and

(i) any other steps taken to verify the information in the matter published; and
(j) any other circumstances that the court considers relevant.

4) For the avoidance of doubt, a defence of qualified privilege under subsection (1) is
defeated if the plaintiff proves that the publication of the defamatory matter was
actuated by malice.

(5) However, a defence of qualified privilege under subsection (1) is not defeated
merely because the defamatory matter was published for reward.

There are grounds for contending that, as parents have an interest in knowing that a member
of the staff of the school has been arrested and charged with a sexual offence and as the
school publishes the letter in the course of giving parents information on that subject, that the
conduct of the school in publishing the letter is reasonable in the circumstances so that the
letter is sent on an occasion of qualified privilege. Section 28(3)(j) of the Defamation Act
makes it clear that the criteria for determining reasonableness that are listed in section 28(3)
are not exhaustive. A court may have regard to other relevant factors.

116.  Care must always be taken to ensure that any communication to parents is made in a
fair and balanced manner. The defence of qualified privilege will not be available if it can be
established that the person making the communication did so for a malicious or improper
purpose or made the communication knowing that the statement was false or with reckless
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disregard whether the statement was true or false. The latter will apply when the maker of the
statement repeats comments or rumours without seeking any substantiation for them.?®

117.  These remarks are intended only to draw attention to the issues relating to qualified
privilege. It is inappropriate in a report of this kind to express a firm legal opinion. It is
appropriate, nevertheless, to say that, as a general rule, a school is able to inform parents and
staff that a member of its staff has been arrested and charged with a sexual offence. If a
school wishes to inform parents or staff of allegations, it should seek legal advice before doing
SO.

%8 These questions are examined by Messrs Balkin and Davis in Law of Torts (Butterworths, 4th ed, 2009) at
paras. 19.50 to 19.54.
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CHAPTER 3 - CRIMINAL PROSECUTIONS AND DISCIPLINARY
PROCEEDINGS

118.  This chapter begins with a brief overview of the steps involved in prosecuting a person
accused of a criminal offence. In this discussion, that person will be called “the defendant”.
The discussion will also note the courts that hear trials of persons charged with criminal
offences. This part has been included because many lay persons are, for understandable
reasons, not familiar with the course of a criminal prosecution. It is desirable, therefore, to
describe that process briefly so that principals and other teachers will have a better
appreciation of the steps that will be followed after a person has been charged with a sexual
offence. In addition, a number of witnesses expressed the desire to have a better
understanding of the course of a prosecution for an offence against the criminal law so that
they are better informed when called upon to manage allegations of sexual misconduct. It is
appropriate to discuss the course of a prosecution using a sexual offence as an example. This
chapter also includes a list of sexual offences and an examination of the disciplinary processes
to which teachers might be subject.

The Courts

119.  The courts that try offences against the criminal law are the Supreme Court of South
Australia (“the Supreme Court”), the District Court of South Australia (“the District Court™),
and the Magistrates Court of South Australia (“the Magistrates Court™). Trials for murder and
treason and other serious crimes are heard in the Supreme Court. Trials for other serious
crimes are heard in the District Court and trials of summary offences are heard in the
Magistrates Court. The Supreme Court also hears appeals from decisions made in the
Magistrates Court. Three judges of the Supreme Court constitute what is called the “Court of
Criminal Appeal” which is the court which hears appeals from convictions in both the District
Court and in the Supreme Court.

Two Classes of Offences

120.  Criminal conduct is divided into two classes, summary offences and indictable
offences. Summary offences are the less serious kinds of criminal offending. Summary
offences include parking and traffic offences, offensive or indecent behaviour, minor assaults
against the person, shoplifting and minor offences against property.

121. A person is charged with a summary offence by a document called a “complaint”. A
complaint states the offence with which the person is charged. The complaint will also
include a summons requiring the person charged to attend a named Magistrates Court on a
specified date. A summary offence is an offence that is not punishable by imprisonment or, if
punishable by imprisonment, the imprisonment is two years or less.

122.  Indictable offences are the more serious kinds of offences. They include all forms of
assaults against the person, ranging from minor assaults to murder; almost all forms of sexual
assaults ranging from indecent assault to rape; home invasion; burglary; robbery; fraud and
other serious financial crimes; and other crimes against property such as arson. Indictable
offences are divided into minor indictable offences and major indictable offences.
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123.  Proceedings in respect of indictable offences are more complex than is the case for
summary offences. Major indictable offences are heard in the District Court or the Supreme
Court. Most sexual offences are major indictable offences and are usually heard in the
District Court and, on rare occasions, are heard in the Supreme Court. A person is charged
with an indictable offence by a document called an “information”.

124.  Minor indictable offences are heard in the Magistrates Court unless the defendant
chooses to have the matter heard by a judge and jury in the District Court. Minor indictable
offences which are jointly charged with major indictable offences are heard in the District
Court or Supreme Court.

Trials of Summary and Minor Indictable Offences

125.  Trials of summary and minor indictable offences are conducted in the Magistrates
Court. When the matter is called on, the defendant may either plead guilty or not guilty. If he
pleads guilty, the magistrate will then determine the appropriate penalty.

126.  If the defendant pleads not guilty, the matter will be adjourned for a trial on another
date. If the case is complex or there is some difficulty either with witnesses or for some other
reason, it may be necessary for the court to grant such adjournments as are necessary. The
matter will be tried by a magistrate sitting alone. The magistrate will decide whether the
defendant is guilty or not guilty. If the magistrate finds the defendant guilty, the magistrate
will then determine the appropriate penalty.

Trials of Major Indictable Offences

127. It is convenient to describe the process of a prosecution for a major indictable offence
from the time police begin an investigation until the trial and appeal. That will enable the best
understanding of the process. The following description of the process of police
investigation, arrest and bail also applies to some of the more serious kinds of summary
offences. It must be emphasised that the summary that follows mentions only each step in the
course of a criminal prosecution. Each of those steps might involve one or more hearings.

Police Investigation and Arrest

128. In the ordinary course, police will be informed of allegations that a person has
committed, for example, a sexual offence. Police will then investigate those allegations. That
investigation will disclose whether there is evidence sufficient to arrest and charge the
defendant. In some cases, the investigation will be quite short. That usually occurs when the
victim of the sexual offence or someone on behalf of the victim is able to make allegations of
specific conduct and there is other evidence that corroborates the allegations. In other cases,
the investigation might be quite long. That usually occurs when the allegations are more
vague and there is little by way of other evidence to corroborate the allegations. If, at the
conclusion of the investigation, police believe there is sufficient evidence upon which to
convict the defendant, they will arrest and charge the defendant. If they are not satisfied there
is sufficient evidence, the matter will proceed no further or might be filed in case further
evidence should come to light.
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129.  After the defendant has been arrested and charged, police might wish to conduct
further investigations to ascertain whether there is further evidence to prove the case against
the defendant. If those investigations establish other offending, the defendant will be charged
with those offences.

Bail

130.  In the case of most sexual offences, once police have charged the defendant, they will
release the defendant on bail. When a defendant is released on bail, it will be a condition of
the bail that he is required to attend at a Magistrates Court for the purpose of indicating
whether he will plead guilty or not guilty. A date is fixed for that court hearing. It is likely
that additional conditions of bail will be imposed. They will contain restrictions upon the
movements of the defendant. If the defendant is a member of the staff of a school, one of the
conditions will usually be to the effect that the defendant not go on to the school grounds.
Other bail conditions may include that the defendant not contact the victim or not have any
unsupervised contact with any child of or under the age of 17 years. If the police decide not
to release the defendant on bail, the defendant must be taken to a Magistrates Court as soon as
possible and, on that occasion, the defendant may apply for bail. Generally speaking, bail
will be granted but with conditions restricting the movements of the defendant. Those
conditions would be similar to the kind of conditions on which the police would have released
the defendant on bail.

The Process of Committal

131.  Although trials for major indictable offences are heard in either the District Court or
the Supreme Court, the first step in the prosecution of a person charged with a major
indictable offence is the preliminary examination which is conducted in the Magistrates
Court. The preliminary examination is often called a “committal hearing”. The purpose of a
preliminary examination or committal hearing is to determine whether there is sufficient
evidence to put the defendant on trial for a major indictable offence.

132.  After the defendant has been charged on information, a period of between six to ten
weeks will elapse before the defendant is required to appear in the Magistrates Court. On that
occasion, the magistrate will fix a date, usually ten weeks later, for the prosecution to file in
court and serve on the defendant the statements of all the witnesses on whom the prosecution
relies to establish the guilt of the defendant. Those statements are called “declarations”. The
date is referred to as the “declarations date”. Four weeks after the declarations date, the
magistrate will set a date for the defendant to answer the charges. That date is referred to as
the “answer charge date”.

133. Before the declarations date, the police will deliver the evidence and the results of
their investigations to the office of the Director of Public Prosecutions. The Director of
Public Prosecutions, or one of the lawyers in his office, will then consider whether there is
sufficient evidence to convict the defendant. In other words, the Director of Public
Prosecutions will consider the evidence and decide whether there is a reasonable prospect of a
conviction. If the Director of Public Prosecutions comes to the conclusion that there is
insufficient evidence on which to convict the defendant, the prosecution will not proceed.
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134.  On the answer charge date, the defendant will be asked if he pleads guilty or not
guilty. If he pleads guilty, he will be committed for sentence in the District Court or the
Supreme Court.*

135. If the defendant pleads not guilty, the prosecution has the task of satisfying the
magistrate that it has sufficient evidence to put the defendant on trial for the offence named in
the information. The evidence will be sufficient to put the defendant on trial if, in the opinion
of the magistrate, the evidence, if accepted, would prove every element of the offence. In
other words, the magistrate must consider the evidence that the prosecution intends to lead
and, assuming that it will be accepted, then decide whether it is sufficient to prove the
offence. If the magistrate reaches that conclusion, the defendant will be committed for trial.
Between late 2006 and September 2011, there were only two matters recorded on the database
of the office of the Director of Public Prosecutions in which a defendant charged with a
sexual offence was not committed for trial.?

136.  If the magistrate is not satisfied that the evidence is sufficient to put the defendant on
trial, he will reject the information and discharge the defendant. If the defendant is in
custody, the magistrate will release the defendant. That will usually be the end of the case.
However, the Director of Public Prosecutions has the power to file an ex officio information.
That enables the Director of Public Prosecutions to continue with the matter even though the
magistrate has found that the defendant has no case to answer. The Director of Public
Prosecutions will not make such a decision lightly. It will be made if the Director of Public
Prosecutions believes that the magistrate erred in declining to commit or if fresh evidence has
since become available and that evidence would have led to the defendant being committed
for trial if that evidence had been before the magistrate.

137.  To put the position briefly, at the preliminary hearing, the defendant is either
committed for sentence, committed for trial or the information is rejected. The committal for
sentence or the committal for trial will be either to the District Court or to the Supreme Court.
Generally speaking, if a person is committed for trial for a sexual offence, the trial will be in
the District Court.

The Arraignment

138. A defendant who has been committed for trial or sentence is remanded, either in
custody or on bail, to appear before the District Court or the Supreme Court to be arraigned,
that is to say, to be formally charged with that offence. The arraignment day will be fixed
four weeks after the committal. The defendant must attend to be arraigned in person. The
charge stated on the information is read out and the defendant is asked to plead guilty or not
guilty. If the defendant pleads guilty, the matter will usually be adjourned to a later date for
submissions to be made as to the sentence to be ordered against the defendant. If the matter is

1 A defendant who pleads guilty before the preliminary hearing will be sentenced in the Magistrates Court if the
conditions of section 108 of the Magistrates Court Act are satisfied.
2 See the Martin Report at para. 98.
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adjourned, the defendant will be remanded either in custody or on bail until the date of the
adjourned hearing.

139.  Defendants who plead not guilty are remanded for trial, either in custody or on bail.
They will be required to attend at a directions hearing which is held four to six weeks after the
date of the arraignment.

Directions Hearings

140.  Directions hearings are held for the purpose of resolving all the procedural matters that
must be attended to before the trial begins. Directions hearings also give the judge the
opportunity to explore with the prosecution and the defendant whether the matter can be
resolved without having to go to trial. If not, a trial date will be set. The judge will also hear
any preliminary applications, for example, an application by the defendant to be tried by a
judge alone. It is not uncommon for a number of directions hearings to take place prior to the
actual trial.

The Trial

141.  The next step is the actual trial. The trial will usually take place before a judge and
jury. However, in certain circumstances, the defendant may apply to be tried by a judge
sitting alone without a jury.

142.  Before the trial begins, the defendant is again asked whether he pleads guilty or not
guilty. Although the defendant was asked whether he pleaded guilty or not guilty at the
arraignment, he is again asked that question because the defendant may in the interim have
decided to change his plea. If the defendant pleads guilty, the judge will proceed to sentence
him.

143.  If the defendant pleads not guilty, a jury is empanelled and the trial begins. The
prosecution presents its case first. The prosecutor will open the case by giving a brief outline
of the prosecution case. The witnesses are then called. They are asked questions by the
prosecution and then by the defendant. That process is called examination and cross-
examination of the witnesses. After each witness has been examined and cross-examined, the
prosecution may ask questions to clarify matters that arise in cross-examination, a process
called re-examination. After the prosecution has called its evidence, it closes its case. The
defendant may then open his case and call evidence or decide not to do so. That is entirely for
the defendant to decide. The defendant has the right to remain silent and does not have to
give evidence. If the defendant calls evidence, each defence witness, including the defendant,
will be examined and cross-examined and perhaps re-examined. Once the defendant has
called all his witnesses, he closes his case. In strictly limited circumstances, the prosecution
might be permitted to call witnesses in reply. After all the evidence has been presented to the
court, counsel for the prosecution addresses the jury summing up the case for the prosecution.
The defendant’s legal representative will then follow with his address to the jury. Those
addresses will be followed in turn by the judge’s summing up in which the judge instructs the
jury as to the principles of law that apply to the case in question. The jury then retires to
consider its verdict. If the jury returns a verdict of not guilty, the defendant is acquitted and
released. If the verdict is guilty, the judge will proceed to sentence the defendant. If the jury
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cannot agree on its verdict, the judge will discharge the jury and direct a new trial of the
defendant.

144.  As a general rule, a trial is open to the public. Open justice is one of the most
fundamental rules of our legal system.® Justice Gibbs of the High Court of Australia
expressed the principle in these terms:*

It is the ordinary rule of the Supreme Court, as of the other courts of the nation, that their
proceedings shall be conducted “publicly and in open view”. This rule has the virtue that the
proceedings of every court are fully exposed to public and professional scrutiny and
criticism, without which abuses may flourish undetected. Further, the public administration
of justice tends to maintain confidence in the integrity and independence of the courts. The
fact that courts of law are held openly and not in secret is an essential aspect of their
character. It distinguishes their activities from those of administrative officials, for
“publicity is the authentic hall-mark of judicial as distinct from administrative procedure”.
(Citations omitted)

On rare occasions the court might be closed to the public. The court might make an order
excluding the public from the court if the court considers it desirable in the interests of the
administration of justice or in order to prevent hardship or embarrassment to any person. The
only persons then permitted to be in the courtroom will be the judge and necessary officers of
the court, the jury, the prosecution and the defendant and his legal advisers and the witness.
There is one occasion when the court must make an order clearing the courtroom. That
occasion is when a child who is the alleged victim of a sexual offence is about to give
evidence.> The judge will then make an order clearing the court while the child is giving
evidence. The court will then be cleared of all persons except the judge and necessary
officers of the court, the jury, the prosecution and the defendant and his legal advisers and the
witness. In addition, a person may be present at the request of or with the consent of a child
to provide emotional support for the child as well as any other person who, in the opinion of
the court, should be allowed to be present. Thus, the child could have one or both parents
present in the courtroom while giving evidence.

Appeals

145. A defendant who has been convicted may apply for permission to appeal against the
conviction. A Supreme Court judge will decide whether permission should be granted and, if
it is, the appeal will be heard by the Court of Criminal Appeal. The Court of Criminal Appeal
comprises three judges of the Supreme Court. A convicted defendant may also apply for
permission to appeal against the severity of the sentence. If permission is granted, the appeal
will also be heard by the Court of Criminal Appeal. In limited circumstances, the Director of
Public Prosecutions may apply for permission to appeal if he believes the sentence is too
lenient. If permission is granted, that appeal will also be heard by the Court of Criminal
Appeal. The Director of Public Prosecutions may in certain circumstances apply for
permission to appeal against the decision of a judge acquitting a defendant. The Director
cannot appeal against an acquittal after a trial by jury.

% J J Spigelman CJ, Seen To Be Done: The Principle of Open Justice — Part 1 (2000) 74 ALJ 290, 292.
* Russell v Russell (1976) 134 CLR 495, 520.
® Section 69(1) of the Evidence Act.
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Discontinuance of a Prosecution

146.  The Director of Public Prosecutions might decide to withdraw a prosecution. There
could be a number of reasons for that decision. They include the fact that the victim does not
wish the matter to proceed because the victim does not wish to give evidence or for some
other reason. Alternatively, other evidence might have been obtained which weakens the
prosecution case. If the decision not to proceed is made after committal but before
arraignment, the Director of Public Prosecutions will then file what is called a white paper in
the District Court and the defendant will then be discharged. If that decision is made after
arraignment, the Director of Public Prosecutions will inform the court that he does not wish to
prosecute the case any further by announcing a nolle prosequi, a Latin expression meaning
“unwilling to prosecute”. The defendant will then be discharged. In other cases, where there
might be difficulty with some witnesses or other difficulties in a prosecution case, the
Director of Public Prosecutions might be willing to accept a plea of guilty to a lesser charge
than that stated on the information.

SEXUAL OFFENCES

147.  The following is a list of sexual offences that are likely to involve children. They are
listed according to whether they are indictable offences or summary offences. It is not a list
of every offence that might be committed against children. Instead, it is a list of the kinds of
sexual offending most likely to occur in schools or is offending that is incompatible with
being a teacher or having a position that involves having contact or dealings with children.

Major Indictable Offences
148.  The following are sexual offences that are classified as major indictable offences:

1. Rape® — a person will be found guilty of rape if he or she has sexual intercourse
with another person without the consent of that person, either knowing that there
is no consent or is recklessly indifferent as to whether that person is consenting
or not.

2. Unlawful sexual intercourse’ — a person will be found guilty of unlawful sexual
intercourse if that person has sexual intercourse with a person under the age of
17 years. Unlawful sexual intercourse may also occur when a person who is in a
position of authority in relation to a person under the age of 18 years has sexual
intercourse with that person. A person in authority includes a teacher.

It is a defence to a charge of unlawful sexual intercourse with a person over the
age of 14 years and under the age of 17 years if the person with whom the
defendant is alleged to have had sexual intercourse was of or over the age of 16
years and the defendant was under the age of 17 years on the date of the offence

® Section 48 of Criminal Law Consolidation Act.
" Section 49 of Criminal Law Consolidation Act.
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or believed on reasonable grounds that the person with whom he is alleged to
have had sexual intercourse was of or over the age of 17 years.

Persistent sexual exploitation® — a person will be found guilty of this offence if,
over a period of not less than three days, he commits more than one act of sexual
exploitation of the same child under the age of 17 years or, if that person is in a
position of authority in relation to the child, the child is under the age of 18
years.

Indecent assault’ — an indecent assault is not defined in legislation but it is an
assault accompanied by circumstances of indecency. Examples are unwelcome
kissing and touching a person in the area of that person’s breasts, buttocks or
genitals. If the victim was at the time of the offence under the age of 14 years,
the offence is classified as an aggravated offence. The basic offence of indecent
assault is a minor indictable offence.

Producing or disseminating child pornography®® — a person who produces or
takes any step in the production of child pornography or disseminates or takes
any step in the dissemination of child pornography knowing of its pornographic
nature is guilty of this offence.

Being in possession of child pornography*! — a person who is in possession of
child pornography knowing of its pornographic nature or a person who intends
to obtain access to child pornography or obtains access to child pornography is
guilty of this offence. The offence is a major indictable offence if it is a
subsequent offence or an aggravated offence. If it is a first offence of a basic
nature, it is a minor indictable offence.

Procuring a child to commit an indecent act'? — it is an offence for a person to
encourage or procure a child to commit an indecent act. This includes causing
or persuading a child to expose any part of his or her body to make a
photographic, electronic or other record from which the image of that child may
be reproduced.

Minor Indictable Offences

149.  Minor indictable offences include:

1.

Indecent filming®® — it is an offence to film another person in a state of undress
in circumstances in which a reasonable person would have an expectation of
privacy, or that other person is engaged in a private act in circumstances in
which a reasonable person would expect to be afforded privacy, or filming
another person’s genitals in circumstances in which a reasonable person would

& Section 50 of Criminal Law Consolidation Act.

® Section 56 of Criminal Law Consolidation Act.
10 Section 63 of Criminal Law Consolidation Act.
11 Section 63A of Criminal Law Consolidation Act.
12 Section 63B of Criminal Law Consolidation Act.
3 Section 23AA of Summary Offences Act.
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not expect to be filmed. If the person filmed is 18 years or older, the offence is a
summary offence. If that person is under the age of 18 years, it is a minor
indictable offence. It is also an offence to distribute a picture obtained by
indecent filming.

Stalking™ - it is an offence unlawfully to stalk another person. Stalking
includes following another person, loitering outside a person’s place of
residence or some other place that person frequents, and a range of other
behaviour that might reasonably be expected to create apprehension or fear in
that other person.

Gross Indecency™ — any person who, in public or in private commits any act of
gross indecency with, or in the presence of, another person under the age of 16
years is guilty of this offence. The offence is also committed if the act of gross
indecency is committed by or with any other person in the presence of the
victim.

Summary Offences

150.  Summary offences include:

1.

Indecent behaviour'® — it is an offence for a person to behave in an indecent
manner in a public place or in any other place so as to offend or insult a person.

Gross indecency’’ — it is an offence if a person in a public place or while visible
from a public place wilfully does a grossly indecent act either alone or with
another person.

Producing indecent or offensive material*® — a person who produces or takes any

step in the production of indecent or offensive material for the purpose of sale or
who sells indecent or offensive material or exhibits indecent material or commits
other offences in relation to indecent or offensive material is guilty of an
offence.

151.  All of the above kinds of offending are offences either against the Criminal Law
Consolidation Act or offences against the Summary Offences Act of South Australia. Other
legislation, both State and Federal, also creates offences involving sexual misconduct with
children. One such offence is sexual harassment. Sexual harassment is made unlawful by
both section 28F of the Sex Discrimination Act of the Commonwealth and by section 87 of the
Equal Opportunity Act of South Australia.

152.  In addition, Commonwealth legislation prescribes offences relating to the use of postal
or like services for child pornography material or child abuse material. The offences are
prescribed by Subdivision B and C of the Criminal Code Act of the Commonwealth.

14 Section 19AA of Criminal Law Consolidation Act.
1> Section 58 of Criminal Law Consolidation Act.

16 Section 23 of Summary Offences Act.

17 Section 23 of Summary Offences Act.

18 Section 33 of Summary Offences Act.
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DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS

153.  Teachers are subject to other disciplinary proceedings in addition to being punishable
by the criminal law. They are liable to disciplinary proceedings under both the Education Act
and the Teachers Registration and Standards Act. The standard of proof in disciplinary
proceedings is proof on the balance of probabilities, that is to say, that it is more probable
than not that the teacher has offended. That is a lower standard of proof than proof beyond
reasonable doubt which applies in criminal proceedings.

Education Act

154.  Section 26 of the Education Act states that a teacher will be liable to disciplinary
action if the teacher

@) contravenes or fails to comply with any provision of the Education Act;

(b)  contravenes or fails to comply with any lawful direction given to him under the
Education Act;

(c) is negligent, inefficient or incompetent in the discharge of his duties;
(d) is absent from duty without proper cause; or
(e) is guilty of any disgraceful or improper conduct.

If the Chief Executive of the Department finds there is sufficient cause for disciplinary action,
he may impose a range of penalties. Those penalties range from reprimanding the teacher
through fining or reducing the remuneration of the teacher to suspending the teacher without
any remuneration or recommending the dismissal of the teacher. The Education Act provides
teachers with rights of appeal to the Appeal Board against a decision to dismiss him. The
Appeal Board may vary or revoke the decision to dismiss a teacher.

The Power to Suspend

155. In addition to those powers, section 27 of the Education Act invests the Chief
Executive of the Department with power to suspend a teacher where, in his opinion, the
nature or circumstances of any matter alleged against that teacher are such that the teacher
should not continue in the performance of his duties. The Chief Executive may suspend a
teacher whether or not the teacher has been charged with an offence. The power to suspend a
teacher might be exercised in a number of circumstances. One instance is when allegations
have been made against a teacher of unlawful conduct of any kind. The unlawful conduct
alleged might be theft or sexual misconduct or some other kind of offending.

156.  Subsections (3) and (4) of section 27 deal with the question of payment of salary to a
suspended teacher. They are in these terms:

3) Unless the employing authority otherwise determines, a person suspended under this
section shall be entitled to his salary in respect of the period of suspension.

4) Where a direction has been given under subsection (3) and the guilt of the suspended
officer of the matter alleged against him is not established by due process of law, he
shall be entitled to receive the salary to which he would have been entitled if there
had been no direction under subsection (3).
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The employing authority in section 27 means the Director-General of Education who is, in
fact and in law, the Chief Executive of the Department. The manner in which section 27(3) is
expressed indicates that the general rule is that a suspended officer is entitled to be paid his
salary. The meaning of section 27(3) is that the salary will be paid unless the Chief Executive
determines that it should not be paid. Section 27(3) should also be considered with section
27(4). If the Chief Executive decides that the suspended officer is not entitled to be paid and
the guilt of the suspended officer is not established, the Chief Executive must pay that
officer’s salary in full. The general rule as expressed in subsection (3) that the teacher is
suspended on full pay has regard to the presumption of innocence.

157.  In the course of this Inquiry, it was publicly asserted that it is inappropriate for a
teacher to continue to be paid his salary while the teacher is suspended. Remarks to that
effect overlook or do not give due weight to the terms of section 27(3) or to the presumption
of innocence.

158. It is likely that the Chief Executive would approach with great caution the question not
to pay a suspended teacher while allegations are being investigated or prosecuted. The Chief
Executive must have regard to the presumption of innocence. Certainly, it would be a bold
act to decide not to pay the teacher’s salary while investigations are proceeding. The
evidence of this Inquiry shows that, in a large number of instances, when a teacher has been
suspended while allegations of sexual misconduct are being investigated, the result of the
investigation is that there is not sufficient evidence to warrant charging the alleged offender.
A decision to withhold the payment of salary could cause a teacher considerable financial
hardship, a hardship that might not be remedied later by payment of the full salary when the
allegations have not been substantiated and the teacher resumes duties. There might be a
stronger case for withholding payment of salary where the alleged offender has been arrested
and charged but, even then, the Chief Executive would need to approach the question of
withholding payment of salary with great care. The varied nature of sexual offending
together with the variation in the weight and substance of allegations means that there cannot
be any rule of universal application. The Chief Executive would be conscious also of the fact
that the teacher might be acquitted of the alleged offending. As will be demonstrated later, in
the case of almost half of the cases where a teacher has been tried for sexual offences, the case
has been withdrawn or the teacher has been acquitted. As with so many decisions in this
difficult and complex area, each case will have to be considered on its own facts.

Teachers Registration Board

159.  Teachers are also subject to the Teachers Registration and Standards Act. That Act
established a regime for both the registration of teachers and the disciplining of teachers. It
also established the Teachers Registration Board.*® The functions of the Board include the
registration and discipline of teachers as well as the promotion of the teaching profession and
of professional standards for teachers.?’ It is necessary to examine only the provisions of the
Act relating to discipline.

19 See Part 3 of Teachers Registration and Standards Act.
20 Section 6 of Teachers Registration and Standards Act.
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160.  The provisions of the Teachers Registration and Standards Act apply to all teachers in
South Australia, that is to say, they apply to teachers in both government and non-government
schools.

161.  The circumstances in which a teacher will be liable for disciplinary action by the
Teachers Registration Board include

(@)  where the teacher has been guilty of unprofessional conduct, or
(b) if the teacher is not a fit and proper person to be registered as a teacher.*

The expression “unprofessional conduct” is defined in section 3 of the Teachers Registration
and Standards Act. It includes incompetence and disgraceful or improper conduct. The
Supreme Court of South Australia has held that the words “disgraceful” and “improper” are to
be read disjunctively so that a teacher can be guilty of unprofessional conduct if the conduct is
either disgraceful or improper.? The question whether a teacher is a fit and proper person to
be regig?t)ered as a teacher involves an examination of three things, honesty, knowledge and
ability.

162.  The Board may hold an inquiry to determine whether the conduct of a teacher warrants
disciplinary action.** The Board may hold an inquiry if a complaint has been made by the
Registrar of the Teachers Registration Board or if the Board itself decides to hold the inquiry.
If the Board finds that the teacher has been guilty of unprofessional conduct or is not a fit and
proper person to be registered as a teacher, the Board may impose a range of penalties. The
Board may either:

@) reprimand the teacher;
(b) order the teacher to pay a fine not exceeding $5,000;
(c) impose conditions on the teacher’s registration;

(d)  suspend the teacher’s registration for a specified period or until the fulfilment
of the specified condition or until further order;

(e) cancel the teacher’s registration with immediate effect or to take effect at a
future specified date;

( disqualify the teacher from being registered as a teacher permanently or for a
specified period or until the fulfilment of specified conditions or until further
order.

A teacher has a right to appeal against a decision of the Board to exercise disciplinar%/ action.
That appeal lies to the Administrative and Disciplinary Division of the District Court.”

2! Section 33 of Teachers Registration and Standards Act.

22 Reg v Teachers Appeal Board; Ex parte Bilney (1984) 35 SASR 492.

%2 Hughes and Vale Pty Ltd v New South Wales (No. 2) (1955) 93 CLR 127, 156.
2 Section 35 of Teachers Registration and Standards Act.

%% Section 49 of Teachers Registration and Standards Act.



48

Informing the Board

163. The Teachers Registration and Standards Act establishes mechanisms by which the
Board can be informed of conduct that might require disciplinary action by the Board. They
are

1. Employers of teachers have a statutory duty prescribed by section 37 of the
Act to report to the Board

(i) if the employer has dismissed a practising teacher in response to
allegations of unprofessional conduct, or

(i) if the employer has accepted the resignation of the teacher following
allegations of unprofessional misconduct.

In either case, the employer must within seven days submit a written report to
the Board describing the circumstances of the dismissal or resignation and
providing other prescribed information.

2. The Director of Public Prosecutions and the Commissioner of Police both have
a statutory duty imposed by section 51 of the Act to make arrangements for
reporting to the Board any offence that

(i) has been committed or is alleged to have been committed by a person
who is a registered teacher or is believed to be a registered teacher, and

(if)  raises serious concerns about that person’s fitness to be or continue to
be a registered teacher.

The Director of Public Prosecutions and the Commissioner of Police have
established administrative arrangements to report those matters to the Teachers
Registration Board.

The arrangements with the Director of Public Prosecutions and the Commissioner of Police
provide a means by which the Board is informed of any criminal proceedings against a
teacher once the teacher has been charged with an offence that raises serious concerns in
respect of the teacher’s fitness to be a teacher. It also enables the Board to learn the outcome
of the proceedings.

164.  The Teachers Registration and Standards Act imposes obligations on the Registrar of
the Board to give notice of any disciplinary or criminal proceedings against a teacher. Section
40 of the Act requires the Registrar to give notice of the commencement of an inquiry to
determine whether the conduct of a practising teacher gives proper cause for disciplinary
action and to notify the outcome of that inquiry. That notice must be given to

(@)  the employer of that person if the person is a practising teacher;

(b)  the chief executives of the Department for Education, the Catholic Education
Office and the Association of Independent Schools of South Australia
Incorporated,

(c)  the Director of Children’s Services; and
(d) the other teacher regulatory authorities in Australia and New Zealand.
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If the Registrar of the Board becomes aware that a person who is or has been a registered
teacher has been charged with or convicted of a criminal offence that, in the opinion of the
Registrar, raises serious concerns about that person’s fitness to be or to continue to be
registered as a teacher, section 52 of the Teachers Registration and Standards Act requires the
Registrar to give details of the matter to

(@  the employer of that person if the person is a practising teacher;

(b)  the chief executives of the Department for Education, the Catholic Education
Office and the Association of Independent Schools of South Australia
Incorporated; and

(c)  the Director of Children’s Services.

The Registrar must also notify those same persons if the charge is subsequently withdrawn or
the teacher is acquitted.”® In this way, school administrators both in South Australia and
throughout the Commonwealth are informed of concerns as to a person’s fitness to be a
teacher.

165. If a criminal charge against a teacher is withdrawn or the teacher is acquitted of the
offence for which he has been charged, that does not necessarily mean that the teacher can
return to employment as a teacher. As already mentioned, a criminal charge must be proved
beyond reasonable doubt. The Teachers Registration Board or the teacher’s employer, be it
the Department or in the case of non-government schools the school council or other like
body, is able to take disciplinary action against the teacher and may do so if satisfied on the
balance of probabilities that disciplinary action is required. For example, the Teachers
Registration Board may charge the teacher with unprofessional conduct and may discipline
the teacher if it is satisfied on the balance of probabilities that the teacher has been guilty of
unprofessional conduct. Similarly, the Chief Executive of the Department may charge the
teacher with disgraceful or improper conduct and may discipline the teacher if satisfied on the
balance of probabilities that the charge has been proved.

%6 Section 52(2) of the Teachers Registration and Standards Act.
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CHAPTER 4 - SHARING INFORMAITON

The Need to Share Information

166.  Early intervention is one means of enhancing the protection of children from abuse or
neglect. That process will in turn be assisted if there are mechanisms or processes by which
information can be shared between those individuals, agencies and organisations who are
involved, in one capacity or another, in the care, welfare and support of children.

167. Two documents have been prepared by agencies of the South Australian Government
for the purpose of establishing procedures for the exchange of information that will assist in
the promotion of the safety and welfare of children and young people. The first is the
Interagency Code of Practice: Investigation of Suspected Child Abuse or Neglect. It is
commonly called the “Interagency Code of Practice”. The second is called Information
Sharing: Guidelines for Promoting the Safety and Well-being of Children, Young People and
their Families. The latter is commonly called the “Information Sharing Guidelines”. Both
documents were prepared by committees comprising representatives of relevant government
agencies.

Interagency Code of Practice

168.  The Interagency Code of Practice was first published in 2001. A revised version was
published in June 2009. The Interagency Code of Practice is a handbook stating the agencies
and organisations, both government and non-government, which may be involved in notifying
and investigating child abuse or neglect. Its intention is to guide those agencies and
organisations in the investigation of child abuse or neglect. Its aims include

. to minimise any trauma for children and their caregivers from their
involvement in the interagency process; and

. to minimise the number of interviews with a child.

The sharing of information is an essential tool in minimising the trauma for the child, a goal
that is especially achieved if the number of interviews with the child is minimised. In section
6.1.2, the Code expressly refers to the Information Sharing Guidelines. Section 14 of the
Code identifies issues specific to the education system. | will return to section 14 of the Code
in paragraphs 191 to 193 below.

Information Sharing Guidelines

169.  The Information Sharing Guidelines were published in 2008. They apply to all public
sector agencies and to non-government organisations that have entered into contracts with
government and have agreed to share information about risks to children and young people.
They provide a set of overarching principles and practices for sharing information between
agencies of Government. The aim of the Guidelines is to remove barriers to the exchange of



51

information so as to achieve a better integration between the agencies and organisations
involved in child protection.*

170.  When considering processes for sharing information, it is necessary to respect an
individual’s right to privacy. The only aspect of the Information Sharing Guidelines that
needs to be reviewed in this report concerns the disclosure of personal information when it is
believed that a threat to a child exists. That might require the disclosure of personal
information about the child without the consent of the child or the parents of the child or the
disclosure of personal information about another person. That question must be considered
by reference to any legislation and any binding principles regulating to the disclosure of
personal information.

171. The use and disclosure of information concerning individuals have been addressed
both by Commonwealth legislation and a Cabinet Instruction of the Government of South
Australia. The following discussion examines the historical development of principles
relating to the disclosure of personal information. It begins with the enactment by the
Commonwealth Parliament in 1988 of the Privacy Act. It then notes how the Government of
South Australia adopted one of the tests in the Privacy Act for the disclosure of personal
information. It then examines how that test has been reviewed first by the Commonwealth
Parliament and later by the Government of South Australia.

The Privacy Act

172.  The question of the use and disclosure of personal information concerning an
individual was first addressed by the Privacy Act of the Commonwealth. The Privacy Act
enacted what are called “Information Privacy Principles” in section 14 of the Act and
“National Privacy Principles” in Schedule 3 of the Act. The Information Privacy Principles
apply to agencies of the Commonwealth Government. The National Privacy Principles apply
to organisations as defined in the Act. State Government agencies (which include the
Department for Education) are not bound by the Privacy Act.

173. Both the Information Privacy Principles and National Privacy Principles state the
circumstances in which an organisation might disclose personal information about an
individual. One of the circumstances in which the Privacy Act permitted disclosure of
personal information about an individual was where the organisation “reasonably believes
that the use or disclosure is necessary to lessen or prevent a serious and imminent threat to an
individual’s life, health or safety”. As will be noted in a moment, the Commonwealth

Parliament has recently amended the Privacy Act to alter that test.

! The Guidelines are in the process of being amended. One proposed amendment is to extend them to include
adults.
2 See section 14 Principle 10 and Clause 2.1(e) of Schedule 3 of the Privacy Act.
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Information Privacy Principles Instruction

174. There is no privacy legislation in South Australia.® However, in 1989, the
Government of South Australia published an instruction to all public sector agencies called
“Information Privacy Principles Instruction”. The Instruction was reissued in 1992, 2009 and
2013. The Instruction applies to public sector agencies as defined by section 3 of the Public
Sector Management Act. That Act has been replaced by the Public Sector Act. Public sector
agencies are agencies and instrumentalities of the Government. Clause 4 of the Instruction
requires the principal officer of each public sector agency to ensure that the principles are
implemented and maintained and observed for and in respect of all personal information for
which the agency is responsible. The effect of clause 4 is that all employees of public sector
agencies are bound to observe the principles.

175.  Before 2013, paragraph (10) of clause 4 of the Instruction stated the circumstances in
which public sector agencies might disclose personal information about an individual to a
third person in these terms:

(10)  An agency should not disclose personal information about some other person to a
third person unless:

@) the record-subject has expressly or impliedly consented to the disclosure;

(b) the person disclosing the information believes on reasonable grounds that the
disclosure is necessary to prevent or lessen a serious and imminent threat to
the life or health of the record-subject or of some other person;

(c) the disclosure is required or authorised by or under law; or

(d) the disclosure is reasonably necessary for the enforcement of the criminal
law, or of a law imposing a pecuniary penalty or for the protection of the
public revenue or for the protection of the interests of the government,
statutory authority or statutory office-holder as an employer.

It is readily apparent that sub-paragraph (b) was based on the Information Privacy Principles
in section 14 of the Privacy Act of the Commonwealth. On 4 February 2013, Cabinet
amended the Information Privacy Principles Instruction to add an additional paragraph (e) to
paragraph (10) of clause 4. | will refer to that amendment shortly.

Any Sanction to Ensure Compliance?

176.  The Information Privacy Principles do not provide any penalty for a failure to comply
with any of the principles. Paragraph 8 in Part 11l of the Instruction provides for the
appointment of a person to investigate the extent of compliance by an agency. Paragraph 9
invests the Privacy Committee with power to require a report by the principal officer of an
agency as to the extent of the agency’s compliance with the Instruction. However, no penalty
is prescribed for a failure to comply with the Instruction.

177.  Public sector employees are bound by the Code of Ethics for the South Australia
Public Sector (“the Public Sector Code of Conduct”). The Public Sector Code of Conduct is
published by the Commissioner for Public Sector Employment pursuant to section 15 of the

® The South Australian Government is in the process of developing a bill.
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Public Sector Act. A breach of a disciplinary provision of the Public Sector Code of Conduct
constitutes misconduct as defined by section 3 of the Public Sector Act. The Code sets out
what it calls “professional conduct standards” to be complied with by public sector
employees. Those conduct standards include the observance of lawful and reasonable
directions, policies and procedures and other instruments which define what is expected or
required of public sector employees. The Information Privacy Principles Instruction is an
instrument that defines what is expected or required of public sector employees. The Public
Sector Code of Conduct also states that a public sector employee who fails to comply with the
conduct standards may be liable to disciplinary action. A failure to comply with the
Information Privacy Principles would, therefore, be a breach or disciplinary provision of the
Public Sector Code of Conduct and as such constitute misconduct as defined by section 3 of
the Public Sector Act. In this way, public sector employees are bound to comply with the
Information Privacy Principles.

178. However, it is difficult to envisage what sanction would apply if an agency or
department failed to comply with the Information Privacy Principles Instruction. The chief
executive of a department is bound by the Information Privacy Principles. The Instruction
does not contain any sanction for a breach of the Instruction. Unless the breach was very
serious or systemic and there were no extenuating circumstances, it is unlikely that the chief
executive of a large Government agency or department would be accountable for the failure to
observe the Instruction.

179. The Privacy Committee of South Australia is the agency that administers the
Information Privacy Principles. It provides advice to Government on issues relating to the
protection of personal privacy and oversees the implementation of the Privacy Principles in
the agencies of the South Australian Government. If a complaint is made to the Privacy
Committee that a department or agency has breached the Privacy Principles, the Privacy
Committee will seek a response from that department or agency. It can also assist in the
examination of the procedures of that department or agency in order to ensure further
compliance with the Privacy Principles and recommend changes to the procedures of the
department or agency. Another function of the Privacy Committee is to make an annual
report to the Minister on its activities in the previous financial year. The report is tabled in
the Parliament. If the annual report stated that a particular agency or department of
Government had been the subject of a number of complaints, the tabling of the report in the
Parliament might be a form of sanction. Apart from any public disapproval that might follow
the tabling of an adverse report in the Parliament, it seems that, to all intents and purposes,
there is no effective sanction to ensure compliance with the Information Privacy Principles.

Drafting Information Sharing Guidelines

180. Chapter 3 of the Information Sharing Guidelines states the circumstances in which
information can be shared. Part 6 of Chapter 3 discusses the circumstances in which
information concerning a child may be legitimately shared without consent. When the
Information Sharing Guidelines were being drafted, the Privacy Committee of the
Government of South Australia granted agencies and organisations using the Guidelines an
exemption from compliance with paragraph 10(b) of clause 4 of the Information Privacy
Principles. It permitted the words “and imminent” to be removed from paragraph 10(b). Had
the draftsman of the Guidelines adopted that exemption, the Guidelines would have permitted
disclosure of personal information about a child if the person disclosing the information
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believed on reasonable grounds that a disclosure is necessary to prevent or lessen a serious
threat to the life or health of that child. However, when the draftsman came to state the
circumstances in which information could be shared without consent, he expressed the test in
these terms:

Generally speaking, sufficient reason will exist if the provider believes that a child or young
person or a group of children or young people is “at risk” in facing an immediate or
anticipated serious threat to wellbeing and/or safety.

It will be readily noticed that, although the draftsman has not used the words “and imminent”,
he has effectively restored those words by adding to the test the words “an immediate or
anticipated”. There is, in fact, very little difference between an imminent or serious threat and
an immediate or anticipated serious threat, especially if the words “immediate or anticipated”
are intended to be read together. It is not clear whether the words “immediate or anticipated”
are intended to be read conjunctively or disjunctively. They have the capacity to lead to
confusion as to the circumstances in which information can be shared. That would be
particularly so if the person seeking the information reads the words disjunctively but the
person who is in a position to supply the information reads the words conjunctively. The
drafting was most unfortunate. It frustrated the effect of the exemption.

The Test is Reviewed

181. The question of the appropriate test to apply where there is a serious threat to a
person’s health, welfare or safety has been reviewed by the Australian Law Reform
Commission. In 2006, the Commission received a reference from the Attorney-General of the
Commonwealth to review the extent to which the Privacy Act continued to provide an
effective framework for the protection of privacy in Australia. In May 2008, the Commission
published a substantial report entitled For Your Information - Australian Privacy Law and
Practice. Among the matters examined in the report were the criteria for the disclosure of
personal information. That examination included a review of the “serious and imminent
threat” test. The Commission received a number of submissions to the effect that it was
necessary to have a lower threshold than the requirement that the threat be both serious and
imminent before personal information could be used or disclosed. After reviewing the
submissions, the Australian Law Reform Commission recommended that the Privacy
Principles in the Privacy Act should be amended to permit the use or disclosure of an
individual’s personal information if the agency or organisation reasonably believes that the
use or disclosure is necessary to lessen or prevent a serious threat to an individual’s life,
health or safety. The Commission’s report contains a summary of the submissions received
and its analysis of those submissions. It is unnecessary to repeat the summary of the
submissions. It is sufficient to refer to the Commission’s analysis and conclusions:

25.82 Agencies and organisations should be permitted to use and disclose personal
information for a purpose other than the primary purpose of collection if they reasonably
believe that the use or disclosure is necessary to lessen or prevent a serious threat to an
individual’s life, health or safety; or public health or safety.

25.83 The current requirement that the requisite threats to an individual be imminent as well
as serious sets a disproportionately high bar to the use and disclosure of personal
information. This is problematic in circumstances in which there may be compelling policy
reasons for the information to be used or disclosed but it is impracticable to seek consent.
Agencies and organisations should be able to take preventative action to stop a threat from
escalating to the point of materialisation. In order to do so, they may need to sue or disclose
personal information.



55

25.84 The requirement that the requisite threats to an individual be imminent, therefore,
should be removed. Any analysis of whether a threat is “serious’ must involve consideration
of the gravity of the potential outcome as well as the relative likelihood. If a threat carries a
potentially grave outcome but is highly unlikely to occur, it cannot be considered ‘serious’ in
any meaningful sense. The word ‘serious’ cannot be considered in isolation. It must be
considered in the context of a ‘serious threat’. The second listed definition of “threat’ in the
Macquarie Dictionary is ‘an indication of probable evil to come’. This indicates that an
assessment of likelihood of harm is implied.

25.85 While the removal of the imminence requirement will not impact on the need to assess
whether a threat is likely to eventuate, it will render unnecessary an assessment of when a
threat is likely to take place. This is borne out by the definition of ‘imminent’, which focuses
on the immediacy of a threat. The Macquarie Dictionary defines ‘imminent’ as ‘likely to
occur at any moment; impending’. It defines ‘impending’ as ‘about to happen; imminent’.

25.86 It should be emphasised that there are important safeguards contained in the
formulation of the exception recommended by the ALRC. In each case, an agency or
organisation will need to form a reasonable belief that the use or disclosure is necessary to
lessen or prevent the requisite threat. An agency or organisation, therefore, will need to have
reasonable grounds for its belief that the proposed use or disclosure is essential, and not
merely helpful, desirable, or convenient.

25.87 There is a strong public interest in averting threats to life, health and safety. To
remove the categories of threat relating to an individual’s safety or public safety, as
suggested by one stakeholder, would leave a gap in the operation of the principles, and
potentially lead to ambiguity in their application. For example, if an individual is facing a
serious risk of injury or danger, in the absence of an exception allowing use and disclosure to
prevent serious threats to safety, an agency or organisation may take an overly-conservative
view that such risks do not constitute either a threat to life or health, and therefore refrain
from acting. (Citations omitted)

182. | respectfully agree with the substance of the Commission’s reasons. They apply with
equal force to the test of “an imminent or anticipated threat to well-being and/or safety” of a
child in both the Information Privacy Principles and the Information Sharing Guidelines.
There will be occasions when one person has knowledge about another person working with
children that causes the first person to believe that there is a risk that at some future time the
second person might harm any one of the children in his care. Although, the threat is
anticipated on reasonable grounds, it might not be possible to state when the threat might
materialise. For those reasons, | will in a moment recommend that the Information Privacy
Principles be amended to reflect the Commission’s recommendation.

Privacy Act is Amended

183. The Commonwealth Parliament has adopted the recommendations of the Australian
Law Reform Commission that relate to the “serious and imminent threat” test. In 2012, it
enacted the Privacy Amendment (Enabling Privacy Protection) Act. Among other things, that
Act has removed the “serious and imminent threat” test and permits disclosure where it is
unreasonable or impractical to obtain the individual’s consent and the entity who has the
personal information reasonably believes that disclosure is necessary to lessen or prevent a
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serious threat to the life, health or safety of any individual.* Those provisions will not come
into force until 2014.° Nevertheless, they are a useful model.

A New Test Recommended

184.  Although there is no legislation in relation to privacy in South Australia, public sector
agencies and their employees in this State are bound by the Information Privacy Principles
and those principles are reflected in the Information Sharing Guidelines. It is desirable that
the test in both documents for sharing information in respect of children who are at risk of
abuse or neglect should not have to meet the high threshold of “an immediate or anticipated
serious threat” to their well-being or safety. That test should be replaced by a test that reflects
the test recommended by the Australian Law Reform Commission and adopted by the
Commonwealth Parliament. 1 therefore recommend that clause 4(10) of the Information
Privacy Principles should be amended by deleting paragraph (b) and substituting in its place
the following:

(b) The person disclosing the information believes on reasonable grounds that the
disclosure is necessary to prevent or lessen a serious threat to the life, health or
safety of the record-subject or of some other person.

In addition, | recommend that Part 6 of Chapter 3 of the Information Sharing Guidelines be
amended by deleting the words:

Generally speaking, sufficient reason will exist if the provider believes that a child or young
person or group of young people is “at risk” in facing an immediate or anticipated serious
threat to wellbeing and/or safety.

and that those words be replaced by the following:

Generally speaking, sufficient reason will exist if the person disclosing the information (*the
provider”) believes on reasonable grounds that the disclosure is necessary to prevent or
lessen a serious threat to the life, health or safety of any person or group of persons or that
the provider reasonably believes that a child or young person or a group of children or young
people are at risk.

The expression “at risk” is explained in the Guidelines.® The suggested amendment reflects
the proposal to amend the Information Sharing Guidelines to include adults. The sharing of
information to protect children is provided for in both limbs of the amendment.

Should the Department Disclose Names?

185. The Department for Education is a public sector agency. It is, therefore, bound by and
must comply with the Information Privacy Principles. The expression “personal information”
is defined in clause 3 of the Principles in these terms:

“personal information” means information or an opinion, whether true or not, relating to a
natural person or the affairs of a natural person whose identity is apparent, or can reasonably
be ascertained, from the information or opinion.

* See section 16A and Schedule 1 of the Privacy Amendment (Enhancing Privacy Protection) Act 2012.
% See section 2 of the Privacy Amendment (Enhancing Privacy Protection) Act 2012.
® See section 5, Explanation of Terms.
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It is the practice of SA Police to inform the Department that criminal charges have been made
against a teacher. Personal information will include the fact that a teacher has been charged
with an offence. In that sense, the Department collects personal information and is bound by
the Information Privacy Principles in relation to that personal information. It is permitted to
disclose that personal information only in the circumstances referred to in clause 4(10).

186.  As will be noted later in this report, when an allegation of sexual misconduct is made
against a teacher or other member of the staff of a school, the Department immediately
conducts a risk assessment to determine whether allowing that employee to remain at the
school while the allegations are investigated poses a risk to the safety of children at the
school. Generally speaking, the result of that risk assessment is that the employee is
suspended pending the investigation of the allegations. If police arrest and charge the
employee, the suspension of that employee continues until the trial of the employee has
concluded.

187.  One question that must be considered when examining the question whether a letter
should be sent to parents informing them, say, that a teacher has been arrested and charged
with a sexual offence is whether the teacher should be named in the letter. Sub-paragraphs (a)
and (d) of clause 4(10) would not permit the naming of the teacher. Any threat that the
teacher might pose has been reduced by the fact that he has been suspended and cannot attend
the school. It is readily apparent that those sub-paragraphs of clause 4(10) of the Information
Privacy Principles do not permit the Department to name the teacher in any letter sent to
parents. However, there might be cases where the offending is of a kind that there are
grounds for suspecting that children other than the victim have been involved and might
themselves be victims. In those circumstances, the Department ought to be able to inform
parents so that parents might be alert to behaviour in their child that might indicate some form
of abuse. As noted in Chapter 2, although section 71A(2) of the Evidence Act prohibits public
communication of the name of a person accused of a sexual offence before that person is
committed for trial or sentence, it does not prohibit a private communication of that fact.
However, it is arguable that sub-paragraphs (a) and (d) of clause 4(10) of the Information
Privacy Principles would not permit the Department to name the teacher in any letter to
parents. The position would be no different even if the Information Privacy Principles and the
Information Sharing Guidelines were amended as recommended in paragraph 184 above.

188.  There is much to be said for the view that the proper protection of children should
prevail over the presumption of innocence in the case of an alleged offender. In this context,
the protection of children means safeguarding the health and welfare of children who might
be victims. For that reason, it is desirable that the Department should be able to disclose the
name of the alleged offender to parents whose children might have been at risk of being
offended against by the teacher who has been charged. For these reasons, | had intended
recommending a second amendment to the Information Privacy Principles to permit the
naming of a teacher who had been charged with a sexual offence. However, it is unnecessary
to make such a recommendation because on 4 February 2013, Cabinet amended the
Information Privacy Principles Instruction by adding an additional paragraph at the end of
paragraph (10) of clause 4. The new paragraph reads:

(e) The agency has reason to suspect that unlawful activity has been, is being or may be
engaged in, and discloses the personal information as a necessary part of its
investigation of the matter or in reporting its concerns to relevant persons or
authorities.
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That paragraph would permit both the naming of the teacher and a statement as to the nature
of the offending to be made in a letter to parents. The question when it is appropriate to name
the teacher in a letter to parents is discussed in Chapter 12 of this report.

189.  The Information Privacy Principles do not apply once a person has been committed for
trial or sentence. As noted in Chapter 2, section 71A(2) of the Evidence Act permits the name
of a person charged with a sexual offence to be published once that person has been
committed for trial or sentence. Section 71A(2) overrides the Information Privacy Principles
since it is an Act of Parliament whereas the Information Privacy Principles are no more than a
Cabinet instruction to public sector agencies. It is a fundamental principle of law stemming
from the separation of powers that an Act of Parliament prevails over an act of the Executive
Government such as a Cabinet instruction. The Parliament has supremacy over the
Executive. It is lawful, therefore, for a school to inform parents of the school of the result of
the committal hearing unless a suppression order has been made.

Governing Councils

190.  Governing councils of schools are not bound by the Information Privacy Principles.
The principles apply only to public sector agencies as defined by section 3 of the Public
Sector Act. The definition states that a public sector agency does not include “a person or
body declared under an Act not to be part of the Crown or not to be an agency or
instrumentality of the Crown”. Governing councils are one form of school council
established as bodies corporate pursuant to section 83 and section 85 of the Education Act.
Section 83(3)(f) provides that a school council is not an agency or instrumentality of the
Crown. Governing councils are, therefore, not an agency or instrumentality of the Crown
and, for that reason, are not public sector agencies and are not bound by the Information
Privacy Principles. It is recommended that this anomaly be addressed by amending the Code
of Practice of Governing Councils to include an obligation to comply with the Information
Privacy Principles or, alternatively, by an administrative instruction to that effect made by the
Minister pursuant to section 96 of the Education Act.

Section 14 of the Interagency Code of Practice

191.  Section 14 of the Interagency Code of Practice deals with issues specific to the
education system and, in particular, with several issues that relate specifically to the
Department and SA Police. In section 14.2, the Code refers to two matters relating to
interviewing children. The two paragraphs read as follows:

Should an interview need to be conducted with a child at a DECS site and the allegation is
against a staff member, it is inappropriate for other staff members to be the child’s support
person or to be present at the interview.

SAPOL has a responsibility to notify parents or guardians that they are interviewing their
child (children), preferably before the interview.

It is desirable that the Code be amended to state at the end of the first of those paragraphs that
police should ensure that a support person is available for the child and that the support
person be a parent (unless the parent is the alleged offender), a relative or friend chosen by or
acceptable to the child.



59

192. It is desirable also that the word “responsibility” in the second paragraph of the two
paragraphs as quoted above is deleted and replaced by the word “duty”.

193.  The Code also requires amendment to bring it up to date with changes in the name of
some agencies. This report will focus on the changes to section 14. The following
amendments are required:

1. As the name of the Department has changed, the Department should be called
the “Department for Education and Child Development”. In addition, where
the abbreviation DECS is used to refer to the Department by its former name,
the abbreviation should be changed to “DECD”.

2. The expression “Special Investigations Unit” when used in the Code should be
changed to “Investigations Unit”. That reflects a change of name of that unit
by the Department in January 2012.

Memorandum of Administrative Arrangement

194.  In November 2011, the Department and SA Police executed a Memorandum of
Administrative Arrangement. The purpose of the Memorandum is to enable the two agencies
to collaborate on a number of issues including:

. the investigation or other action in relation to an assault on any student or
member of staff at a school;

. the investigation or other action in relation to other crimes at a school; and

. crime prevention at schools.

The expression “assault” would include a sexual assault. The Memorandum is expressed in
broad terms and enables the two agencies to develop policies and procedures that specifically
address particular issues.

Sharing Information Between Sectors

195. In 2005, the Department entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with both
Catholic Education SA and the Association of Independent Schools by which each party is
agreed to disclose to the other, on a confidential basis, information as to whether an individual
poses an unacceptable risk for working with children

196. The Memorandum of Understanding has been replaced by a protocol executed in
February 2013 which is to the same effect as the Memorandum of Understanding. It is called
the Intersectorial Information Sharing Protocol. It states that the three parties are committed
to the following principles:

. the safety of children and young people is of paramount concern;

. individuals must be suitable to work or volunteer with children and young
people at all times;

. a determination about an individual’s suitability to work or volunteer with
children and young people must be based on relevant information;
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. employers or oversighting bodies need to know sufficient relevant information
about individuals working or volunteering with children and young people to
be able to safeguard them from harm;

. known and potential risks to children and young people must be responded to
in a timely way and cannot be ignored,;

. personal and sensitive information about a person’s history must not be
misused.

The protocol imposes an obligation on each party to judge whether it is appropriate to share,
on a confidential basis with the other two parties, relevant information as to whether a person
IS an unacceptable risk when working with children in any capacity. When making that
decision it is necessary for the party to have regard to the principles that underline the
protocol. The protocol provides that it will be reviewed on an annual basis. Plainly, this is a
commendable initiative in the endeavour to avoid employing persons unfit to work with
children.

197.  The Department has failed on at least one occasion to comply in a timely manner with
the Memorandum of Understanding made in 2005. Not until 7 November 2012, did it notify
Catholic Education SA and the Association of Independent Schools of the fact that X had
been arrested and charged or that he had been convicted. It is beyond the Terms of Reference
of this Inquiry to examine whether the Department has consistently complied with the
Memorandum of Understanding. The Department has reviewed its practices and has on
several occasions in 2013 complied. It hardly needs to be stated that understandings or
protocols of this kind are almost worthless unless all parties comply with them.
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CHAPTER 5-SOME FACTS ABOUT THE DEPARTMENT

198.  This chapter will note some brief facts about the Department and describe the units at
the central office of the Department that were involved in the events at the metropolitan
school. It will also describe the Department’s process for managing critical incidents and the
process of suspension of teachers accused of sexual misconduct.

A Large Department

199. The Department for Education and Child Development is one of the largest
departments in the Government of South Australia. It employs some 28,400 employees (or
22,670 full-time equivalents). It administers more than 1,200 sites including 555 schools.
Those sites also include pre-schools and child care centres. It is not only responsible for the
provision of education under the Education Act but is also responsible for the oversight of
early childhood care centres under the Children’s Services Act. It is also responsible for child
protection under the Children’s Protection Act and adoption under the Adoption Act. Families
SA is part of the Department. The work of Families SA includes protecting children from
abuse and harm, supporting families to reduce risk to children, working with young people
who break the law, caring for refugee children at risk, and delivering services to address
poverty. This list of the Department’s responsibilities is not exhaustive. It has wide-ranging
responsibilities for children and young people.

Management in December 2010

200. The Department is headed by a Chief Executive and a Deputy Chief Executive. They
are respectively Mr Keith Bartley and Mr Gino DeGennaro. In December 2010, there was no
Chief Executive. The services of the previous Chief Executive, Mr Robinson, had been
terminated in mid-2010 and his replacement, Mr Keith Bartley, did not commence duty until
2 May 2011. In December 2010, the Acting Chief Executive was Mr Gino DeGennaro and
the Deputy Chief Executive was Ms Jan Andrews. Before Mr Robinson had left the
Department, Mr DeGennaro and Ms Andrews had both been Deputy Chief Executives, each
having different operating divisions of the central office reporting to them.

Operating Divisions and Units

201. The Department is administered from a central office at 31 Flinders Street, Adelaide.
The Department is divided into a number of operating divisions, each headed by an executive
director. Those operating divisions comprise a number of units. The head of each unit is
responsible to the executive director of the operating division who in turn is ultimately
responsible to either the Deputy Chief Executive or the Chief Executive of the Department.
The structure of the operating divisions in December 2010 was different from the present
structure. It is not necessary to describe the administrative structure in any detail. A copy of
the organisational charts of the Department for 2011 and 2012 are attached as Appendix J and
Appendix K.
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Several Units Involved in the Matter of X

202. In December 2010, a number of units of the Department were involved in different
aspects of the events following the arrest of X and, after he had been convicted and sentenced
in 2012, in dealing with the requests by parents and some members of the Governing Council
of the metropolitan school for information to be given to parents. Those units were:

. the School Care Unit;
. the Special Investigations Unit (which is now called the Investigations Unit);
. the Licensing and Standards Unit;
. the Human Resources Unit;
. the Legislation and Legal Services Unit; and
. the Media Unit.
I will briefly describe the function of each unit.

203.  The School Care Unit is part of the operating division called “Office for Schools”. Its
functions include providing support and assistance to schools and school principals. If a
critical incident occurs at a school, it will provide advice and support for the principal and the
regional office. That advice includes directing the principal to relevant units in the central
office. In December 2010, Mr Wuttke was the manager of the School Care Unit. Since
August 2011, Mr Gary Costello has been Head of Schools, that is to say, he is the senior
executive in charge of the Office for Schools. Another officer in that division is Ms Anne
Kibble. She was actively involved in the steps taken by the Department following the
conviction of X on 9 February 2012.

204. The functions of the Special Investigations Unit include investigating incidents at
schools and misconduct by employees of the Department. On 16 January 2012, its name was
changed to the Investigations Unit. One important aspect of its functions is that it is the unit
that liaises with SA Police in respect of criminal offending by employees of the Department.
It is the unit that SA Police contacts for the purposes of informing the Department that an
employee has been arrested and charged with a criminal offence. In December 2010, Mr
Andrew Thredgold liaised with SA Police on matters concerning the arrest of X. Another
officer in the Special Investigations Unit in December 2010 who was briefly involved in
matters relating to X was Ms Oggi Stojanovich. The manager of the Special Investigations
Unit in December 2010 was Mr Kelsey.

205.  In December 2010, the oversight of the OSHC services was the responsibility of Mr
lan Lamb. It is still his responsibility. Mr Lamb is a Senior Policy Officer in the operating
division called the Office for Early Childhood Development, Strategy and Programs. In
December 2010, the functions of the Licensing and Standards Unit included investigating
incidents that had occurred in OSHC services. In that sense, it was yet another investigating
unit in the Department. Its investigative functions have since been taken over by the
Investigations Unit. Because police were already investigating the offending of X, the
Licensing and Standards Unit did not conduct any investigation in respect of that offending.
Nevertheless, Mr Lamb consulted Ms Janne Todd who was in December 2010 the manager of
that unit.
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206. In December 2010, Ms Mardi Barry was the Manager, Employee Relations and
Conduct within the Employee Relations and Conduct Unit. That unit was part of the
operating division called Human Resources and Workforce Development, which is often
referred to as the “Human Resources Unit”. It will be called the “Human Resources Unit” in
this report. Ms Barry’s duties included advising the principal of the metropolitan school on
the termination of the services as an employee of the OSHC service.

207. The Department obtains legal advice and other legal services from the Crown
Solicitor. In order that the Department might receive timely advice, the Crown Solicitor has
deployed lawyers from his office to work in the central office of the Department. They are
referred to as “outposted solicitors”. There are three solicitors outposted to the Department.

208.  Although the Department obtains legal advice and other legal services from the Crown
Solicitor, it has a unit called the “Legislation and Legal Services Unit”. For convenience, it
will be called “the Legal Unit”. It has a number of functions. They include the oversight of
legislation that affects the Department. It provides legal advice to the Department on matters
that do not require advice from the Crown Solicitor or where the matter has been the subject
of advice on an earlier occasion. It manages personal injury and public liability claims. It
advises and assists schools in respect of a wide variety of legal issues. Its manager is Mr
Donald Mackie. He is not a qualified lawyer. Two members of the Legal Unit involved soon
after the arrest of X were Ms Kim Reynolds and Ms Marylen Bechara. They are both
qualified lawyers but they have not had extensive legal experience.

209.  As its name implies, the Media Unit is responsible for the Department’s dealings with
the media. Officers in the Media Unit prepared press releases in relation to the events and
circumstances following the conviction and sentencing of X.

210. In December 2010, some of the units described above reported ultimately to Mr
DeGennaro and others to Ms Andrews. The units that reported to Mr DeGennaro were the
Special Investigations Unit, the Legal Unit and the Human Resources Unit. The School Care
Unit and the Licensing and Standards Unit reported to Ms Andrews. In addition, school
principals were responsible to regional directors who in turn were responsible to Ms Andrews.
This administrative structure has the potential to result in a lack of co-ordination and a failure
to communicate information between those units who ought to be informed of particular
events. At times, in the course of the management of the events following the arrest and
charging of X, there was an unfortunate lack of co-ordination and communication between
units and senior executives of the Department.

Regions

211.  For the purpose of administering schools, the Department has divided the State into 12
regions. Five are in the metropolitan areas of Adelaide and there are seven country regions.
The metropolitan school is in the Western Adelaide Region. Each region has a Director and
at least one Assistant Director. At all relevant times, Mr Brendyn Semmens and Mr Gregory
Petherick were respectively the Director and Assistant Director for the Western Adelaide
Region. The role of the Regional Directors and Assistant Regional Directors, as explained
by Mr Semmens, is broadly speaking, threefold. One is risk and crisis management that
essentially involves assisting principals of schools within the region in managing incidents at
schools. The Regional Directors also provide a link between the principal and the central
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office. Regional Directors are often the first port of call for principals seeking assistance.
Principals are also assisted by the School Care Unit through the system for managing critical
incidents that will be described in a moment. The second aspect of the role of Regional
Directors is ensuring that schools are correctly implementing Departmental policies. The
third is the improvement in the quality of schools. In December 2010, Regional Directors
were responsible to Ms Andrews.

Principals

212.  In December 2010, the principal of the metropolitan school was Ms Julie Gale. Her
appointment was to end in January 2011. She was succeeded as principal by Ms Tania
Oshinsky.

Critical Incidents

213.  As might be expected, different kinds of incidents occur at schools each day during the
school term. In 1995, the Department instituted a manual documentary process for the
reporting and management of critical incidents at schools. In August 2009, the Department
replaced that process with an electronic web-based system. The system is called the
Information and Response Management System. It is commonly referred to as “IRMS”.
IRMS is intended to facilitate timely and efficient reporting and investigation of incidents
affecting health and safety, injuries to students or staff, and incidents affecting the security of
the site. IRMS enables electronic reporting of critical incidents at pre-schools, schools and
children’s centres.

214. In August 2010, the Department published guidelines for the reporting of critical
incidents. It is one of a number of documents published under the heading “Making Our Sites
Safer” and is called Critical Incident Reporting. That document defined critical incidents in
these terms:

Parent issues

A major disruption to the school/centre’s routine
Intervention or action by police or other agencies
Intruders

Weapons at your school, preschool or children’s centre
Disaster eg. fire/flood

Drug incidents

Death or serious injury to a student or staff member.

School principals were required by the guidelines to use IRMS to report incidents as soon as
practicable after any critical incidents. The report was to be made electronically on a form
called “Critical Incident Report”. If the incident was urgent, the principal was encouraged to
make a telephone call to the Regional Director and the Manager of the School Care Unit.

215. It is apparent from the guidelines for the reporting of critical incidents that operated in
December 2010 that the School Care Unit was the unit responsible for the management of
critical incidents. However, as will be apparent from the narrative in Chapter 6, there was no
central management of the issues concerning X either by the School Care Unit or by any other
unit. In December 2010, different units in the Department gave advice to Ms Gale, who was
then the principal of the metropolitan school, but that advice was given on what appears to be
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an ad hoc basis with no single person co-ordinating the management of the matter. In the
result, anything to do with X seems to have dropped out of the corporate memory of the
Department in early 2011 until he was sentenced on 9 February 2012,

Suspending an Alleged Offender

216. In this section, it is assumed that the person against whom allegations have been made
is a teacher. The discussion will apply with equal force to other members of the staff of a
school who are employed by the Department. At the conclusion of this section, the position
of an employee in the OSHC service will be examined.

217.  Reference has already been made in Chapter 3 to the power of the Chief Executive of
the Department to suspend a teacher.® The procedure by which the suspension is effected is
as follows. When allegations of misconduct are made against a teacher, be it sexual
misconduct or any other form of misconduct, the teacher is immediately stood down and
placed on leave with pay.? During that period of leave, the Department sends a letter to the
teacher informing him of the allegations and stating that it is the intention of the Department
to suspend the teacher from duty on full pay until further notice. The letter offers the teacher
the opportunity to make submissions to the Department why he should not be suspended. The
Department correctly takes the view that it is not its task to investigate the allegations unless
police decide not to investigate. Unless there is any obvious reason why the allegations
should be dismissed, the teacher is suspended on full pay until further notice. A similar
practice occurs in non-government schools.

218. The process of suspension raises the question whether the interests of the alleged
victim and other children at a school should prevail over the interests of the alleged offender.
Reference has already been made to the fact that schools have both a statutory duty and a
common law duty to protect the children in their care. That duty points to the conclusion that
the alleged offender should be removed in order to safeguard and protect the alleged victim
and other children. On the other hand, consideration must be given to the presumption of
innocence. The allegation might be frivolous or unfounded or both. This is a difficult
question, especially as the likelihood is that the career of the alleged offender will be severely
jeopardised even if the allegations are not substantiated. After carefully weighing the
arguments, the resolution of this question seems to be that it is necessary to remove the
alleged offender from the school. The removal of the alleged offender reduces the risk of re-
offending with either the alleged victim or other students. It also protects the alleged victim
from any fear of the alleged offender and from any threat, coercion or intimidation by the
alleged offender. If the alleged offender is not removed and does, in fact, offend again, the
school will have failed in its duty to protect either the alleged victim or other children in the
school or both. It is appropriate to add that all interested parties who appeared before the
Inquiry agreed with this conclusion.

! See paragraphs 155 to 158 of Chapter 3. The power is invested in the Chief Executive of the Department by
section 27 of the Education Act.

2 Regulation 22 of the Education Regulations authorises the Chief Executive of the Department to place a
teacher on special leave for 15 days.
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219.  Suspending the alleged offender on full pay maintains a reasonable balance between
the protection of children and the presumption of innocence. Suspension reduces the risk of
reoffending at the school while the fact that the alleged offender continues to be paid has
regard to the presumption of innocence. It is an indication that no judgment has been made as
to the guilt or innocence of the alleged offender. It is a neutral position. In addition,
suspension on pay does not signify any particular kind of offending. The offending might be
a theft or other offending against property. It might be sexual misconduct or a physical
assault or some other kind of offending. The offending might range from the relatively minor
through to conduct of a grave and serious kind.

220. A similar process should be adopted when allegations of sexual misconduct have been
made against an employee of the governing council of a school. The governing council
should stand down the employee and send him a letter informing him of the allegations,
stating that it is the intention of the governing council to suspend the employee on full pay
until further notice and offering the employee the opportunity to make submissions why he
should not be suspended. There appears to be no reason why the employee should not be
suspended while the allegations are being investigated. The Inquiry has not heard evidence
on the question whether an employee of OSHC should be suspended on full pay. The
governing council might not have sufficient funding to do so. Another issue is whether it is
the Department or the governing council that is in fact the employer of staff in the OSHC
services. This is a matter for governing councils and the Department to resolve. The position
might vary from school to school. The governing council of one school has provided the
Inquiry with a legal opinion to the effect that the employer of staff in the OSHC service at that
school is the Department not the governing council.

221. There are two other situations where it will be necessary either to suspend or to
terminate the services of the alleged offender. The first is where the alleged offender has
contracted to provide services to the Department in relation to children. In that case, the
Department will need to obtain legal advice whether it can suspend the services of the
contractor or any employees of the contractor or terminate the contract. In this respect, it
would be desirable for the Department to obtain legal advice from the Crown Solicitor on the
question of including, in any contract for services of a person who will be working with
children, a clause or clauses that would require the contractor to suspend the services or state
that the contract be terminated in the event that allegations of sexual misconduct are made
against the contractor. Such clauses would avoid difficulties that might arise should there be
no provision in the contract of that kind. The other situation concerns a person who is
working as a volunteer at a school. The need to protect children at the school requires that, if
allegations of sexual misconduct are made against a volunteer, the services of the volunteer
should be terminated.

Directions to the Alleged Offender

222.  When the Department suspends an alleged offender who is a teacher pending the
investigation of allegations of sexual misconduct, it usually gives the suspended teacher
certain directions. One such direction is not to attend or come near the site. Another is not to
communicate with the person said to be the victim. A third that is sometimes given requires
the teacher not to communicate with other members of the staff of the school. The first two
conditions are entirely appropriate. They are necessary in order to ensure that the safety and
welfare of the victim and of other children at the school are adequately protected. However,
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for the reasons that follow, the third direction might not be reasonable and, therefore, might
be unlawful. The Department may wish to consider whether it is necessary.

223.  An employee has a duty at common law to obey the lawful and reasonable commands
or directions of his employer.®> The standard by which to determine whether a direction is
lawful and reasonable was expressed by Justice Dixon in ex parte Halliday in these terms:*

If a command relates to the subject matter of the employment and involves no illegality, the
obligation of the servant to obey it depends at common law upon its being reasonable. In
other words, the lawful commands of an employer which an employee must obey are those
which fall within the scope of the contract of service and are reasonable.

Public servants have an additional obligation, that is to say, they are subject to public service
legislation that is designed not only to serve the purposes of the relationship of employer and
employee but also, for reasons of governmental and public interest, has the object of securing
values proper to be required of a public service in our system of Government and, in
particular, the maintenance of public confidence in the integrity of the public service and of
public servants.®> As Justice Finn noted in McManus v Scott-Charlton:®

For this reason public service Acts and regulations have in some respects gone considerably
beyond what would be countenanced by the implied contractual duty of an ordinary
employee to serve his or her employer with good faith and fidelity - at least in so far as the
regulation of an employee’s private activities are concerned.

The effect of the decision in McManus v Scott-Charlton is that the public service employment
relationship might enlarge the scope of directions that might be given to those employed in
the public sector. These principles apply to teachers as employees in the public sector.

224.  Notwithstanding that the scope of reasonable directions to a teacher may be wider than
in the case of the ordinary relationship of employer and employee, real questions exist as to
the validity of a direction not to communicate with other members of the staff of the school.
Such a direction does nothing towards the protection of children at the school. It does not
seem to have any real connection with the teacher’s employment at the school or the reason
for his suspension from employment at the school. The direction would prohibit the teacher
from communicating with those members of the staff of the school who are his friends. In
that respect, it interferes with the teacher’s right to freedom of association. There can be no
justification for forbidding the teacher from communicating with colleagues at places other
than the school. The Australian Education Union stated that teachers often suffer
psychological harm on being suspended. A direction that prevents a teacher from speaking to
colleagues who are friends is likely to add to any risk of psychological harm.

225.  Other consequences of the direction must also be considered. Assume, for example,
the teacher against whom the allegations have been made is, in fact, innocent. That teacher
might wish to communicate with one or more other teachers at the school who are in a
position to give evidence to assist him. The direction not to communicate with other teachers

® R v Darling Island Stevedoring and Lighterage Co Ltd; ex parte Halliday (1938) 60 CLR 601; McManus v
Scott-Charlton (1996) 70 FCR 16, 21.

*R v Darling Island Stevedoring and Lighterage Co Ltd; ex parte Halliday, 621-622.

® McManus v Scott-Charlton (1996) 70 FCR 16, 25.

® Ibid. 25.
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of the school would forbid any such communication. Even if the teacher against whom the
allegations have been made is not innocent, there does not appear to be any reason why that
teacher should not be able to communicate with other teachers at the school. It is the
prerogative of the teacher who is being approached to decide whether he wishes to speak to
the suspended teacher. It is difficult to find any reasonable justification for the direction. The
concept of proportionality is not inappropriate to use as a test to determine the propriety of a
direction.” There are questions whether the direction to communicate to the other members of
staff is disproportionate in all the circumstances. If the intention is to prevent the teacher
from speaking to colleagues who are witnesses, a direction might be reasonable if it does no
more than require the teacher not to speak to witnesses and name those persons.

226. | do not intend to express a firm opinion on this important question. It is inappropriate
that 1 should. However, the Chief Executive of the Department might wish to consider the
necessity for or take advice upon the lawfulness of a direction to a teacher not to
communicate with other members of the staff of the school.

Notice of Allegations

227.  When the Department writes to a teacher asking him to show cause to why he should
not be suspended, the letter gives a very generalised statement of the nature of the allegations
made against the teacher. The Australian Education Union submitted that the Department
should give notice to the teacher of the allegations and, in those cases where there is an
alleged victim, the name of that person. The effect of that submission was that procedural
fairness required the name of the alleged victim to be given to the teacher so that the teacher
was in a position to identify the occasion of the alleged incident. The union added that, while
police might interview the teacher as early as 24 hours after he has been stood down, in other
cases the teacher has not been interviewed for a period as long as seven weeks. It was
asserted that this was unfair to the teacher.

228.  Essentially, this is a matter of significance for the teacher who is in fact innocent of
the allegations made against him. If the person is innocent, he will not know the
circumstances of the offending and will need some particulars so that he can recall events and
gather the evidence to assist his defence. If the allegation is made soon after the alleged
offending, the person who has in fact offended would only be too well aware of the
circumstances of the offending.

229.  While the union’s submissions have some force, there are sound reasons why it is not
appropriate for the Department to disclose the name of the alleged victim to the teacher. First,
it is the practice of police to give priority to investigating allegations of sexual misconduct
against children. As a general rule, police will, therefore, be interviewing the teacher against
whom the allegations have been made soon after the investigation has begun. In the course of
interviewing the teacher, police will ask the teacher questions that will disclose the content of
the allegations. In all likelihood, the teacher will in that way obtain sufficient notice of the
allegations. Secondly, if the alleged victim is named, there might be a risk that the teacher

" 1bid. 30.
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might attempt to persuade the alleged victim to withdraw or modify the allegations. The
attempt to persuade might be accompanied by a threat or some other form of inducement.
The protection of the alleged victim must prevail over informing the teacher of the name of
the alleged victim.

230. This is only a matter for concern in those cases where the allegations have first been
made to a teacher or to a principal at the school. In those cases, where the teacher has been
arrested and charged before the school or the Department has learned of any allegations
against that teacher, the teacher will have learned the allegations when interviewed by police
and will only be too well aware of them. In those instances, it will be sufficient for the
Department when sending the letter asking the teacher to make submissions as to why he
should not be suspended from duty simply to name the offence with which the teacher has
been charged.
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CHAPTER 6 — A FAILURE TO INFORM PARENTS

231.  This chapter recounts the events surrounding the arrest of X, his conviction and the
failure of the Department to inform parents of that conviction. | have deliberately recounted
the events in some detail. There are at least three reasons for doing so. First, the parents of
children of the metropolitan school and the teachers at that school are entitled to know what
occurred and how the Department mismanaged the matter. Secondly, a detailed account
demonstrates a lack of co-ordinated management of the matter on the part of the Department.
Thirdly, it demonstrates the fundamental lack of knowledge on the part of the Department as
to the circumstances in which disclosure of sexual offending can be made to parents.

Imperfect Recollections

232. In the case of almost all the witnesses who were employees of the Department in
December 2010, there is either no independent recollection of the events of December 2010
or, at best, an imperfect recollection. With few exceptions, none of these witnesses kept notes
of events in December 2010. The exceptions are Mr Wuttke, Ms Stojanovich, Ms Reynolds
and Mr Thredgold. Mr Thredgold kept a log of events. Most of the witnesses had to
reconstruct events relying on contemporaneous documents. For these reasons, | have to a
substantial extent made my findings of fact by reference to the contemporaneous documents,
supplementing those documents with such of the oral evidence as is consistent with them.

An OSHC Service

233.  In 2010, the metropolitan school, like many schools, provided an Out of School Hours
Care service (“OSHC”) for students at the school. The service was available both before and
after school. The hours were 7.15 to 8.45am and 3.15 to 6pm. Full day vacation care was
also provided to children from the metropolitan school and other schools in the area. The
service was operated by the Governing Council of the school. The Governing Council
employed the staff who supervised the out of school hours care. In December 2010, X was an
employee of the OSHC service.

The Checks on Suitability of X

234. X commenced employment at the OSHC service at the metropolitan school on 11
December 2006. Before it employed X, the Governing Council required him to produce a
certificate from the Commissioner of Police as to his criminal history. In 2006, a person
seeking employment to work with children had to do no more than produce a certificate from
the Commissioner of Police as to his criminal record. It was not then necessary to obtain a
clearance from the screening unit at the Department for Families and Communities. X
obtained a National Police Certificate dated 21 November 2006 from the Commissioner of
Police. That certificate stated that he had no convictions. In his application for employment,
X listed his previous experience in OSHC services. He also listed employment in other
organisations.
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235.  Given that X had no police record and had a long record of employment in the OSHC
services at other schools, the decision of the Governing Council to employ X is
understandable.

236. In September 2010, X had applied for employment by the Department as a School
Services Officer, commonly called an “SSO”. By September 2010, a person applying for
employment working with children was required to obtain a clearance from the screening unit
at the Department for Families and Communities. That screening disclosed that X had no
criminal offences and the Department for Families and Communities issued him with a
clearance. The Department appointed him to the position. He was employed on a contract
basis for two periods. These periods were from 6 September to 26 September and from 11
October to 12 December 2010.

237. It is apparent that both the Governing Council of the metropolitan school and the
Department complied with the respective statutory duties to check on the criminal record of X
as they existed at 2006 and at 2010. Each took reasonable steps to check the suitability of X
to be employed at the OSHC service and as a School Services Officer.

An Appalling Crime

238.  After school on the afternoon of Wednesday, 1 December 2010, X was on duty at the
OSHC service. He had a number of children under his care. While on duty, he tricked a girl
aged seven years into having sexual intercourse with him. He took her into the canteen area
to prepare snacks for other children. While in the canteen, he placed a blindfold over her eyes
and inserted his penis into her mouth, pretending that it was a carrot. It was a shocking and
appalling crime.

The Crime is Reported

239.  That evening when at home, the girl told her mother of the incident. The girl’s mother
contacted police that same evening. Police officers came to the house at about 9.15pm. They
were Detective Sergeant Rowe (“Det. Sgt. Rowe™) and Senior Constable McFarlane (*S/C
McFarlane”). As the child was sleeping, the police officers agreed not to take a statement
from her until the next day.

240. At about 10.15pm, Det. Sgt. Rowe telephoned Ms Julie Gale, who was then the
principal of the school. He informed her of the allegations. He gave her the telephone
numbers for the day shift Western Adelaide CIB sergeant and for the Family Violence
Investigation Sergeant. Det. Sgt. Rowe then typed a briefing paper for the purpose of briefing
police officers who would be working the next day on the day shift. At about 11.45pm on 1
December, S/C McFarlane notified the Child Abuse Report Line of the allegations that had
been made. In doing so, he was complying with the obligation imposed by Section 11 of the
Children’s Protection Act.

The Morning of 2 December

241. Ms Gale was quite distressed by the allegations against X. As is apparent from the
evidence of a number of witnesses, X was well liked by many in the school community. That
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is particularly evident from the fact that, when he had been absent on sick leave earlier in the
year, a number of members of the school community had made a collection to raise money to
assist him in paying his rent. X was a friend of some members of staff and of some parents.
Ms Gale, like others in the school community, was on friendly terms with him. She therefore
found it difficult to accept the allegations against him. She had difficulty sleeping that night
and, in consequence, woke late, not hearing her alarm clock. Instead of leaving for the school
at her usual time between 7 and 7.15am, she left later.

242.  On her way to school that morning, Ms Gale made two telephone calls. The first was
to Ms Oggi Stojanovich, an investigator in the Special Investigations Unit of the Department.
She informed Ms Stojanovich of the allegations against X and told her that police officers
were going to interview the victim that morning.

243. Ms Gale also rang the Western Adelaide CIB and spoke to Detective Sergeant Clark
(“Det. Sgt. Clark™) who was in charge of the investigation that day. She was returning his
call. He had rung her earlier but his call was not answered. Ms Gale was probably speaking
to Ms Stojanovich when Det. Sgt. Clark called. Det. Sgt. Clark informed Ms Gale that police
would be interviewing the victim that morning and that he would speak to her after the
interview.

244.  After receiving Ms Gale’s telephone call that morning, Ms Stojanovich spoke to Mr
lan Lamb. Mr Lamb was then and still is the officer in the Department responsible for the
oversight of OSHC services. As a result of that call, Ms Stojanovich telephoned Ms Gale at
11.50am and told her to contact Mr Lamb who would assist her. Ms Gale told Ms
Stojanovich that the police had not contacted her again. Ms Stojanovich suggested that Ms
Gale again telephone the police. Ms Stojanovich asked if X was at the school that morning.
Ms Gale said that she did not know whether he had been to the school that morning.

245.  There is a conflict between the evidence of police and the evidence of Ms Gale. The
evidence of Det. Sgt. Rowe was that, in the course of his conversation with Ms Gale on the
night of 1 December, she had asked him what she should do as X was to start work the next
morning. He replied that he could not direct her to do anything but, as X would be in contact
with children, it would be best if X was prevented from starting work that day. Ms Gale’s
evidence was that she could not remember that Det. Sgt. Rowe had made that suggestion to
her. | find that Det. Sgt. Rowe did not give that instruction to Ms Gale. First, the evidence
shows that Ms Gale did not know whether X was on duty at the OSHC service that morning.
In the course of her telephone call to Ms Stojanovich on the morning of 2 December, Ms Gale
had said that she did not know if X had been at the school that morning. X was not the only
member of the staff of the OSHC service. It would be most unlikely that she should be aware
of the details of the roster for the OSHC service. She did, however, know that X was coming
to the school later that morning because he was one of four applicants who were to be
interviewed for the position of the Canteen Manager at the school. In his evidence Det. Sgt.
Rowe said that Ms Gale’s main concern was the fact that she had to speak to X that morning
at an interview. 1 find, therefore, that Ms Gale did not say to him that X was to start work
next morning but she said words to the effect that X was coming to the school that morning,
referring to him coming to the interview. Det. Sgt. Rowe also said in his evidence that he had
suggested to Ms Gale that she call the Department first thing in the morning and get advice on
what to do. That is confirmed by his note in the briefing paper he prepared. The relevant part
of the note reads:
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Detective Rowe spoke with the principal of [the metropolitan school], Julie Gale (mobile
number omitted) at about 10.15p.m. and informed her that allegations of a serious nature had
been made against [X]. She advised that she will make contact with DECS Investigation
Section first thing in the morning for further advice on what action to be taken.

That note is inconsistent with an instruction to prevent X from attending at the school.
Secondly, it is very apparent from her evidence that, from the time when she first learned of
the allegations against X and till after his arrest, Ms Gale was seeking assistance from police
as to how she should conduct herself. That is confirmed by another note in Det. Sgt. Rowe’s
briefing paper. She acted in accordance with the directions she received. Had she been
advised to prevent X from attending the school that morning, she might have taken steps to
contact her Regional Director, Mr Semmens, or her Assistant Regional Director, Mr
Petherick, to see what steps should be implemented to prevent X from attending. Thirdly, Ms
Gale’s recollection of Det. Sgt. Rowe’s instructions was that nothing should be done to alert
X or interfere with the investigation. It is likely that any step to prevent X from attending the
school would have alerted him. Finally, the absence of any note in the briefing paper of an
instruction to prevent X from attending the OSHC service that morning points to the
conclusion that he did not give any instruction to Ms Gale about X. According to Det. Sgt.
Rowe, he prepared the briefing paper in order to pass on relevant information to the day shift
and to inform management of the details relating to the incident. Advice to Ms Gale that she
should prevent X from attending the school is, in my view, relevant information to pass on to
the day shift but Det. Sgt. Rowe did not mention it in his briefing paper.

246. It was Det. Sgt. Clark’s evidence that when he spoke to Ms Gale on the morning of 2
December, he asked her if she had taken steps to prevent X from having any contact with
children attending the OSHC service that morning. When asked what had caused him to ask
that question of her, he said he thought he might have spoken to Det. Sgt. Rowe on the night
of 1 December. | do not accept that he spoke to Det. Sgt. Rowe on the night of 1 December.
First, Det. Sgt. Rowe did not state that he had spoken to Det. Sgt. Clark that evening.
Secondly, Det. Sgt. Clark admitted that he could not be sure that he had spoken to Det. Sgt.
Rowe on the night of 1 December about the matter of X. He might have asked Ms Gale
whether steps had been taken to prevent X from attending the school but it was not the result
of a conversation with Det. Sgt. Rowe on the night of 1 December.

Did X Work on 2 December?

247.  There is no direct evidence whether X was working at the school on the morning of 2
December. No witness could recall whether he was on duty that morning. The rosters for the
OSHC service do not exist. It appears that it was not the practice to retain the rosters.
However, the timebook for his service at the OSHC service does exist. It is apparent that he
submitted a timebook for a fortnight at a time, writing it up at the end of each fortnight. The
timebooks for October 2010 and until 22 November 2010 show that he worked to a regular
pattern. On Mondays, Wednesdays and Fridays, he arrived at the school at 12 noon and left at
6pm, at the end of the OSHC service. On Tuesdays and Thursdays, he arrived at 7am and left
at 10am. There are no timesheets for the fortnight commencing 22 November 2010. The
evidence suggests that X adhered to the pattern of hours he worked earlier in October and
November 2010. There is clear evidence that X was working in the OSHC service on the
afternoon of Wednesday, 1 December 2010. Given his pattern of working, it is reasonable to
infer that X was present at the school on Thursday, 2 December 2010 from 7 o’clock until at
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least 10 o’clock that morning. However, in the absence of the roster, it is not possible to
make a positive finding that he was working in the OSHC service that morning.

X is Arrested

248. Det. Sgt. Clark and Senior Constable Kelly (“S/C Kelly”) met the victim and her
mother at 9.30 that morning. They began to interview the victim at about 10 o’clock. The
interview ended at little after 11 o’clock. Det. Sgt. Clark and S/C Kelly returned to Port
Adelaide Police Station. They decided to go to the school and arrest X. They briefed three
other police officers and allocated tasks for a search of the crime scene and for the arrest.

249. At about 12.50pm, those five police officers went to the metropolitan school. Det.
Sgt. Clark asked to see Ms Gale. Ms Gale was then interviewing the applicants for the
position of canteen manager. Ms Gale left the interview room and spoke to Det. Sgt. Clark.
He informed her of the allegations against X and stated that he wished to arrest X and search
the school. Det. Sgt. Clark also informed Ms Gale that she would need to send a letter to
parents notifying them that an incident had occurred but said that the letter would have to be
“generalised”, to use his word. Ms Gale took the police officers to X who was arrested
shortly after 1 o’clock. Police then searched the crime scene. Later in the afternoon X was
charged and released on bail. The relevant conditions of his bail form were as follows:

. Not to attend at the metropolitan school.

. Not to approach or to communicate either directly or indirectly with the victim.

. Not to contact any staff or student of the metropolitan school or OSHC with the
exception of complying with his obligations under an ANCOR notice.

. Not to be within 50 metres of any school, play group, kindergarten, child care
centre, play ground.

. Not to have any unsupervised contact with any child of or under the age of 17
years.

. Not to attend any children’s sports or any facility where children’s sport is
played.

X was also served with a notice under Section 66 of the Child Sex Offenders Registration Act
requiring him to notify his employer within seven days of the nature of the charges against
him. That is the notice called “ANCOR Notice” in the conditions of bail.

Ms Gale Reports the Arrest

250.  After the police had arrested X, Ms Gale telephoned Mr Lamb and informed him of
the arrest. She asked for his assistance in communicating with parents and the staff at the
school. Mr Lamb arranged a telephone conference call to discuss those questions. The call
was to be at 3 o’clock that afternoon. | find that the participants were to be Ms Gale, Mr
Petherick, two officers in the Legislation and Legal Services Unit of the Department (“the
Legal Unit”) and Ms Julie Thorn from the Licensing and Standards Unit of the Department.

251. Soon after X had been arrested, Ms Gale telephoned Mr Petherick, the Assistant
Regional Director for the Western Area Region. Mr Petherick then telephoned Mr David
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Wouttke, the Manager of the School Care Unit, and informed him that X had been arrested.
Mr Petherick also told Mr Wuttke that the Licensing and Standards Unit and Mr Lamb had
been notified and that Mr Rodney Gracey was drafting a letter to be sent home on 3
December. These findings are based on Mr Wuttke’s notebook. Mr Wuttke died on 28
February 2012. | have relied on his notes. It is clear from the notebook that the notes were
made either in the course of a conversation or very soon after it. | accept them as a reliable
record.

An Important Email

252.  Mr Wauttke then informed Ms Andrews of the arrest of X. Ms Andrews was then the
Deputy Chief Executive, Schools and Children’s Services. She was the person with the
ultimate responsibility for the management of critical incidents at schools. At 2.45 that
afternoon, Ms Andrews sent an email to Mr Simon Blewett, the Chief of Staff to the then
Minister for Education, the Hon. Jay Weatherill MP. She also addressed it to two other
persons. They were Ms Lynne Hare, a Media Liaison Officer in the Department, and Mr
Jadynne Harvey, one of the ministerial advisers to Minister Weatherill.® In addition to
addressing the email to Ms Hare and Messrs Blewett and Harvey, Ms Andrews sent a copy to
Mr Gracey, Mr Wuttke and Ms Emery. In December 2010, Ms Emery was the Director of
the Office of the Chief Executive and Mr DeGennaro was the Acting Chief Executive of the
Department. Ms Emery’s duties were to manage Mr DeGennaro’s office. She was also
responsible for communications between the office of the Chief Executive and the Minister’s
office.

253. The email sent at 2.45pm by Ms Andrews to Mr Blewett and others was in these
terms:

Simon and Lynne hi

Just had a call to say that police last night arrested [an employee of OSHC at the
metropolitan school] for alleged sexual behaviour with children — the regional office and the
school are working on a message to go home today — not much time to do this so we will
need to rely on their on the spot judgement about this.

A number of things might be noticed about the email. First, the email wrongly states that the
employee of OSHC at the metropolitan school had been arrested for *“alleged sexual
behaviour with children”. There was only one victim. Secondly, the email wrongly stated
that a message is “going home today”. It was not intended to inform parents until 3
December. Mr Wuttke was the only person who had on 2 December 2010 spoken to Ms
Andrews concerning the events at the metropolitan school. The notes kept by Mr Wuttke
clearly refer to one child only and expressly state that a letter was being drafted to go home to
parents the next day. Either Ms Andrews did not correctly hear what Mr Wuttke had said to
her or she was quite careless. Ms Andrews cannot explain the two errors in her email. In the
result, the errors are of no consequence. It is also to be noted that neither Mr Gracey nor Mr
Wuttke sent an email correcting the misinformation in Ms Andrew’s email of 2 December.
They both knew the correct position but did not take any step to correct the errors. It is

! From 24 February 2012 until 21 January 2013, Mr Jadynne Harvey was Acting Chief of Staff to the Minister
for Education, the Hon. Grace Portolesi MP.
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curious, to say the least, that Ms Andrews did not address the email to Mr DeGennaro. This
was such a serious matter that, in addition to informing ministerial advisers, Ms Andrews
should also have informed the Acting Chief Executive of the Department.

254.  Neither Mr Blewett nor Mr Jadynne Harvey have any independent recollection of
receiving the email. For reasons explained in the next chapter, | find that neither Mr Blewett
nor Mr Harvey informed their Minister of the contents of the email or referred it to him in any
way. | find also that Mr Weatherill had no knowledge of the email.

A Telephone Conference

255.  The telephone conference call that had been arranged by Mr Lamb to begin at 3pm
proceeded at about that time. The participants in the call were Mr Lamb, Ms Bechara and Ms
Reynolds, Ms Gale, Mr Petherick and Ms Julie Thorn. Ms Reynolds was a Mediation Officer
in the Legal Unit and Ms Bechara was a Senior Project Officer Legislation in the Legal Unit.
Mr Don Mackie, the manager of the Legal Unit, was then on leave. Ms Julie Thorn was from
the Licensing and Standards Unit of the Department.

256. Ms Bechara and Ms Reynolds gave advice to the effect that, as the allegations against
X had not been proved, it was necessary to act so as not to taint the police investigation and so
as not to impair the presumption of innocence in favour of X. They advised the other
participants in the telephone conference that notice should be given to staff, to families and to
the Governing Council of the school that X would not be at the school until further notice and
that arrangements had been put in place for the smooth operation of the OSHC service. The
legal officers also advised that the leadership team at the school and the school counsellor
should be given more information so that they could respond appropriately to questions either
from the school community or from individual children. If parents or children came forward
with information about the alleged incident or related matters, they should be referred to the
police. In this conference call, the participants agreed upon a course of action. The relevant
steps were as follows:

1. Mr Petherick and Ms Gale were to contact the Human Resources Unit in
respect of such matters relating to the employment of X as whether he should
be stood down without pay and his entitlements.

2. If any parent or child came forward with information about the alleged incident
or related matters, they should be referred to the police.

3. Ms Gale was to contact Ms Bechara and Ms Reynolds should she have any
further questions or concerns.

4. Mr Lamb was to contact Ms Gale in respect of arrangements for the
continuation of the OSHC service during the vacation.

The advice that notice should be given to staff, to families and the Governing Council did not
distinguish between parents of children who participated in the OSHC service and parents in
the general school community. In the result, notice was only given to the former group. The
advice that the notice to parents should state that X would not be at the school until further
notice was to result in misleading advice to those parents.
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A Draft Letter

257. Mr Gracey was preparing the draft letter to be sent to parents. At 3.50pm on 2
December he sent the draft to Mr Petherick by email. Mr Petherick immediately sent it by
email at 3.52pm to Ms Gale. Ms Gale did not then act on the draft letter. In the afternoon of
2 December, her attention as principal was mainly focussed on the arrangements for the end
of year school concert. The concert was to begin at 7pm but there were also to be musical
items beginning at 6pm. In addition, she had to make arrangements with one of her deputy
principals to replace X who was to have been on duty in the school canteen that night.
Although she was busy with the school concert, Ms Gale did send an email to Ms Reynolds at
8.28pm on 2 December. That email attached the draft letter prepared by Mr Gracey.

X Contacts Ms Gale

258. At about 9 o’clock that evening, while Ms Gale and other members of the school staff
were packing up after the school concert, Ms Elise Hutton, one of the two deputy principals of
the school, told Ms Gale that there were two missed calls from X on her mobile telephone.
Ms Hutton was the person at the school to whom X was required to report concerning the
management of the OSHC service. Ms Gale instructed Ms Hutton not to respond to the calls.
Shortly after, X called Ms Gale on her mobile telephone. Ms Gale put the call on the loud
speaker function and told X that she and other staff could not speak to him. X told her that he
was required to tell her that he would not be returning to work. In this respect, he was
complying with his obligation to inform his employer that he had been charged. X then
protested his innocence. Ms Gale ended the call.

259. Ms Gale was aware that she was obliged to notify the Child Abuse Report Line
(*CARL") of the allegations against X. However, because of the pressure of events on 2
December, she did not do so. | comment on this in paragraph 283 below.

The Morning of 3 December

260. At about 8.30am on Friday, 3 December 2010, Mr Petherick came to the school and
met the school’s leadership team. They were Ms Gale, Ms Hill and Ms Hutton, the two
deputy principals, and Ms Windsor. Ms Windsor was and is still the school counsellor. They
discussed what needed to be done to manage the incident.

261. Ms Gale also spoke that morning to Ms Reynolds in the Legal Unit about the terms of
the draft letter sent by Mr Gracey. Ms Reynolds suggested some changes. Ms Reynolds also
spoke to Mr Petherick. In the course of this telephone conversation, Ms Reynolds repeated
the advice as to what parents should be told and said that the leadership team at the school
could be informed of the allegations in case parents came forward with relevant information.
Ms Reynolds instructed Ms Gale that she could inform staff that a police investigation
concerning X had begun on 2 December and that X had taken leave from his duties until
further notice. She repeated that, as X was not permitted to be on the school grounds, Ms
Gale was to be informed immediately should he come to the school so that she could call
police. Ms Reynolds did not then know the conditions of bail that had been imposed on X.
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262. At 10.48 that morning, Ms Reynolds sent Ms Gale a new draft of the letter to parents.
It was in different terms from Mr Gracey’s draft. However, neither letter stated why X was
on leave.

Limited Information to Staff

263. Ms Gale addressed the school staff at the morning recess time on 3 December. She
informed them that X was the subject of an investigation by police and that he had taken
leave. However, she did not state that X had been arrested. Nor did she specify the nature of
the offending. She also informed the staff that X was no longer allowed either to be on the
school grounds or to communicate with anyone in the school community. She asked that, if
any member of the school saw X on the school grounds, they should let her know
immediately so that she could contact police. Mr Petherick also addressed the staff meeting.
He has no recollection of what he said to them. The only members of the school staff who
knew why X had been arrested were the school leadership team. The other members of the
school staff, therefore, received very limited information.

Police Call Mr Thredgold

264. In December 2010 Mr Andrew Thredgold was an investigator in the Special
Investigations Unit of the Department. At 10.20am on 3 December he received a call from
S/C Kelly. She informed him that X had been arrested and charged. She said that she would
send an email with details of the charges. S/C Kelly was following the practice by which
police inform the Department of allegations against teachers and other employees at schools.
Despite the fact that Ms Stojanovich had been told by Ms Gale of the allegations against X,
this was the first knowledge that Mr Thredgold had of the fact that X had been arrested. That
is but one instance of several where there was inadequate communication between officers of
the Department.

265. At 10.30am, immediately after receiving that call from S/C Kelly, Mr Thredgold
telephoned Mr Lamb and reported what he had been told. Mr Thredgold then telephoned Ms
Gale at 10.40am and asked what had occurred. She told him that X had been arrested and
released on bail and that X had contacted her and told her the terms of his bail conditions. Mr
Thredgold told Ms Gale that a letter needed to be sent to X removing him from the school
pending a formal letter from the Chief Executive. Mr Thredgold drafted a form of letter to be
sent to X. He sent it by email to Ms Gale at 12.46pm.

266. At 12.19pm, Mr Thredgold sent an email to five persons with a copy to the Manager
of the Special Investigations Unit, Mr Kelsey. The five addressees were Mr Gino
DeGennaro, Ms Julieann Riedstra, Mr Phil O’Loughlin, Ms Mardi Barry and Ms Tassi
Georgiadis. In December 2010, Mr DeGennaro was Acting Chief Executive of the
Department, Ms Riedstra was Acting Deputy Chief Executive Resources, Mr O’Loughlin was
Executive Director Human Resources and Workforce Development and Ms Georgiadis and
Ms Barry were officers in the Human Resources Unit. In that email Mr Thredgold told them
that he had received a call from police informing him that X had been arrested and charged
with rape. After noting the two positions in which X was employed at the metropolitan
school, he stated that he was working with Ms Gale on a letter to be sent to X directing him
not to return to the school and not to contact potential witnesses. He added that the police
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officer was preparing a more detailed briefing for him and that he would send it to the Chief
Executive when he received it. It is curious to say the least that Mr Thredgold did not address
that email to any of the senior members in the School Care Unit, Mr Radloff, Mr Wuttke or
Ms Kibble.

Police Send Email to Mr Thredgold

267. At 1.40pm S/C Kelly sent Mr Thredgold a long email in which she set out how the
allegations had been made to police, gave a short summary of the interview with the victim,
mentioned the arrest of X, gave a short summary of the police interview with X, and stated
that he had been released on bail. She did not set out the conditions of bail but stated that
there were conditions which prevented X from attending the metropolitan school or
contacting any teacher or student. In that email S/C Kelly also stated that X had been issued
with a notice under Section 66 of the Child Sex Offenders Registration Act that compelled
him to notify his employer within 7 days of the nature of the charges against him. X had
complied with that notice when he had called Ms Gale on the evening of 2 December.

268. The email contained nothing that in any way suggested that parents could not be
informed about the arrest of X. S/C Kelly’s email concluded with a comment that was critical
of Ms Gale. It read:

It is Police opinion, that Principal GALE (sic) did not deal with this matter, with the
appropriate amount of urgency in line with her duty of care. Police are concerned that she
did not take any positive action to ensure the safety of other students, and potentially put
them at risk on the morning of 2/12/10. If she responded in any manner to the situation, then
the nature of this response was not relayed to Police.

For the reasons that follow, while the conduct of Ms Gale might be open to criticism, there
are questions also whether police should not have taken more positive action to ensure the
safety of students using the OSHC service on the morning of 2 December.

269. It is appropriate to comment on the conduct of both Ms Gale and Det. Sgt. Rowe. |
have found that Det. Sgt. Rowe did not suggest to Ms Gale that she should have taken action
to prevent X from attending the OSHC service on the morning of 2 December 2010.
Nevertheless, Ms Gale had a duty of care towards the children who were to attend the OSHC
service that morning. There is a real question whether she ought to have realised that there
was a risk that X might offend against other children. If so, she ought to have taken steps to
arrange for another person, either herself or a teacher or another member of the OSHC staff,
to be present at the school that morning so as to prevent the risk of further offending by
simply being present with X. As she lived a long way from the school and as the OSHC
service began at 7.15am, it was probably more suitable for her to arrange for another person
to be present. If she was unsure what to do, she should have rung her Regional Director or
Assistant Regional Director.

270.  The victim’s mother had informed Det. Sgt. Rowe of what her daughter had said in a
manner described by him as calm and matter of fact. The information given to Det. Sgt.
Rowe by the victim’s mother was sufficient for him to form a reasonable suspicion that a very
serious sexual assault had occurred. He had told Ms Gale that X was suspected of committing
a serious sexual assault. If, contrary to my findings, he did say to Ms Gale that it would be
best if X was prevented from starting work that day, he was expressing a concern that X
might re-offend. Section 75 of the Summary Offences Act authorises a police officer to arrest
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any person whom a police officer has reasonable cause to suspect has committed or is about
to commit an offence. The reasonable suspicion can be formed on the basis of information
received from other persons.” In the course of consultations during this Inquiry, senior
officers of SA Police have firmly expressed the view that nothing should be done by staff of
the Department that might jeopardise a police investigation. Those officers also stated that if
information has come to the attention of the principal of a school that suggests illegal conduct,
the principal should not take any action but should immediately inform police and let police
take whatever action is necessary. In addition, a principal should not do anything to alert the
offender. In his conversation with Ms Gale, Det. Sgt. Rowe was giving information to a
principal of allegations of a serious sexual assault. If Det. Sgt. Rowe had a concern that X
might re-offend, the question is whether the police, not the principal, should have taken steps
to prevent the risk of re-offending.

271.  There is no evidence that X did commit any offence on the morning of 2 December
2010. There is no positive evidence that he was in fact on duty in the OSHC service that
morning. Even if Ms Gale or Det. Sgt. Rowe did not know whether he was on duty, steps
should have been taken at least to see that another person was present that morning in case he
was in fact on duty. The Terms of Reference preclude a determination whether Ms Gale or
Det. Sgt. Rowe failed in the exercise of their respective duties of care. This was a case where
the two agencies, the Department and SA Police, should have acted together. There ought to
have been greater communication and co-operation between police and the Department to
manage the matter in the best manner possible to protect the children who might have been at
risk that morning. In all circumstances, there are real questions whether both the Department
and SA Police took adequate steps to prevent any risk of re-offending.

Two Letters Sent

272. Ms Gale adopted Mr Thredgold’s draft of the letter to be sent to X. She sent the letter
on 3 December. It was in these terms:

I am advised that you have been charged by South Australia Police with serious sexual
offences involving a child.

I direct that until further notice, you are not to attend for duty at [the metropolitan school] in
any capacity. | also direct that you do not contact or communicate with, in any way, any
potential witnesses, including staff, in this matter. Should you contravene my directions you
may be liable for disciplinary action.

My direction has been made in the best interests of all concerned and does not imply that a
judgement has been made of you.

I understand that in due course you will receive formal notification from the Chief Executive
in regards to your employment with the Department of Education and Children’s Services.

If have (sic) any personal belongings on site, please inform me via email or text message and
I will have them delivered to you.

At 2 o’clock that afternoon, Mr Thredgold sent an email to S/C Kelly informing her that the
letter had been sent to X and summarised its contents.

% Feldman v Buck [1966] SASR 236; Haifwa v Police [2000] SASC 19, [17] - [21].
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273.  Later that day, Ms Gale caused a letter to parents of the children in the OSHC service
to be sent home with those children. The letter was in these terms:
Dear Families

I am writing to inform you that [an employee] of the Out of School Hours Care program is
currently on leave until further notice.

The OSHC program will continue to operate as per usual and steps are in place to help
ensure that the program Vacation Care continues with as little disruption as possible.

Please contact me if you have any questions in relation to the arrangements for the
continuation of the OSHC and Vacation Care Service.

In Chapter 8 of this report, the inadequacies of this letter are examined. For the moment, it is
sufficient to note that it was a misleading letter giving entirely inadequate reasons for the
absence of X.

274.  Soon after 2 o’clock on 3 December, Mr Thredgold had a meeting with Ms Janne
Todd, the Manager of Standards & Investigations. They agreed that they should work
together to prepare a briefing paper to Mr DeGennaro.

275. | list the key events from Wednesday, 1 December to Friday, 3 December.

Wednesday, 1 December

. At about 9pm, the victim’s mother reported to police the allegations of the
sexual assault of her daughter by X.

. Later that evening Ms Gale was informed of the allegations.
. S/C McFarlane notified CARL at about 11.45pm.
Thursday, 2 December

. Shortly after 1pm, Police arrested X. After he had been charged, X was
released on bail.

. Ms Gale informed the Special Investigations Unit of the allegations and later
informed the Legal Unit as well as the Assistant Regional Director,
Mr Petherick, of the arrest of X.

o Mr Petherick had informed Mr Wuttke of the arrest of X and Mr Wuttke had
told Ms Andrews.

. At 2.45pm Ms Andrews sent an email to Mr Blewett and Mr Harvey and others
informing them an employee of the OSHC service had been arrested and that a
message was going home that day.

. Neither Mr Blewett nor Mr Harvey informed their Minister, Mr Weatherill, of
the facts stated in the email from Ms Andrews. Mr Weatherill was, therefore,
entirely unaware that X had been arrested and charged with a sexual offence.

Friday, 3 December

. Police provided the Department with full details of the charges and allegations
against X in the email sent by S/C Kelly.

. Ms Gale sent a letter to parents of children in the OSHC service.

. Ms Gale sent a letter to X requiring him to remain away from the school.
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Three matters are worthy of comment. First, notwithstanding the importance of Ms Andrew’s
email on 2 December, neither Mr Blewett nor Mr Jadynne Harvey informed Minister
Weatherill of its contents. In addition, as will be seen, the Department did not give the
Minister any further briefing on the matter. Secondly, the letter sent home by Ms Gale was
sent only to parents who had children in the OSHC service. Thirdly, the letter that was sent to
the parents of children in the OSHC service did not in any sense disclose why X was on leave.
Although the letter did not name X, parents would have been in no doubt as to whom the
letter referred. However, the letter is utterly silent as to why X was on leave. The letter was
in fact capable of conveying the wrong impression to parents since X had been absent on sick
leave earlier in 2010. Many parents might well have believed and, in all probability did
believe, that X was again on sick leave.

276. The Department had, however, taken all reasonable steps to ensure that X did not
come again to the school. In addition, it was aware that the terms of bail prevented X from
attending the school or contacting any teacher or student. In the result, the Department had
done all that could reasonably be done to keep X away from the school and to prevent him
from communicating with teachers or to prevent him with coming into contact with students.
However, it had done nothing to inform parents of the fact of his offending or the nature of
his offending.

The Events of 6 December

277.  Nothing occurred on the weekend of 4 and 5 December 2010. Mr Thredgold and Ms
Todd had started to prepare the briefing for Mr DeGennaro on 3 December and completed it
on 6 December. It was signed by Mr Kelsey on 6 December. The minute outlined the events
that had occurred and made five recommendations concerning his service as a Schools
Services Officer. They were

1. That the Chief Executive notes the contents of this briefing.

2. That the Chief Executive place X on Special Leave With Pay until his current contact
on 12 December 2010 expires and direct that no further contracts be offered to X until
the matter is resolved.

3. That the Chief Executive directs X not to attend any Department of Education and
Children’s Services (DECS) sites until further notice.

4, That the Chief Executive directs X not to contact or communicate in any way with
DECS students until further notice.

5. That the Chief Executive signs the attached letter informing X of his directions, and
return the signed letter to the Special Investigations Unit for posting.

All five recommendations were approved by Mr DeGennaro as Acting Chief Executive.
There was clearly no sense of urgency in the Department. Although Mr Thredgold had
prepared the minute on 6 December and it was signed on the same day by Mr Kelsey, the then
Manager of the Special Investigations Unit, it was not approved by Mr DeGennaro until 14
December 2010. It was endorsed by Ms Georgiadis on 7 December but not endorsed by Mr
O’Loughlin until 12 December. It was then endorsed by Ms Reidstra on 13 December before
Mr DeGennaro approved it on 14 December.

278. It is unnecessary to set out the terms of the letter to X. It stated the allegations against
him and noted the terms on which he was employed. In respect of his employment as a
School Services Officer, X was informed that he had been placed on special leave with pay
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until the expiry of his contract on 12 December and thereafter no further contract would be
offered to him. The letter directed X not to attend any school sites or communicate with any
students until further notice. As X was employed by the Governing Council, the Department
could not terminate his employment.

279.  While the briefing note is to be commended for its attention to the question of keeping
X away from the metropolitan school and other schools, the briefing note is more remarkable
for what it does not state. Nowhere is there any reference to the letter sent on 3 December to
the parents of children in the OSHC service. Nowhere is there any discussion of the question
whether a letter should be sent to parents of all children at the school. Mr Thredgold’s
explanation for the failure to deal with these issues was that they were matters outside his area
of responsibility and the question whether a letter should be sent was a matter for the School
Care Unit to address. However, Mr Thredgold did not include the School Care Unit in his
briefing.

280. Late in the afternoon of 6 December, Ms Gale spoke to the OSHC staff. She informed
them that X was on leave but said that she could say no more to them because to use her
words “it was a police matter”. She said that any concerned parents or members of staff
should contact her. She informed them that she was making arrangements to replace X. X
was ultimately replaced.

Police Make Further Inquiries

281.  On the afternoon of 7 December, Det. Sgt. Clark and S/C Kelly and one other police
officer went to the metropolitan school to pursue their inquiries. They asked Ms Gale for
personal particulars of staff members and potential witnesses. In the course of their
conversation with Ms Gale, they asked if a letter had been sent to parents. She replied that a
letter had been sent and stated its terms. She handed a copy of the letter to S/C Kelly. Det.
Sgt. Clark said to Ms Gale that, if any further victims or witnesses came forward in response
to the letter, she should contact police. Det. Sgt. Clark also asked Ms Gale if she had notified
CARL. She said that she had not and he cautioned her with respect to her duty to do so.

Ms Gale Notifies CARL

282.  Ms Gale notified CARL at about 5 o’clock on the afternoon of 7 December 2010. She
also called CARL on 8 December to confirm that her call on 7 December had been noted.
Her evidence was that she had attempted to call CARL on the afternoon of 3 December but
had hung up, after waiting for a long time without being answered. Families SA, a division of
the Department for Education, keeps records of all calls made to CARL. That record notes,
among other things, the time of the call and the number of the caller. It also records the
telephone numbers of those callers who hang up before the call is answered. Families SA has
checked its records and states that there is no record of a call from Ms Gale’s telephone
number on 3 December or at any time other than on 7 and 8 December. | have caused one of
my legal officers to check the records and | have checked them myself. It is clear that Ms
Gale did not call at any time other than 7 and 8 December. When confronted with these facts,
Ms Gale said that her recollection may have been at fault. | find that Ms Gale did not ring
CARL until about 5pm on 7 December 2010.
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283.  Although it is possible to criticise Ms Gale for failing to notify CARL earlier than 7
December, her failure to do so must be put in context. Her only knowledge of the allegations
against X was what she had been told by police. There was, therefore, nothing new that she
could tell CARL. In addition, the purpose of notifying CARL is so that police can be
contacted to investigate the allegations. Police were already investigating the allegations.
Thus, no purpose was to be served by Ms Gale giving notice to CARL. Her failure to notify
CARL earlier than 7 December could not have impeded the police investigation in any way.
Although she failed to notify CARL promptly, her conduct can be excused. In Chapter 15 of
in this report, | recommend that a teacher should be relieved of the obligation to notify CARL
if that teacher is aware that police have already done so.

Ms Gale Obtains Further Advice

284. Ms Gale had also been meeting Mr Petherick and Ms Larkin, the chairperson of the
Governing Council of the school, to plan the calling of an extraordinary general meeting of
the Governing Council. The purpose of the meeting was to inform the Governing Council of
the arrest of X and to ask the Council to delegate to Ms Larkin and Ms Gale power to dismiss
X and operate the OSHC service during the school vacation. The school year was to end on
10 December. They were concerned, therefore, that there would not be sufficient time to
attend to all of the steps necessary to dismiss X before the end of the year. As it would be
very difficult to convene meetings of the Governing Council during the school vacation, they
sought the delegation of power. They decided to call the meeting on the evening of Thursday,
9 December.

285.  On 7 December, Ms Gale had consulted Ms Mardi Barry, an officer in the Human
Resources Unit, about sending a second letter to X concerning his employment. On 8
December, Ms Barry sent an email to Ms Gale with a draft letter to be sent to X. In that email
she also gave Ms Gale advice on how to conduct the extraordinary general meeting of the
Governing Council and what to say at that meeting. Her advice included the following
statement:

Please note there is a current police suppression order on the identity of the person and
details of the matter. Accordingly you are unable to provide much detail, other than, as
employers, what they need to know. In addition, you are unable to provide any information
to parents using OSHC. This is a matter for the police at present. NB Also wellbeing of
child, reputation of school etc.

Ms Barry cannot recollect who gave her the information that caused her to say that a police
suppression order was in place. She first thought it was Mr Thredgold, then thought it was
Mr Kelsey. They were both officers in the Special Investigations Unit.

286. Ms Gale adopted the draft letter sent by Ms Barry in the email of 8 December and sent
it to X that day. The letter was in these terms:

I am writing to you on behalf of the [metropolitan school], in relation to your position [at]
Out of School Hours Care (OSHC) at the [metropolitan school].

I am advised that you have been charged with serious sexual offences involving a child.
Further to my previous letter to you dated 3/12/2010, | am also advised that your bail
conditions preclude you from attending the school site, or contacting any teacher or student.
Given you are unable to meet the terms and conditions of your employment contract, from
the date of this letter you will be placed on leave without pay from your position [at the]
OSHC at the [metropolitan school] until further notice.
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Please note that | intend to refer the matter of your ongoing employment [at] OSHC to the
Governing Council for their confidential consideration.  You will receive further
communication from me in relation to this matter in due course.

At 5.07pm that day Ms Gale sent an email to Mr Petherick, stating that she had sent the letter
to X. In that email she also sent him a copy of the letter to X dated 3 December. At 5.08pm
she sent another email to Mr Petherick, attaching a copy of the email from Ms Barry sent on 8
December with the draft letter to X and the advice concerning the conduct of the
extraordinary general meeting of Governing Council to be held on 9 December.

287.  Earlier on the afternoon of 8 December Mr Thredgold had a telephone conversation
with S/C Kelly in which he asked for a copy of the conditions of bail. Mr Thredgold’s note of
that conversation includes this statement:

Kelly confirmed that there is an automatic suppression in place due to the nature of the
charges.

The conversation occurred at about 3.05pm. Given the time of that conversation, it could not
have been the source of the advice expressed in Ms Barry’s email sent to Ms Gale earlier that
day at 1.29pm. Mr Thredgold’s note did not accurately represent the facts. There was no
suppression order. What was in place was the restriction on the publication of anything that
might identify both the person accused of a sexual offence and the alleged victim, a restriction
that automatically came into effect by reason of the provisions of section 71A of the Evidence
Act. The restrictions on publication of section 71A have the same effect as a suppression
order but, generally speaking, the operation of section 71A(2) prohibiting the publication of
the name of the accused person is of shorter duration than a suppression order and, in any
event, permits publication of the name of the accused person when that person has been
committed for trial or sentence.

288.  Any questions as to how Ms Barry came to believe that there was, to use her words, “a
current police suppression order on the identity of the person and the details of the matter” are
unimportant. What is of significance is that she like Mr Thredgold believed that there was a
form of suppression order in place. That belief obviously permeated among other officers in
the Department involved in the matter and it became a general Departmental belief that a
suppression order had been imposed by police.

The Events of 9 December

289. On 9 December at 7.54am S/C Kelly sent an email to Mr Thredgold setting out the
conditions on which X had been released on bail. This was the first occasion on which the
Department learned of all of the conditions of bail. It is both an indication of a lack of any
sense of urgency on the part of the Department as well as an indication of the lack of adequate
knowledge as to how to act when dealing with serious matters such as sexual offending
against a child at a school.

290.  On the morning of 9 December the fortnightly meeting of the Complaints Assessment
Panel was held. The Complaints Assessment Panel had been established to examine critical
incidents at schools and to co-ordinate the Department’s response. Those present at the
meeting were Mr Kelsey, Ms Barry, Mr DeGennaro, Ms Feltraco, Ms Georgiadis, Mr
O’Loughlin, Mr Radloff, Ms Riedstra and Ms Williams. The first item on the agenda
concerned X. The agenda paper briefly noted that X had been arrested and charged with rape
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and aggravated unlawful sexual intercourse with a child under 12 years and that his bail
conditions required that he not attend the school or communicate with staff or students. It
noted that Ms Gale had written directing him not to attend the school. It referred to the
briefing paper prepared by Mr Thredgold in the Special Investigations Unit on 6 December.
The meeting resolved that the Regional Director, Mr Brendyn Semmens, should offer
counselling and support to the victim and the family of the victim.

291. The meeting did not discuss whether a letter should be sent to all parents of the
students of the school. That is curious to say the least, given that the agenda for that meeting
included two items concerning a Mr O’Dea, a teacher at another primary school who had been
charged with possessing child pornography. In that matter the Crown Solicitor had, as
recently as 30 September 2010, given clear advice in writing that a letter should be sent to
parents of children at that school informing them that Mr O’Dea had been charged with
possessing child pornography. The Crown Solicitor had drafted the letter to be sent. In the
letter of advice, the Crown Solicitor had firmly expressed reasons why a letter should be sent
to parents, stating:

I do not believe | can present the issues to DECS any more forcefully than | did previously,
namely: If you were a parent of any of the relevant children, would you not want to know?
Also, it is far better they hear from DECS than through the media. If, per chance, Mr O’Dea
has committed any offence towards or involving any child in DECS’ care, it is moving to
limit any risk to it and Government. Worse than that, if parents are not advised and Mr
O’Dea commits any offence towards or involving any child in DECS’ care and knowing
what it knows, DECS did not advise parents, the risk to it and Government are obviously
seriously exacerbated.

I will return to this letter of advice in Chapter 8.

The Governing Council Meets

292.  The extraordinary general meeting of the Governing Council of the school was held at
6pm on the evening of 9 December. Ms Gale told the meeting that X had been arrested and
charged with a serious offence of a sexual nature against a child at the school. She did not
give any further particulars of the offending. She said that a suppression order existed so that
the matter could not be discussed. She also informed the meeting that X was on bail and that
the conditions of bail were that he should not attend the school or contact any student or
member of the staff of the school. She asked the meeting to delegate to her and Ms Larkin
power to take all necessary steps in relation to the dismissal of X and the conduct of the
OSHC service during the vacation. The delegation of powers was to end on 25 January 2011.

293. It is clear from the evidence that those present at the meeting were both amazed and
upset by the news of the arrest of X. Some members of Governing Council were on quite
friendly terms with him. The meeting discussed the question whether parents should be
informed. They were told that, as a suppression order had been made, parents would not be
given any information other than the letter dated 3 December 2010 stating that X was on leave
until further notice. Discussion ranged over a number of issues including the risk to the
children at the school and how to manage that risk, the consequences should X be acquitted,
the duty of care to the children and school community, and the presumption of innocence. Mr
Petherick instructed the members of Governing Council that, because of the suppression
order, they were bound not to disclose anything concerning X and, if they were asked about
him, they should respond, “I am not able to comment at this time.” The meeting resolved to
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delegate to Ms Gale and Ms Larkin the power to make all necessary decisions concerning the
management of the OSHC service until 25 January 2011. Among other issues discussed was
the provision of counselling. Mr Petherick stated that he had social workers available and that
the school counsellor would also be involved in providing counselling.

294. It is quite apparent from the evidence and from the minutes of the meeting that there
was again a significant degree of misunderstanding concerning what was believed to be a
suppression order and what parents could or could not be told. Quite properly, the meeting
was alert to the presumption of innocence and was concerned at the obligations of Governing
Council should the charges against X be withdrawn or he was found to be not guilty.

X Resigns

295. On Friday, 10 December, Ms Barry prepared another letter to be sent to X. The letter
was sent on Monday, 13 December. It was signed by both Ms Larkin as chairperson of the
Governing Council and Ms Gale. The letter was in these terms:

CONFIDENTIAL

We are writing to you on behalf of the [metropolitan school] Governing Council in relation
to our concerns about your capacity and suitability to continue in your position [at] Out of
School Hours Care at the [metropolitan school].

On 2 December 2010 you were charged by SAPOL with rape and aggravated unlawful
sexual intercourse. The alleged conduct occurred during the course of your duties [at] OSHC
and involved a Year 2 female student. Further, we understand that you have been placed on
bail conditions that currently preclude you from attending the school or from contacting any
teacher or student (with the exception of specific reporting obligations held by you).

Given your bail conditions it is apparent that you are unable to fulfil the requirements of your
position [at] OSHC. Furthermore, very serious criminal charges have been laid against you
(sic) The fact of these charges suggest that your continuing role [at] OSHC represents an
unreasonable risk to the safety and wellbeing of children in your care and to the reputation of
the OSHC service at the [metropolitan school]. Please note that we do not seek to draw any
conclusions about the truth or otherwise of the charges and do not seek any information in
this regard. That is a matter for SAPOL and the courts.

Given the circumstances we are proposing to terminate your position [at] OSHC at the
[metropolitan school]. Before any such determination is made, we invite you to make a
written submission on this matter. Any such submission should be provided within 7 days of
the date of this letter. We will then consider your submission and make a final decision.
Should you not provide a submission we will determine the matter on the information before
us.

It will be recalled that on 16 December a letter signed by Mr DeGennaro as Acting Chief
Executive had also been sent to X. X, therefore, received four letters, three from the school
and one from the Department.

296. On or about 17 December, the mother of X telephoned Ms Gale and told her that X
had received the letter dated and sent on 13 December. On his behalf, she asked for a further
seven days in which to respond. After speaking to the Legal Unit, Ms Gale telephoned the
mother of X and agreed that he could have until 24 December in which to respond.

297.  In the week commencing 20 December 2010 Ms Gale sought the advice of Ms Barry
as to how to act should X not resign his post at the OSHC service. Ms Barry drafted a letter
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for her. It was not necessary to send the letter because X resigned by letter dated 23
December 2010. A letter signed by Ms Gale and Ms Larkin accepting the resignation was not
sent until 20 January 2011.

The Events of January 2011

298. On 4 January 2011 Ms Gale spoke at a meeting of the staff of the OSHC service. The
meeting was held at 6pm. She informed the staff that X had resigned and reminded them of
telephone numbers to use should they or any parents seek counselling. She asked them to
contact her or Ms Hutton, a deputy principal at the school, should they wish to discuss
anything about X. She also informed them that another person had been appointed to replace
X.

299.  The first court appearance of X was in the Magistrates Court at Port Adelaide on 19
January 2011. The Court fixed dates for the conduct of the preliminary examination. X was
committed for trial on 15 June 2011. He entered a plea of guilty in the District Court on 29
August 2011.

300. In 2011 little occurred in the Department in respect of X. It is clear that no one in the
Department made any attempt to ascertain any information as to how the prosecution of the
charges against X was proceeding. No one in the Department knew that X had pleaded guilty
on 29 August 2011. That was an important date since it established that X was guilty of the
alleged offending.

301. The Complaints Assessment Panel met on 13 January 2011. The agenda item
concerning X was concerned only with the termination of his employment. The agenda item
read:

A letter forwarded to X on 15/12/10, and received by him confirmed his Special Leave with
Pay until the completion of his contract (on 12 Dec 2010). He was advised he would be
offered no further contract. [His] position as OHSC (sic) is being managed by HR.

The agenda of the meeting of the Complaints Assessment Panel on 10 February 2011 records
that Mr Semmens had on 28 January 2011 offered counselling to the parents of the victim but
they had declined the offer. The Complaints Assessment Panel took no further action in
relation to X in either 2011 or 2012. It did not manage the matter and, in this respect, it
entirely failed to fulfil its function of co-ordinating the management of critical incidents.

302. On 19 January 2011 Ms Gale sent an email to members of the Governing Council
informing them of events since the meeting on 9 December 2010. The relevant part of the
email stated:

HIGHLY CONFIDENTIAL
Dear Governing Councillors

When 1 last wrote to you all via email, | said | was sending a letter to X advising him that
since we had not heard form (sic) him within the given timeline, his tenure [at] OSHC would
be terminated. Jacqui and | had signed the letter and it was sealed in an envelope and ready
for posting. Then a phone call came from his mother who rang to say X was responding and
a letter would arrive at the school within a couple of days. His mother said he only received
the letter from Jacqui and myself on 17 December and therefore still had seven days to
respond. After consulting with DECS, | did not send the letter. X had to be afforded the
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opportunity to respond and for the response to be duly considered. X did respond with a
letter dated 23 December and said that he resigned from the position [at] OSHC effective
from 23" December.

After further consultation with DECS, the Governing Council Chair and | have
acknowledged his letter, and accepted, his resignation.

I ask that the details of this matter be kept confidential. It will be a matter of public record
that X has resigned. No further information need be related to persons outside of the
Governing Council.

The members of Governing Council were being asked in the clearest terms not to discuss the
matter with any person not a member of Governing Council.

Ms Oshinsky Becomes Principal

303. Ms Gale’s appointment as principal of [the metropolitan school] ended on 26 January
2011. She was replaced by Ms Tanya Oshinsky. Ms Oshinsky had had what she called *“a
handover meeting” with Ms Gale late in November 2010 before X had been arrested. Ms
Barry gave evidence that she had informed Ms Oshinsky about X and told her that the school
community were not to be informed. Ms Oshinsky cannot remember that conversation. Ms
Oshinsky’s evidence was that it was Mr Petherick who had informed her about X. | find that
both Mr Petherick and Ms Barry gave her information about X as well as instructions not to
tell the school community about the offending of X.

Three letters in February 2011

304.  Soon after the school year began in 2011, Ms Oshinsky and Ms Thompson, one of the
deputy principals of the school, sent three letters to different sections of the school
community. Each contained a reference to X. The first was a letter dated 7 February 2011 to
parents who had children in the OSHC service. The letter began “X resigned [from] OSHC at
the end of last year”. The letter continued by informing parents that steps were being taken to
appoint a new director in his place. A second letter dated 8 February 2011 was sent to
members of the Governing Council. The letter referred to the resignation of X from the
OSHC service and explained the process being implemented to appoint a replacement. The
third letter was a newsletter to all parents of children at the school dated 11 February 2011.
Under the heading “Staffing Update”, the letter stated that X had resigned from the OSHC
service and that steps were being taken to replace him.

While the members of the governing council were aware that X had been arrested, the general
body of parents were not. Although the letter dated 7 February 2011 and the newsletter dated
11 February 2011 were correct in stating that X had resigned, it did not state the reason for his
resignation. In consequence, both documents repeated the misleading information given to
parents in the letter of 3 December 2010.

Governing Council Meeting in March 2011

305. The first ordinary meeting of the Governing Council for 2011 was held on 21 March.
One of the items of business concerned X. The meeting noted that court proceedings had
begun. Ms Oshinsky reminded the meeting that a suppression order was still in operation.
Other issues relating to X were discussed. They included counselling for children, instructing
children about appropriate behaviour, and counselling for staff. The meeting noted that
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families had been informed that X had left the OSHC service. Nothing was said at the
meeting about informing parents of the arrest of X. The topic of the arrest of X was not
mentioned at any other meeting of the Governing Council in 2011.

X is Sentenced

306. As already mentioned, X had pleaded guilty in the District Court on 29 August 2011.
He was then remanded for sentence. He was sentenced on 9 February 2012 by Judge Griffin
to imprisonment for 6 years. When fixing the non parole period, the Judge had regard to
significant health problems of X and what the Judge regarded as reasonably good prospects
for rehabilitation. He therefore fixed a lower than usual non parole period, a period of two
years. Judge Griffin began his sentencing remarks by recording the plea of guilty of X and
the particulars of his offending. The Judge then said:

I do not intend to name the suburb, the school, or the child in order to protect the identity of
the child and her family. | will refer to her throughout these remarks as ‘the child’, ‘the
victim’ for this reason and | trust that my reference to her in this way is not thought to be
impersonal.

The Judge then continued his sentencing remarks. As will be seen, the meaning and intent of
the passage just quoted and in particular the first sentence were entirely misunderstood by a
number of officers in the Department. No person from the central office of the Department
attended the Court when X was sentenced. However, two members of the school staff were
present to lend support to the victim’s parents. They were Ms Ruth Hill, one of the deputy
principals, and the school’s counsellor, Ms Danielle Windsor.

News Reports of the Sentence

307. A report of the sentencing was broadcast on the ABC radio station 891 twice in the
afternoon of 9 February, in the news bulletins at 3pm and 6pm. Each report named X and
gave a brief statement of the nature of his offending. On 10 February, a report of the sentence
naming X was published on a news web site. There was no report in The Advertiser on 10
February 2012. The sentencing remarks were also available on the website of the District
Court. Although it was not extensive, the reporting of the conviction was sufficient to result
in a number of parents at the school being aware of it.

The Department’s Response to the Sentencing of X

308. On Friday, 10 February 2012 Ms Kibble, an officer in the School Care Unit, began to
organise the Department’s response to the sentencing of X. Her first action was to cause a
press release to be drafted by Ms Dale Webster, a Media Liaison Officer in the Department.
Ms Webster’s first draft was in these terms:

The Department of Education and Child Development has followed all due processes and
worked closely with police in their investigation.

As in all matters involving minors, the confidentiality of the child is the primary concern.
The court very sensibly suppressed the name of the school involved to ensure there was no
way the child could be identified and further traumatised by unwanted attention.

The department is also not prepared to jeopardise this confidentiality by commenting further.

In an email enclosing the draft, Ms Webster told Ms Kibble that she wished to emphasise that
what was at stake was the privacy of the victim.
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309. On Monday, 13 February, Ms Mandy Hay, the acting Media Manager of the
Department, sent an email at 6.22pm to five persons. They included Mr Bartley, the Chief
Executive of the Department, Ms Kibble and Mr Petherick. In that email she informed them
that a suppression order no longer existed in respect to the name of the school. The email
began:

In follow up to the below email a suppression order no longer seems to be in place regarding

the name of the school, however the judge did not name the school involved in his summing

up so it will not be in the transcript which will be available to the media. However this will
not stop the local community identifying the school.

Ms Hay then attached an amended form of press release, suggesting that it might be used by
the school staff. The draft press release was in these terms:

The Department of Education and Child Development has followed all due processes and
worked closely with police in their investigation. As in all matters involving minors, the
confidentiality of the child is the primary concern. The court very sensibly did not refer to
the name of the school during the judge’s remarks as a way of protecting the child’s identity.
The department is not prepared to jeopardise the identity of the child to prevent any further
trauma by unwanted attention.

The main amendment to that press release was the deletion of any suggestion of a suppression
order.

310. In the evening of 13 February, Ms Kibble had a telephone conversation with Ms
Oshinsky. Ms Kibble reported the conversation in an email to the same persons who had
received Ms Hay’s email of 13 February. Ms Kibble’s email was sent at 8.45am on 14
February and was in these terms:

Following on from this | spoke to the principal Tanya Oshinsky last night. We agreed to the
following:

1. A draft letter will be prepared by media saying that the school was aware of the
situation and has assisted police in the investigation. The letter would ask parents to be
mindful of their children and report any issues or concerns to the principal only. It would
ask parents to be respectful of the needs of the family and child involved by not speaking
about the matter, but rather raise their concerns with the principal. (This would be similar to
the one we used at Craigmore when the teacher was arrested which Mandy prepared).

2. The letter would not go out unless the story was released in the media.

3. Tanya will work with front office staff to prepare a standard response if they are
asked.

4. The school will be notified if DECD release a statement.

Tanya said that some members of the community and Governing Council are aware of the
situation while others are not so she did not want to forward a letter unless it became
necessary to do so.

Any comments welcome.

The only comment came from Ms Hay. She circulated an email with the draft of a suggested
letter to be sent to parents by Ms Oshinsky as principal of the school. The draft was in these
terms:

Dear Parent/Caregiver,

As you may be aware a former member of OSHC staff has been convicted of a serious crime.
The school is aware of the situation and has assisted police throughout the investigation. The
staff member was with the school for a short period in 2010 and has not and will not be
engaged by the school or DECD.

You can appreciate that this is a difficult situation and | would ask that you consider the
needs of the family and child involved.
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Arrangements are in place to provide assistance and support to those affected. If you have
any questions concerning individual issues related to your child please discuss them with me
or the police directly.

No one suggested any alteration to the letter. However, the letter was not in fact sent. It
appears that the Department held the view that there was not sufficient media attention to
require the letter to be sent.

311. I note in passing that the proposed letter was vague in its terms and was singularly
uninformative. It did not convey any useful information to parents. It did not state the crime.
The letter incorrectly stated that he had been at the school for only a short period. It did
nothing to alert parents to the possibility that their children might have been victims of the
offending. It was curious also that Ms Kibble decided that the letter should not be sent
“unless the story was released in the media”. The story had already been published in the
media in the news bulletins on ABC radio and was available on a news website. Furthermore,
no consideration was being given to the desirability of informing parents before any further
publicity in the media. More importantly, once X had been convicted and sentenced, there
was no legal impediment to informing parents of that fact. That is apparent from the
examination of section 71A of the Evidence Act in Chapter 2. However, it is clear that no one
in the Department involved in the matter was aware of the provisions of section 71A nor of
the fact that there was no reason in law why parents could not be informed that X had been
convicted and sentenced.

312.  On 20 February 2012, Ms Hay sent Ms Kibble and Ms Jones a copy of the sentencing
remarks of Judge Griffin. Curiously, a copy was not sent to Mr Bartley, the Chief Executive
of the Department, nor to any of the others to whom Ms Hay had addressed her email dated
13 February.

Channel 7 Requests Information

313.  On 24 February Ms Hay sent an email to Mr Bartley and to Mr Costello. She sent a
copy to others including Messrs DeGennaro and Temperly. The email had been prompted by
a request from the TV station Channel 7. The email read:

Channel 7 have contacted the department as they have been approached by parents at the
school involved. We have been asked to confirm the name of the school and if parents were
notified. Below is the proposed response as it stands at the moment however further
approvals are required and | also need to liaise with the police media unit. 1 will send around
a final version of the statement.

Thanks
Mandy

The Department can confirm that a serious incident occurred involving a child in OSCH,
(sic) however is not prepared to jeopardise the identity of the child to prevent any further
trauma by unwanted attention. The Department of Education and Child Development has
followed all due processes and worked closely with police in their investigation. As this was
a Police matter the Department did not want to jeopardise the investigation or pending court
case.

As in all matters involving minors, the confidentiality of the child is the primary concern.
The court very sensibly did not refer to the name of the school during the judge’s remarks as
a way of protecting the child’s identity. The family of the child involved were provided
support at the time of the incident. Parents at the school concerned who have raised concerns
with the principal have been offered social work support and counselling.
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The Department replied to Channel 7 but not in those terms. The response was in these terms:

The Department can confirm that a serious incident occurred involving a child in OSCH
(sic), however as in all matters involving minors, the confidentiality of the child is the
primary concern.

The family of the child involved were provided support and parents at the school concerned
who have raised concerns with the principal have been offered support and counselling.

It will be noticed that, despite Channel 7 asking whether parents had been notified, the
response said nothing about informing parents and the Department did not instruct the
principal of the school to give any information to parents.

Parents Request Information

314. In late February 2012, some parents were asking whether all parents at the school were
to be informed about the offending and what was to be done to support parents and children.
Parents sent emails to, spoke to or left telephone messages with Ms Oshinsky, the school
principal, referring to the report on the news website and asking why parents were not being
informed by the school. Some expressed their anger at the failure of the school to give
information. On 22 February, Ms Oshinsky sent an email to some parents stating that all
details were suppressed other than the name of X.

315.  Mr Simon Bohm and his wife Ms Tracy Bohm had two children at the school. Mr
Bohm had been corresponding with the Minister concerning the issue of school amalgamation
at the metropolitan school. In an email to the Minister sent on 9 March 2012 he
acknowledged the Minister’s response on the issue of amalgamation and then went on to ask
the Minister questions about X. He quoted the whole of the report posted on the news
website® and continued:

To date, no information has been provided to support the children and parents of [the

metropolitan school]. Many children have been directly or indirectly involved in this
situation and | would like to know:

1. What DECS and the Minister are doing to support the children?

2. What procedures and processes have been implemented to ensure this situation
doesn’t occur again?

I believe this needs to be addressed because DECS and the Minister remaining silent and not
supporting the children only exacerbates the children’s stories and potential physiological
impacts.

I have included DECS with the hope that | will get a satisfactory response.

I await your prompt advice on this urgent issue. (Emphasis in the original)

The Hon. Grace Portolesi MP was then Minister for Education. She had been appointed on
21 October 2011. She had not been previously briefed about the offending of X nor had she
any reason to be aware of it. In late March, the Department provided her with a briefing
paper relating to Mr Bohm’s letter. Attached to that paper was a recommended reply to his
letter. The briefing paper was a minute to the Minister in these terms:

® [Footnote omitted for legal reasons.]
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1. BACKGROUND

11 On 9 March 2012, Mr Simon Bohm wrote to the Minister for Education and Child
Development regarding the lack of information provided to parents following the
gaoling of X.

1.2 In his email Mr Bohm asks what DECD and the Minister are doing to support the
children at [the metropolitan school].

13 Mr Bohm also asks what procedures and processes have been implemented to ensure
such a situation does not occur again.

2. KEY ISSUES

2.1 As a result of police investigations, X was arrested in December 2010 for allegedly
sexually abusing a child in his care.

2.2 In December 2010 the employment of X was subsequently terminated by [the
metropolitan school’s] Governing Council.

2.3 As the matter was an ongoing investigation, SA Police advised to keep the matter
confidential.

24 Ms Julie Gale, Principal [of the metropolitan school] discussed with the parents of
the victim, support available to them and their child. It is understood that the family
accessed support through SAPOL.

25 In February 2012 X was sentenced to six years gaol. In sentencing the judge did not
name the school or family involved to protect the interest and anonymity of the
child.

2.6 Following the conviction, advice was received from Ms Anne Kibble, Director
Programs and Regional Management that, given the sensitive nature of the matter,
[the metropolitan school] not send any letter / information to the school community.
Consistent with the Children’s Protection Act, advice was also received that no
public statement be made by the school.

2.7 Arrangements were made by the school for support through the Western Adelaide
Region Office, Social Work Service to be available to children, families and school
staff on an individual needs basis.

2.8 A number of measures are undertaken by [the metropolitan school] to ensure the
care and safety of all students.

e  All students are provided with age appropriate child protection curriculum.

e  All staff working with students are screened. Volunteers who support school
excursions and sports coaching are also screened.

e  All staff and volunteers working with students receive regular, documented
Reporting Child Abuse and Neglect training.

e  Comprehensive procedures for managing allegations made against staff and
volunteers are in place and

o  All staff are given explicit advice about their duty of care to students and
appropriate interactions with students.

3. PROPOSED ACTION

3.1 The Minister considers the attached response to Mr Bohm.

On 31 March 2012, the Minister adopted the Department’s recommendation and sent the
following letter to Mr Bohm. Mr Bohm’s request for a prompt response was answered by a
letter sent some three weeks after his request.
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Dear Mr Bohm

Thank you for your email dated 9 March 2012 regarding your concern for children at [the
metropolitan school].

| asked for the Department of Education and Child Development (DECD) to investigate the
matters you have raised and to ensure that the necessary and appropriate actions were
undertaken by the school following the arrest and subsequent sentencing of X.

I understand that as a result of police investigations, X was arrested in December 2010 and
that following his arrest [the] employment of X was terminated by the [the metropolitan
school] Governing Council. As the matter was an ongoing investigation SA Police advice to
the school was to keep the matter confidential.

I also understand that in sentencing, Judge Mark Griffin did not name the school or family
involved to protect the interests and anonymity of the victim. Consistent with the Children’s
Protection Act, advice to the school was that no public statement be made by the school
following [the] conviction and sentencing of X.

Ms Tanya Oshinsky and Ms Judy Anderson, Principals, [at the metropolitan school] have
liaised with the Western Adelaide Regional Education to arrange for social work support to
be available to children, families and schools (sic) staff on an individual needs basis. Should
you or a member of your family require such support please discuss this with either Ms
Oshinsky or Ms Anderson and they will make the necessary arrangements.

Our schools place utmost importance on their responsibilities for the care and safety of all
children and students and with this in mind [the metropolitan school] undertake a number of
measures. The Keeping Safe Child Protection Curriculum is taught in all classes at all year
levels. All staff working with children are screened, and undertake regular, documented
Reporting Child Abuse and Neglect training and volunteers who support school excursions
and camps and sports coaching are also screened. Staff at [the metropolitan school] have
been given explicit advice about their duty of care to students and appropriate interactions
with students and comprehensive procedures for managing allegations made against staff and
volunteers are in place.

I am confident that [the metropolitan school] have acted appropriately and with sensitivity in
this difficult situation and have undertaken the measures needed to provide a safe school for
their students.

Thank you for drawing this matter to my attention.

Notwithstanding that Mr Bohm’s email had stated that no information had been sent to
parents or children at the school, the Department did not reconsider its decision to inform
parents only if the media published details of the offending of X.

316. | have recited the terms of the briefing paper and the letter to Mr Bohm because they
contain the germ of what was to be incorrect information provided by the Department to the
Minister on 30 October 2012. The germ of that misinformation is contained in paragraph 2.3
of the briefing paper. It was not correct that SA Police had advised the Department to keep
the matter confidential because the matter was under investigation. At no stage after the
arrest of X had police asked the Department to keep the matter confidential. Indeed, Det. Sgt.
Clark had suggested to Ms Gale that parents be informed and had been shown the letter sent
to parents of children in the OSHC service. Furthermore, even if it was correct that police
had asked that the matter be kept confidential because it was under investigation, the need for
confidentiality had long passed once X had been sentenced. Those simple facts seemed to
have escaped the attention of the Department. The minute to the Minister was, therefore,
misleading. The emphasis in the minute on the sensitivity of the matter and the statement that
it was consistent with the Children’s Protection Act not to inform parents were also
misleading. The matter was certainly sensitive but that did not require that no letter be sent to
parents. On any objective view, the principles of the Children’s Protection Act required
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parents to be informed so that they might be aware of the nature of the offending and be alert
to any untoward behaviour in their children that might require counselling and support. The
Department was not providing either accurate or helpful information to its Minister.

317.  Not long after Mr Bohm’s email of 9 March another parent, Ms Kellie Holmes, sent an
email to Ms Oshinsky on 15 March. Ms Holmes stated in her email that she was an
Intelligence Analyst with SA Police as well as being a parent of a child at the school. She
wrote in her capacity as parent. Her email referred to the fact that the sentencing remarks of
Judge Griffin were available to the public and set out reasons for informing parents. It was in
these terms:

Dear Principal

I am sure you are aware, and increasingly more members of the school community are
becoming aware, that the previous [employee] of the Out of School Hours Care program has
been convicted of unlawful sexual intercourse with a person under 14 years of age, who was
a child under the care of the OSHC program at the time. This information is readily
available to the public at the following link:

[web link stated]

| feel it is important that parents and caregivers of children attending the school be advised of
this matter immediately. They should also be provided with information that may help them
to identify if their child has been affected and to prevent any future risk of such events
reoccurring within the school community.

| stress the importance of parents/caregivers being formally notified by the school to enable
our school to stay strong together, heal together and focus on a positive and safe environment
for our children’s future at the school. My child has been attending OSHC for over 5 years
and | feel compelled to tell you that families in my situation all have a moral right to be
notified.

You may wish to accompany your notification with a guide to help parents in this difficult
time.

This was an unequivocal request to the school asking that the parents be informed of the
events concerning X.

318. Ms Oshinsky referred the email from Ms Holmes to Mr Petherick. He then answered
the email from Ms Holmes by an email sent on Monday, 19 March. His email read:

Dear Kellie,
Tanya has forwarded your email to our office.

The DECD advice we are providing to the school in line with the judges (sic)
recommendation and consistent with the Child (sic) Protection Act is not to make a public
statement about this matter. This is to protect the identity of the child and family involved.

Tanya and/or a member of this office would be happy to meet with you and talk this through
further though again we are bound about providing any specific details about the matter.

Our office also has trained counsellors available to support families and children.
Counsellors can be contacted through our Student Services manager, Keith Christie
[telephone number stated].

The person called Tanya in that email is Ms Oshinsky. This email is open to the same
criticisms as have been made of the Department’s minute to the Minister. It is quite apparent
that Ms Oshinsky was acting as directed by her Assistant Regional Director, Mr Petherick.
Mr Petherick’s evidence was that he was complying with directions from the head office of
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the Department. He did not check with any person in the School Care Unit whether the
Department might reconsider its position.

Governing Council Meets on 19 March 2012

319.  The requests for information from parents did not cease. The first business meeting of
the Governing Council for 2012 was held on the evening of 19 March, coincidentally on the
same day as the request from Ms Holmes that parents be informed. Ms Danyse Soester had
been a member of the Governing Council as a parent since 2010. She had been present at the
meeting of Governing Council on 9 December 2010. In 2012 she was the secretary of the
Governing Council and, as secretary, she took minutes of its meetings. At the beginning of
the meeting on 19 March, she sought to ask questions about X. Ms Oshinsky said that the
matter could not then be discussed as it was not an item of business on the agenda but it could
be discussed as “Other Business”. Ms Larkin, the chairperson, ruled that the matter be dealt
with later as part of the agenda item “Other Business”.

320. When the meeting came to the item “Other Business”, Ms Soester addressed the
meeting and stated that X had been sentenced and the suppression order had been lifted. She
said that, as the Governing Council was the employer of X, the time had come to send a
notice to the school community informing them what had happened and what procedures and
policies had been put in place. She added that such a letter might result in other victims
coming forward and they could have access to counselling. Ms Oshinsky informed the
meeting that such a letter would be contrary to the directions from the Department and that
the school would not be sending a letter. Ms Soester attempted to put a motion to the meeting
that the Governing Council send a letter to parents. Ms Oshinsky stated that Ms Soester could
not move that motion and that legal advice should be obtained. She added that an adviser
from the Department would attend the next meeting of Governing Council. Mr Soester did
not move her intended motion.

A Dispute About Minutes

321. Ms Oshinsky was concerned as to what might be stated in the minutes of the meeting
of the Governing Council held on 19 March. On 26 March she sent the following email to Ms
Soester.

Given the highly sensitive nature of some of the discussions at the last GC mtg (sic) and the
legal implications, it is imperative that either Judy or | sight the minutes prior to sending
them out to other GC members and becoming a permanent record. Once you have prepared
the minutes could you please email them to one of us so that we can ensure that the wording
does not place the school in an unwarranted position. If you can get them to us by the first
week of next term, we will respond within a reasonable timeframe to ensure that you have
time to then send them out to other GC members prior to the next meeting.

Thanks for continuing on as secretary. This is one of the office bearer positions that does
take personal time and we know how busy you are with your own business.

Ms Soester consulted others before she replied by an email sent at 1.49am on 3 May. Her
email was in these terms:

Sorry | should have long answered this email with “be patient please | will seek counsel on
this matter”.

Since having sought counsel,
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I was informed that minutes are a factual direct reflection of the meeting, they are not for any
GC member to vet or change, not even the chairperson or principal.

If anyone has a problem with them they raise their hand at the next meeting and say | have a
problem with xyz. | have written them directly from my notes taken in the meeting (without
too much fluff)

| am sure that you will find them to be true and correct.

I will send the mins out to the GC late Thursday afternoon in the meantime if you find

anything that causes you concern feel free to contact me. | am working today but available

on my mobile [telephone number stated] all day.
Ms Soester’s assertions were partly correct. While no single person could alter the minutes,
they could be altered by a resolution of the Governing Council.

322. That part of the minutes of the meeting of 19 March that recorded the discussion
relating to X as drafted by Ms Soester was in these terms:

X has now been sentenced as a paedophile. (sic) & the suppression order has been lifted.

DS asked that since the GC were his official employer, & we are the [metropolitan school]
community voted us as their spokesperson and representatives that it was now time tosend
(sic) a letter out to our community informing them ofwhat (sic) has happened, what
procedures&policies (sic) have been put into place, so that this can’t repeat itself.

Also that any other victims can be found & have access to counselling. Intense discussion
was had about our legal & moral obligations tothe (sic) [metropolitan school] community.

We were told that a letter would not be in line with the DECD Directive & the school would
not be sending any letter out.

There was discussion around the possible community effects & DS wanted to make a motion
to send a letter out from the GC. The principal said that DS was not able to make a motion
& she needed to seek legal advice & a DECD advisor would be attending the next meeting.

Danielle has been reinforcing the stranger danger and keep your body safe message.
In the event Ms Oshinsky proposed one correction to the minutes that was adopted at the next
meeting of the Governing Council. It was to add the words “only on his name” to the
sentence “X has now been sentenced as a paedophile and the suppression has been lifted”.
The correction reflected the mistaken impression that the remarks of Judge Griffin constituted
some kind of suppression order.

Ms Soester Makes Inquiries

323. Later, at 10.55am on 3 May, Ms Soester sent an email to Ms Karen Gilbert, who was
the personal assistant to Mr Semmens, the Regional Director. Ms Soester asked that her
email be sent to Semmens. Her email was in these terms:

Hello Karen Thank you for sending this on asap for me. Have a great weekend. Danyse

Hello Brendyn,

I write to you to voice my disapproval about the last GC meeting & consequent “bullish”
behaviour from the Principal Tanya Oshinsky at [the metropolitan school].

In the last GC meeting | was ...

1. I was told by Tanya that | was not allowed to speak about X (paedophile) — a matter
that had just become business arising due to his sentencing!

2. I was told | was not allowed to make a motion to the council to see if they wanted to
send a community information letter out!
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3. Post meeting the principal has sent emails directing me that the minutes were to be
sent to her for vetting, approval & changes!

I sought consultation and...

1. No GC member can tell another what will or won’t be open for discussion. The
agenda committee decides what will be discussed at the GC meeting, & as per the
constitution the Chairperson & secretary should make the agenda alongside the
principal. However | have been the secretary for 3 years and | have been invited to
only 1 agenda setting meeting, and | forced that invite as things were getting avoided
from the agenda for so long that the GC wanted to discuss, & GC frustration was

growing.
2. No GC member can forbid another GC member from making a motion.
3. No GC member can demand the minutes & expect to vet and make changes to them.

Changes can only be made at the next following meeting.

I do expect this situation to change & that the Principal to be instructed about her
inappropriate behaviour. | have spoken with both SAASOO & the chairperson about this
and we decided that it was easier & more tactful to send this to you & have you address
personally with her so that this could be cleared pre Mondays (sic) meeting instead of it
being tabled at the meeting as incoming post and causing embarrassment & tying up meeting
time.

We have many new members on our GC and if they continually see the principal depicting
and controlling the GC process instead of the Chairperson then they will misunderstand &
not grow in the role of the GC.

Thank you for looking into this & confirming to me that this has and will be addressed, as |
know that we really don’t want this to demand further action.

I do look forward to meeting you on Monday night.

Many Thanks & Kind Regards

Danyse Soester

Jacqui I have only cc’d you on this for your info, post our discussion.
Thanks D

(The person Jacqui named at the end of the email is Ms Jacqui Larkin, the chairperson of the
Governing Council). It is clear that there was tension between Ms Soester and Ms Oshinsky.
That tension stemmed from their different views on the question whether information should
be sent to parents. It is unnecessary to comment further as the events speak for themselves.
Ms Oshinsky was acting in accordance with the Departmental directive that no letter should
be sent to parents while Ms Soester was clearly of the view that it was proper to inform
parents.

324. Ms Soester continued in her quest to have parents informed. At some time near the
end of April and before 2 May 2012, she made a telephone call to Mr Mackie, the manager of
the Legal Unit. Mr Mackie made handwritten notes of the conversation. He later dictated a
more detailed note from those handwritten notes. Ms Soester told Mr Mackie that she was
calling on behalf of the Governing Council. She said that the Council wished to write to
parents who had children in the OSHC service informing them of the arrest and later
conviction of X. She said that the principal had prevented the Governing Council from
sending such a letter. Mr Mackie informed her that the decision was ultimately a matter for
the principal. Ms Soester questioned his view and argued that the Governing Council had a
duty to inform those parents. She asked if members of Governing Council could hand out a
pamphlet stating the position to parents when they collected their children at the end of the
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day. Mr Mackie informed her that members of the Governing Council could not do that. He
said that she could act if she wished but she might be personally liable for her actions. Mr
Mackie’s record of the conversation concluded with these notes.

9. | further informed her that with respect to the operations of the OSHC, the council as
the operator could make decisions relating to the operation of the service and if the
council decided they wished to make all participating service parents, that is parents
who had children in the service who may have been in contact with X, aware of the
situation then this was something they could in fact do and the only direction that
could be applied to them was a direction by the Minister (either through an existing
administrative instruction, a provision of statute or by way of a specific instruction
relating to this matter).

10. I did indicate that in my view even such a limited step as only advising those parents
of children who had had contact with the past [employee] was however ill advised
and would serve no legitimate purpose. | explained that as the media had run with
the story and given the local community networks | would have been surprised if
there were parents who had sent their children to that service who weren’t aware of
the conviction etc.

11. Furthermore, if it was seen as being an action activated by malice then they may not
be protected against any legal liability that could arise (although it is difficult to
imagine what liability could in fact arise). | tried to explain the nexus between the
operation of the service and the constitution and why the protection mechanism
operates in the manner it does. Ms Danyse didn’t seem particularly happy with the
advice and the call was finalised. (Emphasis in the original)

The thinking in paragraph 10 of Mr Mackie’s note is curious especially when it is considered
in light of the decision of Ms Kibble on 13 February to send a letter only if the media
published a more detailed account of the offending of X and named the school. His statement
that giving information to those parents who had children who had been in contact with X
would be ill advised and would serve no legitimate purpose is extraordinary. The letter would
provide information to parents who had not seen the media reports and who knew nothing of
the offending of X. The evidence shows that there were a number of parents who were
entirely unaware of his offending until questions were asked in the House of Assembly in late
October and in early November 2012. The simple fact is that Mr Mackie did not know and,
unless he surveyed the parents, he could not know how many parents knew of the offending
of X. Furthermore, a letter to parents would serve the very legitimate purpose of informing
parents of that offending so that they could then be alert to any untoward behaviour in their
children that might require counselling and support. Mr Mackie had no basis for the
assertions in paragraph 10.

Actions of Mr Semmens Before Next Governing Council Meeting

325. The next meeting of the Governing Council was to be held on Monday, 7 May 2012.
Mr Semmens was to attend the meeting because Mr Petherick was on leave and the
Governing Council had asked that an officer from the Department more senior than Mr
Petherick attend the meeting. Mr Petherick had given Mr Semmens an oral briefing. Mr
Semmens was aware that some members of the Governing Council wished to send a letter to
parents.

326. On Friday, 4 May 2012 Mr Semmens telephoned Ms Soester and had a telephone
conversation with her. That call was clearly prompted by the email Ms Soester had sent to
him on 3 May. In the course of that conversation they debated a number of topics including
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the question whether it was proper for a letter to be sent to all parents informing them of the
events concerning X. Mr Semmens stated that the Department held the view that a letter
should not be sent. It is apparent from the evidence of both Ms Soester and Mr Semmens that
each held strong and different views on the issues they had discussed and in particular the
question whether a letter should be sent to parents.

327. On 7 May, before he went to the meeting of Governing Council, Mr Semmens rang
Ms Kibble to seek advice. She informed him of the decision not to send a letter to parents
made on 13 February and she sent him a copy of the email dated 14 February reporting on her
conversation with Ms Oshinsky. She also sent him a second email attaching a copy of the
sentencing remarks of Judge Griffin. That was the first occasion on which Mr Semmens had
seen the sentencing remarks.

Governing Council Meets on 7 May 2012

328. The meeting of Governing Council on 7 May began shortly after 7pm. The first item
of business was the question whether a letter should be sent to parents informing them of the
events relating to X. Mr Semmens had little independent recollection of the meeting. The
following account is based on the minutes of the meeting. Ms Oshinsky introduced Mr
Semmens, stating that he had come to bring clarity on the issue. Mr Semmens then addressed
the meeting. He began by recognising the difficulty of the situation and stated that Ms
Oshinsky had sought advice on the issue and had acted in accordance with directions from the
Department. He said that the sentencing judge had suppressed the names of the victim and of
the school in order to protect the victim and her family. He went on to say that, if the
Governing Council were to inform parents, it would be acting contrary to what he called the
suppression order made by Judge Griffin as well as the directions from the Department. Ms
Soester questioned his assertions. She said that she had obtained advice from Mr Mackie in
the Legal Unit of the Department to the effect that it was lawful for Governing Council to
inform the school community. She said she had consulted others who confirmed that it was
appropriate to inform the school community. The issue was debated between Ms Soester and
Mr Semmens. Mr Semmens emphasised that the Governing Council needed to put this issue
behind it and move on to other issues. The motion “that the Governing Council should move
to support families by holding child safety parent evenings and promote the OSHC service
and close any further discussion about the case” was put to the meeting. Voting was by secret
ballot. The motion was carried by 12 votes to 2. The latter part of the resolution to close any
further discussion defeated Ms Soester’s attempts to send a letter to parents. The advice given
by Mr Semmens was plainly wrong. In fairness to him, he was acting on instructions from the
Department.

Ms Soester Seeks Further Information

329. Ms Soester was not dissuaded by the resolution from making further inquiries. On 10
May, she telephoned the Parent Complaint Unit of the Department. She wished to speak to
someone in the Department who could inform her on the rights and responsibilities of a
governing council. She was put through to Mr Costello, who then was and still is the Head of
Schools. After she had explained her concerns, Mr Costello told her that it would be better if
she spoke to someone who was more knowledgeable than he on the topic. Ms Soester agreed
with this course. Mr Costello called Ms Lynley Page into his office and for a time she
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participated in the telephone conversation. Mr Costello told Ms Soester that he would arrange
for Ms Page or Mr Mackie to contact her and give her more information. In May 2012, Ms
Page was Principal Policy Adviser in the Office for Schools. In particular, she was the
adviser to Mr Costello as Head of Schools.

330. The evidence at the Inquiry disclosed that misunderstandings existed as to what Ms
Soester was seeking. Her evidence was that she wanted a letter to be sent to all parents who
had children in the OSHC service. Mr Mackie said that Ms Soester wanted a letter to be sent
to the parents of all children at the school. There might have been misunderstandings on both
sides. At times their discussion might have confused the two groups of parents. It is not
necessary to determine where the truth lies since, as | later find, it was appropriate to have
informed the parents of all children at the school of the conviction of X.

331.  After that telephone conversation, Ms Soester sent an email on 14 May to Ms Lynley
Page asking for confirmation that it was lawful for the Governing Council to send a letter to
parents with children in the OSHC service. The relevant part of her email was in these terms:

I spoke to our GC chairperson and she has asked for written confirmation from you & Don
that the GC are legally allowed to send a letter to the affected community. She also asked for
a draft letter that could legally be sent out. (for consideration) | know you said that you are
meeting with Don today & I thank you both for your efforts.

| find that Ms Soester’s reference to “the affected community” is a reference to parents of the
children in the OSHC service. Ms Soester had incorrectly addressed the email. She corrected
the address and sent it again on 16 May. Ms Page responded the same day in a long email. It
IS necessary to set out the relevant parts in full as it illustrates the Department’s attitude to any
letter being sent to parents.

Hi Danyse,
My apologies for not contacting you earlier ...

Having said this however | have sought advice from the Manager, Legislation and Legal
Services, Mr Don Mackie, in relation to the concerns that you raised with the Manager,
Parent Complaint Unit, Meredith Evans amd (sic) the Head of Schools, Mr Garry Costello
last Thursday.

From my conversation with you on Friday | was made aware that you feel that the council
should be able to write to all parents of the school advising them of the situation and the
conviction, but that such a decision has been vetoed by the school. 1 understand that Mr
Mackie previously informed you that the use of student information in the form of a letter or
a notice of the type under consideration is ultimately a decision of the Principal given that
student address information is the property of the Minister and is collected for school
purposes and this clearlyisn’t (sic) a school purpose. As such the decision made by the
Principal was appropriate in the context of who can make such decisions.

As explained to you in our conversation, the council has no role to play in “informing” the
broader school community on such issues and the councils (sic) powers and functions are
limited to those matters set out in the Education Act and its subordinate instruments such as
the constitution. As Don aso (sic) advised you when you contacted him a few weeks ago, if
you step outside of this then the protections that you have via the council under the Act may
be voided and you could be held personally liable for your own actions.

| am aware from speaking with you that you have floated the idea of standing outside of the
school’s gates and handing out a pamphlet advising parents of the situation (and that you
would be doing this as a GC member). As Don and I have both indicated, should you choose
this course of action you will be doing so in your own right and will therefore be personally
subject to liabilities of this nature.
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As | explained to you in our phone conversation last Friday, in relation to the operations of
the OSHC, the council as the operator could make decisions relating to the operation of the
service and if the council decided that it would like to make all participating service parents,
that is parents who had children in the service who may have been in contact with X at the
time, aware of the situation then this was something that the council could in fact do and the
only direction that could be applied to the council is a direction by the Minister (either
through an existing administrative instruction, a provision of statute or by way of a specific
instruction relating to this matter). Council members would however need to agree to this
course of action by way of special resolution.

As Don has explained to you previously, advising parents whose children have had contact
with the past [employee] is not recommended as this will serve no legitimate purpose. As
you are aware, the media at the time ran the story about and given the local community
networks we would be surprised if there were any parents who had sent their children to that
service who weren’t aware of the conviction etc.

Have a think about the advice that | have provided and please contact me via e-mail if you
have any further questions in this regard.

(The person referred to as “Don” in this and subsequent emails from Ms Page is Mr Mackie.)
Three remarks in that email should be especially noticed. The first is the extraordinary
remark that sending a letter to inform parents of the conviction of a person employed at the
school “isn’t a school purpose”. It is most clearly a school purpose. The second is the
assertion in the fourth paragraph that the Governing Council had no role to play in informing
the broader school community. The third is that, if the Governing Council did send a letter to
parents, it may lose the statutory protections available to it. This was one occasion on which
a remark was made to the effect that sending a letter might cause the Governing Council to
lose its statutory protection. | will comment later on those two assertions. | have already
commented on the remark, in the penultimate paragraph, that informing parents whose
children had had contact with X would “serve no legitimate purpose”.”> Although the email
made a distinction between a letter to all parents and a letter to parents with children in the
OSHC service, it positively discouraged any letter.

332. Ms Soester was entirely dissatisfied with the views expressed by Ms Page. On 30
May 2012 she sent a very long email to Ms Larkin as chairperson of the Governing Council,
asking her to accept the email as an official letter of complaint to the Department. She asked
Ms Larkin to send it to the Department as soon as possible. Ms Soester also sent a copy of
the email to Ms Oshinsky, Ms Page and Mr Costello. It is unnecessary to recite the whole of
this email. | summarise its main points. Ms Soester asserted:

(@)  That she had received advice from Mr Mackie and others that the Governing
Council was the employer of X and, as such, would be acting with due
diligence if it informed the affected community of the events concerning X. If
Governing Council informed those who had children under the care of X, it
would be acting lawfully and would not be in breach of the suppression order.

(b)  That Mr Semmens had misled the meeting of Governing Council on 7 May
2012 in stating that Governing Council should not inform parents.

* See paras 449-457 below.
® See para 324 above.
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(c)  That it was possible to read on a news website the report on 10 February 2012
of the conviction of X. She gave the necessary web link.

(d) That she had asked for a special meeting at which Mr Mackie or Ms Page
would be present so that the Governing Council could obtain legal advice
directly from them.

(e)  That a parent on Governing Council was not aware of what had happened.

She attached a schedule to her email showing a variety of persons and organisations to whom
she had spoken who had supported her view that parents should be informed. Ms Page sent
the email to Mr Mackie on 30 May and asked to meet him to discuss it. In that email she said:

Clearly, Danyse is getting confused with the advice provided. We have never disputed that
the GC could inform parents whose children were attending the OHSC are (sic) the time of
X’s conviction.

Ms Page and Mr Mackie met on the afternoon of 30 May.

The Department Prepares Its Response

333.  Ms Soester’s email of 30 May was sent by Ms Page to Mr Semmens. At 3.56pm on
the same day Mr Semmens sent an email to Ms Page and Mr Mackie and others, attaching
that part of the sentencing remarks of Judge Griffin where the Judge had said that he did not
intend to name the suburb, the school or the child in order to protect the identity of the child
and her family. In his email, Mr Semmens said that the judge’s remarks were central to his
comments to Governing Council on 7 May.

334. On 31 May, Ms Page replied to Mr Semmens by an email sent at 10.40am. That email
read:

Many thanks Brendyn. | tried ringing you this morning as | wanted to clarify the advice that
you gave the GC when you attended the meeting. Don and | met yesterday to discuss the
contents of the e-mail from Danyse and we will be responding back to the GC Chair today
about this. 1 will send you a copy of this draft response before | send, so that you can see
what it contains.

Her email prompted a long response from Mr Semmens in the form of an email sent at 5.49
on the afternoon of 31 May. | set out the relevant parts of that email as it explains Mr
Semmens’ approach to the matter and as well as the views he had expressed at the meeting of
Governing Council on 7 May.

Having just talked to Greg Petherick about his discussions with Jacqui Larkin about the
email below, this is to flag my concerns about the directions this whole issue is
taking...There is a great danger that unless the written feedback to Jacqui Larkin is clear and
unequivocal then this WILL get dragged back into discussions with the Governing Council
and destabilise the school. | am not worried about the personal comments aimed at me but |
(sic) greatly concerned about throwing the GC back into disarray and fuelling pressure on the
Principal ...

It was confirmed between myself and Anne (and were the clear opinions of Greg P and the
Principal) when | rang her on May 7 that | was correct to make two statements to Governing
Council:

1. The Judge had “ordered” or declared that the name of the child and the school
should not be released. Hence his comment: | do not intend to name the suburb,
the school, or the child in order to protect the identity of the child and her
family. 1 will refer to her throughout these remarks as “the child”, or “the
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victim” for this reason and | trust that my reference to her in this way is not
thought to be impersonal.

Whether this was a suppression order or not (this seems unclear or whether the
suppression order has lapsed — do they lapse??) the judge was making a very clear
statement about the importance of protecting the identity of the girl and the school.
My advice to the GC was that for them to put out any sort of correspondence would
be contradicting the position of the Judge on this matter.

2. SAPOL was in ongoing communication (sic) with DECD about this matter and was
satisfied that this was an isolated incident that did not affect any other children.
They may have contacted other families but no-one would know because it was
confidential. Hence my advice to the GC was that there was no need for the school
to contact the other families because there was no evidence that anyone else was
affected.

I am requesting most emphatically that these two messages are clearly confirmed as correct
in writing to Jacqui Larkin as soon as possible. The highlighted section below implies that
the GC could choose to send out a letter. That is not what | said on the basis of the above.
My advice to the GC was that they could NOT send out a letter (morally or otherwise)
because it would jeopardise the identity of the school and the family and the child and they
could be reasonable (sic) assured that no other children were involved.

My other piece of advice to Danyse in particular was that the GC could not send out
correspondence to the community if the Principal was not happy to endorse it. In this case
the Principal is clearly not happy for any letter to be sent out.

The GC voted 12 to 2 NOT to send out a letter. It agreed therefore that this was the end of
the matter. The vast majority of the council want to move on.

It is vital that this message is clearly sent to Ms Larkin so that she will not allow the same
matter to be dredged up by Danyse. For your information Don, Ms Larkin is suggesting that
a “legal person” be present at the next GC meeting on Monday. My sense is that a clear
written message to her would mean that that was not necessary. (Emphasis in the original)

I have considered whether Mr Semmens was attempting some kind of ex post facto
justification for his conduct. | am satisfied he is not. His remarks are clearly consistent with
all that the Department was directing. As Regional Director, Mr Semmens was acting in
accordance with directions from Ms Kibble and the Department.

335. At 9.20am on 1 June, Mr Mackie sent an email to Mr Semmens, Ms Page and Ms
Kibble concerning Ms Soester’s complaints. | set out the email. It should be noted that in the
email Mr Mackie confused Ms Soester with Ms Larkin. A little later that morning he sent an
email to Mr Semmens, Ms Page and Ms Kibble correcting his mistake. All the references to
Ms Larkin in his email should be read as references to Ms Soester.

I checked with the Court and the registry advised no suppression order was made therefore
the “press and public” could “publish” such if they chose to do so. It appears the Judges (sic)
remarks were aimed at influencing the way the matter was reported and appropriately so.

The school:

Although the judges (sic) comments are not of a binding nature, they do assist in providing a
reference point for people to make a decision on some aspects of this matter. In my view the
actions of the council and school need to be seen separately as they are operating from
different legal positions. It is clear the Principal acting on advice from whomever she choses
(sic) has the authority to determine if a letter was to go out or not — this is clearly not a matter
for council to determine. The principal may choose to take advice from the council but that’s
all it can be, advice. The principals (sic) decision/authority is overridden if her line manager
etc chooses to instruct her not to take a particular action. As long as the instruction is lawful
then it is binding on the principal. In this case | was advised the principal did not need
instructing as she agreed with the position not to send one out. In my view the correct
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decision for a raft of very good reasons. This was and should be communicated to council as
I understand it was. In my view this is the end of the matter with respect to whether the
school itself is involved in any action. Cut and dusted!

The council:

The matter of the council’s actions must now be seen in their capacity as the operator of the
OSHC service and therefore the employer of the person in question and the agency/entity
with the duty to the users of the service. | was advised the council received advice from you
and | don’t particularly think that whether the advice was “legally correct” or not need be at
issue. It was simply sensible advice and the matter was voted on by the council as you state
below. Once again, this should have been the end of the matter.

The advice to Ms Larkin

I provided advice to Ms Larkin in accord with all of the above except from (sic) indicating to
her that the council had the right to make a decision on whether they sent information to the
users of the service or not (not the school community as she wished). She informed me that
they had voted on this (once again in concurrence with your information) and the council
determined not to take further action. | told her that this was then the end of it and if she
couldn’t accept that decision she had no right to take any action on behalf of the council
or even in a manner where others might think she was doing so on behalf of the council.
She didn’t appear to be able to accept that and | informed her that if she couldn’t agree with
councils (sic) actions and comply with such the only action for her would be to resign from
council. 1 further advised her on her civil liability if she acted as an individual or even as a
council member and acted contrary to a council decision. She did appear to be concerned
about such a situation. She kept trying to put her moral position on this and | told her she
could think what she liked but this was a decision of council and therefore the council
considered the matter closed. | could not have been clearer in my frank discussion with her
and | suspect she hung up not thinking very highly of me or the department (so be it, she is
not alone!).

Moving on:

| agree that a strong position should be put to Ms Larkin but it can be no more than
stating the position we have taken with the school and letting her know that this is the
end of that side of things and the decision will not be revisited and that the school’s
decision is not a matter for council. We could put in the letter our reasons for arriving at
this position but in all truthfulness | don’t believe we have a hope in hell of convincing Ms
Larkin that her position will do more harm than good.

With respect to the actions of the council, this is for them to determine. If Ms Larkin is able
to find someone to second a motion that the matter be revisited then she has every right to
put such a motion. | have no doubt it will not be successful but as | indicated if she can find
a seconder she can at least put the motion to council. In my view we should not attempt to
coerce council in any way to influence their position. This is a matter for them to determine
unless instructed by the Minister that they do not consider this issue (I would suspect that
such an instruction will not be forthcoming).

Happy to assist with drafting a letter to Ms Larkin. | have no intention of attending at a
council meeting to discuss or provide any advice as to whether the council should or should
not send something out. If this office is approached for advice on what powers the council
has in this situation then they will be provided with such advice. (Emphasis in the original)

Mr Mackie’s observation in the third paragraph of that email that it need not be an issue
whether the advice given by Mr Semmens was “legally correct” is curious. It betrays an
unwillingness to consider whether Ms Soester might, in fact, have been correct. It suggests
that Mr Mackie did not know whether she was correct. | later find that he was unaware of
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s 71A of the Evidence Act.® It also focuses too much on the fact that the Governing Council
had resolved on 7 May to close any further discussion. The Governing Council might have
reached a different conclusion had it received correct information. Ms Soester’s persistence
ought to have caused the Department at least to seek legal advice on the question whether a
letter should be sent to all parents.

336. One further matter for note in Mr Mackie’s email is that he had only just recently
checked with the Registry of the District Court to ascertain whether a suppression order had
been made. Although on 13 February Ms Mandy Hay had questioned whether a suppression
order had been made, Mr Mackie was the first person to check that fact. His inquiry was
made almost four months after X had been sentenced!

337.  On 31 May, Ms Page had drafted a letter to Ms Larkin. It was the Department’s
response to the questions raised by Ms Soester and dealt with the question of disclosure of
information to parents at the school. Ms Page’s draft was later amended by Mr Mackie. It
became a letter in the form of a minute to Ms Larkin and was dated 4 June 2012. | do not
accept Mr Mackie’s evidence that Ms Page did not draft the minute. His evidence is belied by
the evidence of Ms Page and, in particular, by two emails sent by Ms Page on 1 June 2012,
the first at 9.19am and the second at 4.32pm. The email sent at 9.19am was addressed to Mr
Semmens, Mr Mackie, Mr Radloff and Ms Kibble. In the course of that email, Ms Page
referred to what would be covered in the letter to Ms Larkin. The last sentence of that email
reads:

I will run my correspondence past Don, before | send it through to you for final perusal. |
will send this through ASAP.

Ms Page sent the second email on 4.32pm to Mr Semmens with a copy to Mr Petherick. The
subject of the email was described as “Letter from Don to Jacqui”. The email read:
I have just completed the letter from Don to Jacqui. Don has just read through this and has

approved of its contents. As such could you pls have a look and if you are okay with its
contents Don will e-mail a signed copy of the letter to Jacqui on Monday.

The letter from “Don to Jacqui” to which that email refers is Mr Mackie’s minute of 4 June to
Ms Larkin. Mr Mackie did not send any other letter to Ms Larkin. When read together, those
two emails clearly establish that Ms Page had drafted the reply to Ms Jacqui Larkin and that it
was settled by Mr Mackie.

Mr Mackie’s Minute of 4 June 2012

338. On Monday, 4 June Mr Semmens informed Ms Page that he and Mr Petherick were
happy with the draft letter to Ms Larkin. Over the weekend of 2 and 3 June Mr Mackie had
reviewed the draft and had made slight additions. It is unnecessary to note the changes. He
sent the amended draft to Mr Semmens and Mr Petherick at 1.15pm on 4 June. At 1.50pm Mr
Petherick replied that he and Mr Semmens approved the draft.

® See para 439 below.
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339.  Mr Mackie sent his minute to Ms Larkin by email at 2.41pm. He sent a copy of that
email to Messrs Petherick and Semmens at 4.18pm. At 4.01pm Ms Oshinsky sent Mr
Petherick an email informing him that Ms Larkin had come in after school and had received
the email but had not then read the minute.

340. The minute of 4 June 2012 to Ms Larkin is important. Although it is very long, it is
desirable to set it out in full as it provides a good illustration of the Department’s thinking.
Both the incorrect numbering of the sub-paragraphs in paragraph 6 of the minute and the
emphasis are in the original.

TO: MS JACQUI LARKIN, CHAIRPERSON, [THE METROPOLITAN
SCHOOL] GOVERNING COUNCIL

SUBJECT: DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO SELECTED FAMILIES OF
THE SCHOOL’S OSHC SERVICE

1. | refer to earlier conversations and correspondence circulated via e-mail by a
member of the [the metropolitan school] Governing Council, Ms Danyse Soester. In
response to your communication with me regarding a number of matter (sic) set out
within that email | provide the following information for your attention and
consideration. 1 set out the advice this office provided to Ms Soester and draw your
attention to a number of important Council issues that you will need to deal with.

This correspondence includes Ms Soesta’s (sic) email (as attachment one) which |
understand has gone to all Council members. If this is the case | have no difficulty
with the document and attachment one being tabled.

In my view the email may contain defamatory material and therefore should not be
further published. If council members have not received the email then it should not
be provided to them.

I thank (sic) your invitation to attend your Council meeting this evening but must
advise | am unable to do so. | have set out the relevant issues that you may wish to
raise with your council in response to our discussion.

2. In a recent e-mail Ms Soester stated:
See attachment one
3. Advice provided by this office to Ms Soester

Ms Soester in her email intimates her comments are as a result of my conversation
with her when she contacted me by telephone. Ms Soester advised me her contact
was with your concurrence as you were unable to contact me given you were in
Sydney at the time. Ms Soester informed me of your approval for her to seek such
advice once | explained to her that I would normally only give advice to the Chair as
this was more efficient than having individual Council members contact this office.
The issues raised in her email are as follows:

Ms Soester: The GC is legally allowed to contact (letter/workshops)
all of those who came into his care & inform them without infringing upon
suppression orders.

Response: The reason/rationale for making it (the suppression of
information) an order of the Court is the very fact it then becomes binding
on all persons in the State. In this instance there was no formal suppression
order made by the Court, however the judge in providing his reasons for
judgment chose to indicate (and thus hopefully influence the media and
broader community etc) that he would not identify the school and the child
in question to recognise their rights to privacy. He used the following
language -
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I do not intend to name the suburb, the school, or the child in order
to protect the identity of the child and her family. | will refer to her
throughout these remarks as “the child”, or ““the victim” for this
reason and | trust that my reference to her in this way is not thought
to be impersonal

I understand that the Judge’s comments were interpreted by the Regional
Director as being an order and it was on this basis he advised Council.
Clearly no intention to mislead but to simply draw the Council’s attention to
the importance of respecting the privacy of those involved. It was only at
a later date when the department contacted the Court registry to confirm
there was an order in place that this mistake came to light.

I would urge Council to give very weighty consideration to the judge’s
comments and his decision to not name the child or school in this matter.
Such an approach is unusual and highlights how important considerations of
privacy were for the court.

Ms Soester: Not only do the GC have the legal right to inform the affected
community, this community have a legal & ethical right to this information
& the only person that can demand that the GC do not fulfil that legal right
is the Minister.

Response: The Council has no role to play in informing the community of
such matters. The roles and functions of Council are set out in its governing
documents and its obligations and responsibilities under law. The closest
these come to such is the Council’s obligations to assess the school
community’s views on education.

| advised Ms Soester that as the operator of the OSHC service the Council
could if it was necessary or felt it appropriate to do so, contact those persons
who had placed their child/children in the care of the Council (through its
operation of the OSHC) but it would have to have strong grounds to do so. |
strongly counselled that in my view there were no grounds | could see that
would make it necessary to take such action either at a user of service level
or a community level to either protect the Councils (sic) legal position or
ensure the safety of those who have used the service.

The comments by Ms Soester that the community have “a legal & ethical
right to this information” are clearly her private views, not the views of this
office. In fact as indicated above the counter view was put to Ms Soester in
the strongest manner | could. In my experience the “unrestricted and
broadcasting” of such information is counter productive to the safety of the
community.

The role of the school in informing the school community of the conviction of X

The Principal of the school has the clear authority to determine what and how school
resources and information may be utilised. The Principal is also subject to the
authority of the Director General of Education and his delegates (ie the Regional
Director as line manager). | am advised the Principal chose not to circulate
information concerning the conviction of X to the parents of the school. It is not
necessary to canvass the rationale behind this decision.

Given that this decision was in accord with the Principal’s line manager it is a
decision of the school that stands. The council has no role to play in such
circumstances.

The role of the Council in informing the school community of the conviction of
X

As previously indicated, the Council has no role in informing the community of the
conviction of X (see 3 above).
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The role of the Council in informing the parents of students who attended the
Council operated OSHC services of the conviction of X

As the operator of the OSHC service (and therefore the employer of the person in
question and the agency/entity with the duty to the users of the service) the
Governing Council does have the authority subject to its legal framework to
engage/determine whether or not parents of students who were attending the OSHC
at the time X was employed, are informed of the conviction. In making a decision in
such matters the Council must consider a number of key matters, including the
following:

5.1 What, if any, are the Council’s obligations towards any parents and children
who utilised the service during the time X was employed and has it met
these?

5.2 What is in the best interest of the children who attended at the service during
the relevant time period?

5.3 Has the Council breached its duty of care to the students and parents who
utilised the service given its employment of X?

I would urge you to give full attention to the following when looking at the issues set
out in 5.1, 5.2 & 5.3 above. These are not the only important matters but such an
assessment will assist in forming your decision on this important matter.

e The Police have advised there was only one child who was subject to any
form of abuse by X.

e The matter has been the subject of the Courts and the Judge in setting out his
finding although not issuing a binding suppression order did make it very
clear his view was that no good would be served by naming the child, the
school and the suburb. It would be difficult to argue the Council is in a
better position than the Court and Police to make a decision that will
effectively put into the public arena those matters the Court felt it
appropriate to not mention.

e If further communication occurs with parents of children who attended the
service it will in all likelihood cause the identity of the school, the suburb
and perhaps the child to become known to a wider range of individuals than
currently is the case, with all of the potential for unintended adverse
consequences that this may cause.

e Experts have considered this matter with access to detail the Council will
not have access to and consider the events to date are the best way to deal
with such.  Although Ms Soester indicates a range of persons and
organisations have “supported” her position, | would urge such declarations
to be taken lightly as they will have been arrived at with limited information
and with respect to organisations such as Child Protections (sic) Services |
would doubt this is their official position. If any reliance was to be given to
such 1 would urge this only be undertaken subject to written confirmation.

e |f by acting contrary to the earlier decision of Council and information is
distributed to the community and this brings about an adverse circumstance,
the Council could be subject to litigation proceedings and the Council will
have to show why this was the correct course of action.

Please note: | do not believe it will be possible for Council to justify such
a course of action in the case of an adverse event occurring. Given the
indemnity provided by the Crown to the Council, I will need to advise the
Minister of any such steps the Council is to take that could bring the
indemnity into play. As such it will be necessary for the Council to advise
this office of any decision to further inform parents of children who were
in attendance during the time X was employed.
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7. Prior action of council and moving forward

In providing you with advice on this matter | understand the Council has previously
considered this matter and a vote was taken (12-2) that effectively finalised the
Council’s deliberations/actions.

Therefore it should be noted that prior to any further consideration of this matter and
regardless of any of the content of Ms Soester’s email, the following would need to
occur.

A motion needs to be put and seconded to reconsider this issue. If such occurs the
Council would then take a formal vote on the issue and this will determine whether
any further consideration of Council can be undertaken. Without such a motion and
vote the issue cannot be further discussed by Council. Please do not hesitate to
contact me if you have any further questions. | hope the above information will
assist you in your decision making.

Don Mackie
MANAGER LEGISLATION AND LEGAL SERVICES

4 June 2012
I will examine and comment on this minute in Chapter 8.

Governing Council Meets on 4 June 2012

341. The meeting of Governing Council on 4 June began shortly after 7pm. Mr Petherick
attended the meeting. The minute from Mr Mackie was the third item of business. Most
members of the Governing Council had only a short time to read the minute. The minute was
read and discussed. Ms Soester asked that the minutes record that she had at all times acted
within the guidelines of the Code of Practice for the Governing Council of the metropolitan
school and that she had used the official grievance policy of the Governing Council and had
acted according to law. The minutes recorded her statement. It was moved that the
Governing Council re-open the discussion on the question of a letter to parents. A secret
ballot was held. The motion was defeated by 10 votes to 4. The Governing Council did not
revisit the issue until November 2012.

342. In the meantime, parents were continuing to express concern about the lack of
information. On 6 June 2012 the duty officer at the Department’s central office at 31 Flinders
Street, received a telephone call from Ms Hodgkiss, a psychologist. The duty officer’s note of
the call was in these terms:

e  Stated she had been advised by a client that an out of hours school care [employee]
had been charged and convicted of paedophilia

e  Her information is that the community has not been informed and believes this has not
been managed properly in the school community- is concerned that children may be
suffering

e  She rang FSA who told her to contact IU — she is highly concerned and states that kids
need education on good touch / bad touch and a letter needs to go out to parents

e  She stated there is a duty of care to ensure children are getting treatment
e  She would like a response so she knows what steps to take next

The duty officer reported the call both in a telephone conversation and in an email to Ms
Thilan Legierse, the Manager of the Human Resources Support Unit, and Ms Samantha Jones,
the Manager of the Investigations Unit. Ms Legierse then sent that email to Ms Kibble with a
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comment that Ms Hodgkiss was very concerned that the information about X had not been
properly managed at the school level. Ms Legierse had earlier spoken to the duty officer and
this comment reflected what had been said to her during that conversation. The Department
decided that Mr Petherick should speak to Ms Hodgkiss. At 4.06pm, Mr Petherick reported to
Mr Semmens and Ms Legierse that he had contacted Ms Hodgkiss at 4pm that day. He
added:

Talked through her concerns. Outlined the actions that the school and we as a department
had taken.

She was very much reassured by this and felt the matter had been well dealt with.

Have given her my contact details should any other matters arise.

It is readily apparent that nothing would cause the Department to reconsider its decision
reached on 13 and 14 February.

Ombudsman Begins An Inquiry

343. Ms Soester continued to be concerned that a letter was not to be sent to parents. She
decided to seek assistance elsewhere. Early in June, she lodged a complaint with the
Ombudsman. The Ombudsman decided to conduct an inquiry into her complaint. On 22
June 2012 he sent a letter to Mr Bartley, the Chief Executive of the Department. The letter
was received on 25 June. In that letter the Ombudsman set out Ms Soester’s complaint in
these terms:

e that the department provided misinformation to the governing council in relation to the
existence of a suppression order which resulted in the governing council voting 12-2
not to inform parents of the [metropolitan school] Out of School Hours Care (OSHC)
about the conviction and sentence of the former OSHC [employee X] for a child sex
offence

e that once the department discovered the error, it correctly informed the governing
council that there was no suppression order in place, yet still advised it not to inform
the parents of the OSHC because it is ‘counter-productive to the safety of the
community’

e that the [metropolitan school] principal incorrectly determined not to inform parents of
the school of the circumstances of the conviction, despite the willingness of the family
involved for the community to be informed, and the need for parents of the school who
may utilise the OSHC whose children may have been at risk.

The Ombudsman asked for the following information.

e acopy of the department’s policy that applies in these circumstances

e a brief chronology of this matter, including attendances by staff of the department at
governing council meetings

e your response to the above allegations, including comment about the role the
department takes in advising governing councils.

The Ombudsman requested an answer by 6 July 2012. The Department did not answer the
Ombudsman’s request until 6 August.

344. It is inappropriate to comment in this report on the Department’s reply to the
Ombudsman and | will not refer to the further exchanges of correspondence between the
Ombudsman and the Department. However, in paragraph 468 of Chapter 8 of this report, | do
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identify some inaccuracies in the Department’s reply to the Ombudsman. It is relevant to note
also that not even the inquiry by the Ombudsman caused the Department to pause and
consider whether it was acting correctly in not informing parents of the conviction of X.

Parents Continue to Seek Information

345.  Requests by parents at the school for information continued. On Friday, 21 September
Ms Fewings, a parent, sent an email to Ms Larkin, the chairperson of the Governing Council.
Her email attached an article in an internet news publication. The article reported that a
teacher was to be tried, among other things, for possessing child pornography. The article had
also stated that the Department had written to parents to inform them of the incident. Ms
Fewings wished to know why the Department had not informed parents of the metropolitan
school of the offending of X. Ms Fewings asked Ms Larkin to send her email to the
Department. The relevant part of her email read:

I would appreciate if you could forward this on to the relevant parties in the Department of
Education and the Minister responsible for that department with my question as follows:

With reference to the article via the link below, can you please explain why you have failed
to advise the parents of [metropolitan school] that the previous OSHC [employee X] was
arrested while employed by the school and subsequently convicted and given a custodial
sentence for the sexual abuse of a young student?

The article attached states that you have recently advised another school of a charge against a
suspected paedophile prior to a true and proper court process.

In failing to advise the [the metropolitan school] community you have failed in your duty of
care towards the children and also failed to provide them with appropriate counseling (sic) in
a timely manner to inform students about inappropriate behaviour by an adult and potentially
mitigate any long term impacts on those abused by the perpetrator.

On 24 September, Ms Larkin sent Ms Fewing’s email to Ms Oshinsky and Ms Hill asking
them to reply to it. The same day Ms Oshinsky sent a reply to Ms Fewings in these terms:
Thank you for your email expressing your concerns. As | am sure you can appreciate each

case is different. With regards to X we have been receiving advice and instructions from
relevant departments that have governed our actions.

As requested by you to Jacqui, our governing council chairperson, | have forwarded your
email to Greg Petherick, Assistant Regional Director of the Western Adelaide Region of
DECD, who can forward your concerns as appropriate.

I am currently on leave at present but would be happy to meet with you when school resumes
if you wish to speak further about this matter.

As noted in her email, Ms Oshinsky had sent Ms Fewing’s email to Mr Petherick. He in turn
referred it to Mr Mackie, asking him to draft a reply. Mr Mackie did so. Ultimately, some
three weeks after her email, Mr Petherick replied to Ms Fewings in an email sent on 11
October. It read:

I refer to your email to the Chair of the [metropolitan school] Governing Council. Ms Larkin
has referred the matter to my office for consideration.

I note your comments concerning the media article that appeared online in [name of
publication] and your extrapolation of that set of events to those involving X. You allege the
department has failed in its duty of care to its students and that we have failed in providing
appropriate counselling to those students.

We reject your allegations and note any parent who believes this is the case can bring
appropriate action against the department by utilising the relevant grievance procedures or if
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they are inclined including bringing litigation against the department for negligence. If there
are students you are aware of who have needed counselling and this hasn’t been made
available | would be happy to receive advice from you as to their identity so I can follow this
up.

Where there are occurrences of this nature each individual event will have unique
circumstances and will require an individual approach. In the X matter the department has
taken the steps it felt appropriate to those circumstances as was no doubt the case in the
Andrews matter.

The tone of the email borders on the aggressive. It is certainly not conciliatory. Ms Fewings
had done no more than request an explanation of the reason why the Department was
prepared to inform parents at other schools of sexual misconduct by members of staff but had
failed to advise parents at metropolitan school of the offending of X. This was another
request that should have prompted the Department to reconsider its position. The only
explanation provided to Ms Fewings was that each case had to be considered on its merits.
That information was preceded by an unnecessarily aggressive and entirely misplaced
assertion of correctness on the part of the Department. While it is certainly true that each case
would need to be considered on its merits, it is not an adequate reason for failing to provide
an explanation to Ms Fewings and, furthermore, there was absolutely no reason why the
Department could not inform parents. | will return to the failure of the Department to
reconsider its position in Chapter 8.

A Question in the Parliament

346.  Other parents of children at the school, who were concerned at the failure to inform
parents of the offending of X, had approached the Hon. David Pisoni MP, the Shadow
Minister for Education. On 30 October 2012, in the House of Assembly, Mr Pisoni asked the
Minister for Education the following question.

My question is to the Minister for Education and Child Development. Does the Department
for Education and Child Development have a policy that protects children by informing
parents and staff when an employee at a public school has been charged and/or convicted
with sex offences committed against children in their care?

The relevant part of the Minister’s answer was in these terms:

Of course this government, this department, puts the protection of children uppermost in
every act that we undertake- every policy. | would like to report-Madam Speaker, this is a
very serious, legitimate question and | am happy to answer it in the same vein. | am advised
that a situation arose in late 2010 at a school in Adelaide’s west. Allegations of a serious
nature were raised. Police were immediately alerted and an individual was charged over the
allegations. The staff member’s employment was immediately terminated. The individual
was sentenced to six years’ gaol. In sentencing, the judge did not name the school or family
involved to protect the child. | am advised that, given the sensitive nature of the incident and
on advice of SAPOL, who | have to say do an outstanding job, the school did not send
information to the community about this incident- on the advice of SAPOL.

Of course, a number of measures were undertaken by the school- and | accept that this is a
legitimate issue- to ensure the continued care and safety of all students, including the
following steps: all students provided with age-appropriate child protection curriculum; all
staff working with students are screened and volunteers who support school excursions, for
instance, and sports coaching are also screened; all staff and volunteers working with
students receive regular documented reporting child abuse and neglect training;
comprehensive procedures for managing allegations made against staff and volunteers are in
place; and all staff are given explicit advice about their duty of care to students and
appropriate interactions with students. In addition, I understand arrangements were made by
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the school for support to be provided on an individual basis to children, families and any
staff following this incident.

The answer given by the Minister was based on a briefing by one of her ministerial advisers
which in turn was based on oral information from officers in the Department. The briefing to
the Minister was inaccurate.

347.  Mr Pisoni asked a number of other questions on 30 October and both he and the Hon.
Isobel Redmond MP, the then leader of the Opposition, continued to ask questions concerning
the failure to inform parents of the offending by X and related issues on each sitting day for
the rest of the Parliamentary sessions in 2012. It is unnecessary to repeat the questions. A
number of issues raised by them will be addressed in this report. In addition to that a number
of the questions were directed to the Premier concerning his knowledge of Ms Andrew’s
email of 2 December 2010. | will examine whether the Premier knew of this minute in the
next chapter.

SA Police Publishes a Reply

348. The SA Police did not agree with the Minister’s assertion in her answer to Mr Pisoni
that the decision not to give information to parents was based on advice from SA Police. On
the evening of 30 October it published this media release:

On Wednesday, 1 December 2010, police received allegations from the parent of a primary
school student that her child had been indecently assaulted by a school staff member. Police
made arrangements for the child to be interviewed the following day by a police officer
qualified in obtaining statements from children.

That same evening the school Principal was advised of the allegations due to their serious
nature and immediate concerns that the staff member was still working with and having
access to children in his role.

It was recommended to the Principal that the staff member be immediately prevented access
to children.

On Thursday, 2 December 2010, Police arrested the staff member and charged him with
several sexual offences. He was subsequently convicted for these offences and is currently
serving a term of imprisonment. The principal was present at the time of the arrest and was
advised by police that she should consult with DECS to formulate a method of advising the
school community what had occurred. The Principal was also advised that it was not the role
of the police to inform the school community.

Once the school principal had been advised and SAPOL lodged a notification with the Child
Abuse Reporting Line (CARL) its mandatory notification processes were complete.

The dispute between the police and the Department caused the Minister to establish this
Inquiry on 1 November 2012. | note that the remarks in the third paragraph of this media
release are inconsistent with the finding in paragraph 245 above that Det. Sgt. Rowe did not
make such a recommendation.

349.  [Short paragraph omitted for legal reasons.]

350. On the evening of 30 October and over the following days the Department was
occupied in giving further briefings to the Minister. It is not necessary to record the activity
of the Department in briefing the Minister other than to note that it is readily apparent that
there was a hurried scramble in an attempt to obtain all relevant facts in order to brief the
Minister. Ms Portolesi in her evidence described the effort to gather information as “a mad
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scramble”. The task was not easy because there was no single file relating to X and there was
no single person who had detailed knowledge of all relevant events. The information had to
be gleaned from a number of sources. In the result, the Minister did not always receive
correct information.

The Department Seeks Legal Advice

351.  On 31 October 2012 Mr Waterford, who was the Executive Director of Families SA in
the Department for Education, asked the Crown Solicitor for urgent advice on two questions.
His questions were:

@ Do suppression order provisions come into play when a person is charged with a
child sex offence — how does it operate?

and

(b) Does it impact upon the Minister’s capacity to tell others, (eg parents etc.) if there

has been an incident?

This was the first occasion after the arrest of X on which the Department had sought legal
advice concerning the provisions of the Evidence Act relating to suppression orders and
whether there was any restriction upon publication of names when a person has been charged
with a sexual offence against a child. It is remarkable that advice on these questions had not
been sought earlier especially given the desire of some members of the Governing Council at
the metropolitan school to inform parents. The advice was provided the same day. It is not
necessary to set out the terms of the advice as the issues have already been addressed in
Chapter 2 of this report. The letter of advice pointed to the difference between suppression
orders made under section 69A of the Evidence Act and restrictions on publication pursuant to
section 71A of the Evidence Act. The advice stated that section 71A did not prevent the
Minister from informing parents.

Department Sends a Letter to Parents

352.  On Friday, 2 November, a news item on a radio station had identified the school. The
Department urgently set about drafting a letter to be sent home to parents that day. The letter
was prepared in consultation with SA Police. Police altered one paragraph. The letter was
given to children to take home to parents. The letter was also sent to parents of those children
who were at the school in 2010 but who had since left and to all families who had used the
vacation care program provided by the OSHC service. The letter was in these terms:

Dear Parents and Caregivers,

It is with sadness that | write to inform you that [the metropolitan school] is the school
referred to in the media and in Parliament in relation to the sexual abuse of a child in 2010.

| appreciate that this information will give rise to a range of mixed emotions and raise a lot
of questions. To assist, counselling services are available at the school from today.

The incident occurred while the victim was attending the OSHC program and was reported
to police in early December 2010. X was arrested and immediately removed from the school
and from contact with children. He was convicted and jailed earlier this year.

At the time of the incident the school community was not informed. The reason behind this
decision is now subject to an investigation by the state Ombudsman and independent review
announced by the Minister for Education this week. However, it is important that you know
that practices have now changed. Parents and caregivers will be provided with as much
information as possible so they can assess whether their child may have been impacted.
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If you have any concerns in relation to your child(ren), | urge you to raise these with your
principals, Tanya or Ruth in first instance. Alternatively, you can contact the police or the
Regional Office on 8416 7333. We have also set up a call centre through the Parent
Complaint Unit on 1800 677 435.

Please be assured that the Department for Education and Child Development will work
closely with you and your school to provide all necessary support during this time.

On behalf of my department | apologise for the anxiety caused by not informing you and
your families sooner.

Yours sincerely,

Garry Costello
Head of Schools

Although the letter was signed by Mr Garry Costello as Head of Schools, | think the letter
should have been signed by Mr Bartley as Chief Executive of the Department. The original
draft had been over the name of Mr Bartley. Given the extreme tardiness of the letter and the
fact that the Department had been forced by public pressure to write it, it would have been
more tactful and more considerate to the parents of the school if the letter had been over the
hand of Mr Bartley. As Chief Executive, he is the person responsible for the errors of the
Department. Mr Bartley explained that his reason for not signing the letter was that he might
have to discipline officers in the Department so that it was preferable for Mr Costello to sign
as Head of Schools. | do not think that is a satisfactory explanation.

353. The Department’s efforts to remedy the situation were not successful. Although it had
placed counsellors at the school, parents expressed concerns as to the suitability of the
counsellors. In addition, the Department had failed to give proper instructions to the person
who was to be the operator of the call centre referred to in the fifth paragraph of Mr Costello’s
letter. The operator did not have any adequate knowledge of the particular problems at the
school and could not effectively answer parents’ complaints or deal with their questions.

Anger at the School

354. A copy of the draft of this letter had been sent to Ms Larkin on the morning of 2
November. She replied by email later that morning. Among her comments was the
following:

The following statement, | don’t think *“anxiety” cuts the mustard for the anxiety not
informing you sooner, has caused you and your families. How about betrayal, anguish,
concern because they are just three | am getting from parents. A little more depth because
parents (sic) emotion around this issue has been simmering for 2 years now.

(Emphasis in the original)

Ms Larkin’s anger was quite justified. The evidence given to this Inquiry by teachers, parents
and members of the Governing Council of the school confirms the force of her comment.

355.  Mr Petherick was present at the school on 2 November. He reported in an email to Mr
Bartley that he had spoken with the principal and staff at the school. He added that, while he
was speaking to the principal and some members of the staff, he had been approached by
three other members of staff who had expressed concern with the content of Mr Costello’s
letter to parents in that it did not make the actions of the school at all clear nor did it state that
the school had worked within the Department’s instructions. As will be seen, this report did
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not correctly state the concern of teachers. They were concerned that the letter inferred that
they should have done things differently.

Premier’s Unfortunate Remarks

356. On Monday, 5 November Mr Petherick was at the school early in the morning and for
most of the day to assist the principal and other members of staff. He was joined in the
afternoon by Ms Kibble and they met the principal and the two deputy principals, Ms Hill and
Ms Hutton. Ms Kibble and Petherick also spoke with Ms Larkin.

357.  On Monday, 5 November the Premier participated in a press conference to mark the
150™ anniversary of the Metropolitan Fire Service. After the Premier had concluded his
remarks, he was questioned about the management of the matter concerning X. After a large
number of questions whether in December 2010 he had been informed about the arrest of X,
he was asked a series of questions to the effect of why parents had not been informed and how
the Minsiter’s Office deals with critical incidents. In the course of his answer, he said:

Well that’s what we need to get to the bottom of, why would it seem the case that they would
be on a projectory to tell parents and why that stopped and it was advanced that the police
told them that they should. The police deny that, we need to find out what it is that they are
acting on because it seems they were getting set to tell parents and for some reason it didn’t
happen. Remembering here that there is a complexity, the school isn’t the employer — the
actual employer in this case is the school council because it is an OSHC, so ultimately the
decision process fell to the school council which was informed about this matter. But they
took that step, why they were told the information shouldn’t go out to parents is a matter we
need to get to the bottom of. ’

The remarks were unfortunate in two respects. First, apart from the letter of 3 December
2010, the Department had had a consistent view that it would not inform parents unless
compelled by the media to do so. More significantly, while the latter part of the remarks were
strictly speaking correct, in that the Governing Council of the school was the employer of X,
the Premier’s remarks failed to state that it was the Department that had prevented the
Governing Council from informing parents of the conviction of X. His remarks were reported
as shifting the responsibility for the decision not to inform parents to the Governing Council.
For example, under a headline “School Blamed For Secrecy”, the first paragraph of an article
in The Advertiser on 6 November read:

THE (sic) decision-making process that led to keeping secret sexual abuse at an Adelaide
primary school ultimately rest with the schools governing council, Premier Jay Weatherill
says.

The article later quoted the remarks of the Premier noted earlier in this paragraph. Quite
understandably, the Premier’s remarks angered some members of the Governing Council and
staff at the school.

" It seems that when the Premier said “they were getting set to tell parents”, he was referring to the email sent to
Mr Blewett on 2 December 2010 that stated that the school was working on a message to go home. However,
the Premier is incorrect in stating that a letter was not sent to parents. It will be recalled that Ms Gale sent a
letter (albeit an inadequate letter) to parents with children in the OSHC service. It is the letter referred to in
paragraph 273 above.
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358. Early on the morning of Tuesday, 6 November Mr Petherick went to the school. At
8.54am he reported by email to Mr Bartley, Ms Kibble and Messrs Radloff and Semmens
saying:

At the school this morning and there is a level of frustration and anger over the comments the

Premier allegedly made on the evening news last night saying that the school was the body

responsible for not informing the community and by default implying the school had been
negligent in its duty.

The chair of the Governing Council was also in contact with the principal last night
expressing her anger over the comments. This will no doubt not be helped by the Advertiser
item today with the Premier identifying the Gov Council as the (sic) being responsible for
the lack of communication.

The feeling at the school is that at all times they acted in accordance with DECD advice and
now they are being unfairly being (sic) singled out by the government as being at fault.

Staff feeling is running very high on this matter as well. Given their close connections to the
AEU I think we can expect some wider response.

The staff and the principals expressed last night to Anne prior to these events the need for
some communication from DECD to outline that the school had always acted in accordance
with the advice provided at the time.

We need to discuss urgently how we will support the principals and the school in working
this through.

(The person called “Anne” in that email is Ms Kibble). In view of the history of the matter
and the Department’s firm insistence that a letter not be sent to parents, the Premier’s remarks
were most unfortunate. Mr Petherick’s report that “staff feeling is running very high”
correctly reflected the position. The staff were concerned that the letter sent to parents on 2
November did not state that the staff at the school had always acted in accordance with advice
given to it by the Department.

The Department Sends a Second Letter

359.  The evidence of teachers to this Inquiry confirms Mr Petherick’s comment in his email
that teachers were angry. Teachers present at the meeting with Mr Costello and Ms Kibble on
5 November expressed real concern that Mr Costello’s letter of 2 November had inferred that
the staff and the school should have done things differently. This caused Mr Costello to send
a second letter to parents on 5 November. The relevant part of the letter read:

Dear Parents and Caregivers

This letter is a follow up to information | provided in my letter dated 2 November regarding
issues at the [metropolitan school] Out of School Hours Care Service.

[Paragraph omitted for legal reasons.]

As stated in my letter to you on Friday, counselling is available at the school for children,
parents and staff. So again | urge you that if you have any concerns in relation to your
child(ren), contact the Police or the Regional Office on 8416 7333.

You can also call the Parent Complaint Unit on 1800 677 435 who are managing all
correspondence in regard to this matter.

This is a very difficult situation for any community to comprehend and come to terms with.
The children will be hearing and taking in information that they may not understand, so can |
ask that you are mindful of what is said in front of them in order not to cause additional
anxiety.
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I also wish to acknowledge the efforts of staff during this difficult time for the school
community.

Although the last paragraph is an attempt to address the concerns of staff, the Department
failed to state that the staff had been acting as directed by its central office. That was in fact
the true position.

The Premier and the Minister Respond

360. In November 2012, both the Premier and Minister Portolesi at different times met
either parents or staff at the school. It is unnecessary to examine those meetings in detail. It
is sufficient to note the following meetings.

1. On 7 November, the Minister met a parent and a member of the Governing
Council at her office.

2. On 12 November, the Minister went to the school and met the principal and
staff of the school to discuss the concerns of staff. The staff strongly voiced
their anger that they were being blamed by the Department.

3. On the afternoon of 12 November, the Premier attended a meeting at a home of
a member of the Governing Council of the school. He met some parents who
were former members of the Governing Council. The issues discussed
included concerns that the Premier had misrepresented the role of the
Governing Council. After that meeting, the Premier went to the school and
met members of the Governing Council. The members of the Governing
Council voiced a number of concerns including the Premier’s remarks on 5
November, the fact that parents had not been promptly informed that X had
been sentenced, and the failure of the Department to provide a proper operator
for the call line who had adequate knowledge of the issues at the school.

4. On 14 November, the Premier and Minister Portolesi met the same person who
had seen the Minister on 7 November.

Both the Premier and the Minister would have been left in no doubt at the anger and
exasperation of parents and staff with the Department’s mismanagement of the matter.

Some Consequences

361. The events of October and November 2012 provide a graphic example of some the
consequences of failing to give proper and adequate information to the school community
when a member of staff has sexually assaulted a child at a school.

362. It is plain that the failure to give appropriate and timely information to the parents of
children at the metropolitan school has led to a considerable degree of anger among those
parents. Parents of children who attended the OSHC service as well as parents of other
children at the school are very angry that they were not informed that X had been convicted.
That anger will not be abated by learning that a number of parents and some members of the
Governing Council had asked that parents be informed but those persons were denied the
opportunity to do so by the Department. The failure to give timely information to parents had
the consequence that parents were not in a position at an earlier time to be alerted to any
behaviour on the part of their children that might suggest that they had been assaulted so that
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the parents could support their child and work through any problems consequent on the
assault and, if necessary, seek counselling or other support for their children.

363. A number of teachers at the school are also angry that they were not fully informed.
Some teachers had no proper knowledge of the facts concerning X until early November 2012
when details were published in the media. The failure to inform teachers was most
undesirable. In the absence of information, teachers will not be in a position to be alert to the
reasons for behavioural issues in children in their respective classes. It is desirable for a
teacher to know that a child in that teacher’s class has been sexually assaulted so that the
teacher can be aware that the child might require support. In this particular case, the teacher
in whose class the victim had been a student in 2010 decided to disregard the direction not to
disclose the offending so that she could inform the person who would be teaching the victim
in 2011. She correctly believed that it would assist that teacher to be aware of the fact. A
teacher should not be placed in the position of having to decide to go against a Departmental
direction in that way.

364. In addition, the directions that Ms Oshinsky received from Mr Petherick and from the
central office of the Department placed her in a very invidious position vis-a-vis parents at the
school. It was quite unnecessary for the Department to have placed her in that position. Ms
Oshinsky had no alternative but to act as she was directed by Mr Petherick and Ms Kibble.
She did at times inform them that parents were asking that letters be sent. In any event, Mr
Petherick and his Regional Director, Mr Semmens, clearly knew that some members of the
Governing Council were asking that parents be informed. Similarly, the central office of the
Department knew that fact. Yet the Department did not reconsider its position and continued
to require Ms Oshinsky to uphold its decision not to inform parents. It is apparent from the
evidence that one unfortunate consequence of the directives given to Ms Oshinsky is that
there is a great deal of anger directed at her by some members of the Governing Council and
by some parents. That need not have happened if the Department had decided that parents
could be informed.

365. There is an especially sad irony in a large number of the documents tendered in this
Inquiry. They are emails sent by officers of the Department to each other. Almost every one
of these many emails has the following message printed across the foot of the email